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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
Please refer to section 19 “Definitions and glossary of terms” for definitions and terms used throughout in this
Prospectus, which also apply to the preceding page.
The information in this Prospectus relates to the Listing on Oslo Børs (“Oslo Børs”) by Opera of 10 million
Placement Shares in the Company with a par value of NOK 0.02 each issued in connection with the Private
Placement. The Company’s Shares are listed on Oslo Børs under the ticker code “OPERA”. This Prospectus has
been prepared in order to provide information about the Group and its business in relation to the Private
Placement, the Listing and the Placement Shares, and to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and
related secondary legislation, including EC Commission Regulation EC/809/2004.
This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act chapter 7 and related
secondary legislation, including EC Commission Regulation EC/809/2004. The Prospectus has been prepared
solely in the English language. The Prospectus has been reviewed and approved by the Norwegian Financial
Supervisory Authority in accordance with sections 7-7 and 7-8, cf. section 7-3 of the Norwegian Securities
Trading Act. The Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority has not controlled or approved the accuracy or
completeness of the information given in this Prospectus. The approval given by the Norwegian Financial
Supervisory Authority only relates to the Company's descriptions pursuant to a pre-defined checklist of
requirements. The Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority has not made any form of control or approval
relating to corporate matters described in or otherwise covered by this Prospectus.
The Company has engaged ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA and Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc to act
as Joint Global Coordinators and Joint Bookrunners in connection with the Private Placement. DNB Markets, a
part of DNB Bank ASA, and Goldman Sachs International also acted as Joint Bookrunners.
The Company has furnished the information in this Prospectus. The Joint Bookrunners make no representation
or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information, and nothing contained
in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation by the Joint Bookrunners.
All inquiries relating to this Prospectus should be directed to the Company or the Joint Bookrunners. No other
person has been authorized to give any information about, or make any representation on behalf of, the
Company in connection with the Listing and, if given or made, such other information or representation must not
be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company or the Joint Bookrunners or by any of the affiliates,
advisers, or selling agents of any of the foregoing. The delivery of this Prospectus shall not under any
circumstances imply that there has been no change in the Company’s affairs or that the information set forth
herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date hereof.
The information contained herein is as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion and amendment
without notice. In accordance with Section 7-15 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, every significant new
factor, material mistake, or inaccuracy relating to the information included in the Prospectus, which is capable
of affecting the assessment of the Shares and which arises or is noted between the time when the Prospectus is
approved and the Listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs will be included in a supplement to the Prospectus. Neither
the publication nor distribution of this Prospectus shall under any circumstances create any implication that the
information herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date of the Prospectus.
In the ordinary course of their respective business, the Joint Bookrunners and certain of their affiliates have
engaged, and may continue to engage, in investment and commercial banking transactions with the Company.
Investing in the Company must be viewed as a high-risk investment. Potential investors should carefully
consider the risk factors set out in section 2 “Risk Factors” in addition to the other information contained
herein before making an investment decision. An investment in the Company is suitable only for investors who
understand the risk factors associated with this type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of
their investment.
The contents of this Prospectus are not to be construed as legal, business, or tax advice. Each reader of this
Prospectus should consult with its own legal, business, or tax advisor as to legal, business, or tax advice. If you
are in any doubt about the contents of this Prospectus, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager,
lawyer, accountant, or other professional adviser.
No Shares or other securities are being offered or sold in any jurisdiction pursuant to this Prospectus.
This Prospectus and the Listing shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, Norwegian law. The
courts of Norway, with Oslo District Court as exclusive legal venue, shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle
any dispute that may arise out of, or in connection with, the Listing or this Prospectus.
The Shares are not, and are not expected to be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act. Please see section 6 –
“Notice and Transfer Restrictions”.
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1

SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements". These Elements are numbered in
Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7).
This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and
issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence
of the Elements.
Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and
Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case, a short
description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of "not applicable".

Section A – Introduction and warnings
A.1

Introduction and
warnings

This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus.
Any decision to invest in the securities should be based on consideration of the
prospectus as a whole by the investor.
Where a claim relating to the information contained in the Prospectus is brought
before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of the
relevant European Union member states, have to bear the costs of translating the
Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.
Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary
including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading,
inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the
Prospectus or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the
Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to
invest in such securities.

A.2

Consent to the
use
of
the
prospectus
by
financial
intermediaries

No consent is granted by the Company to the use of the prospectus for subsequent
resale or final placement of the Shares.

Section B – Issuer and any guarantor
B.1

Legal and
commercial
name

Opera Software ASA (the "Company").

B.2

Domicile/
Legal form/
Legislation/
Country of
incorporation
Key factors of
operations and
principal
activities

Opera Software ASA is a public limited liability company incorporated in
Norway, and is subject to Norwegian law, hereunder inter alia the Norwegian
Public Limited Liability Companies Act.

Significant
recent trends
affecting the

The Company has not experienced any significant changes or trends within or
outside ordinary course of business that are material to the company since 31
March 2014 to the date of this Prospectus.

B.3

B.4a

The purpose of Opera’s business is to develop, produce, and sell software and
associated services and all activities related hereto, including participation in
other companies and other activities with similar purposes.
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B.5

B.6

Issuer and the
industry in
which it operates
Description of
the Group

Notifiable voting
rights

Opera Software ASA is the parent company and owns, directly or indirectly the
following subsidiaries:
Hern Labs AB, Opera Distribution AS, Netview Technology AS and Opera
Software International AS (which, in turn, includes the subsidiaries Opera
Software Korea Ltd, Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd, Opera
Software Poland Sp. z o.o, Opera Software Singapore PTE. LTD., AdMarvel,
Inc., LLC Opera Software (Russia), LLC Opera Software Ukraine, Opera
Software Iceland ehf, Opera Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd, Handster, Inc., Mobile
Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising Ltd, 4th Screen Advertising Holdings Ltd,
Skyfire Labs, Inc., Opera Software Inter-national US, Inc., Opera Mediaworks,
LLC., Opera Mediawork Performance, LLC, OM¬WMSG, LLC, Opera Holdings
Ireland Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ireland Limited, Opera Software Ireland
Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ad Exchange, Inc., Opera Software Netherland BV,
Opera Software Americas, LLC., Opera Commerce, LLC., Huntmads SA,
Foriades Park SA, Hunt Mobile Ads SA de CV, Hunt Mobile Ads aplicativos
para internet Ltda, Hunt Mobile Ads Panamá Corp., and the limited company
Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co., Ltd. (of which Opera have full
control), together with the Company referred to as the “Group”.
To the Company’s knowledge, the following Shareholders are the only
Shareholders who directly or indirectly have a notifiable shareholding:
Shareholder
Folketrygdfondet
Ludvig Lorentzen AS
Arepo AS

Shareholding
12,265,987
10,731,349
8,187,120

% of total
9,24847
8,09136
5,739

As far as the Company is aware of, there is no other natural or legal person other
than those mentioned above, who directly or indirectly has a shareholding in the
Company who is noticeable under Norwegian law.
Different voting
rights
Control

B.7

Selected
historical key
financial
information

All the Shares are equal in all respect and the Shareholders have equal rights,
including rights to dividends and voting rights. The Company is not aware that
the Company is controlled or owned, directly or indirectly, by any Shareholder or
related Shareholders.

The financial situation of the Company may be highlighted through the following
selected key indicators since the incorporation date:
The audited consolidated financial statements of Opera for the financial year
2013, 2012, and 2011 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRS
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations, as approved by the EU. The
unaudited condensed consolidated financial information for the interim period
ended 31 March 2014, with comparable figures for the interim period ended 31
March 2013, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standard IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. For further information,
refer to chapter 10 in the Prospectus.
The tables below set out a summary of Opera's unaudited consolidated
information for the three months ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, as well as
Opera's audited consolidated information for the years ended 31 December 2013,
2012 and 2011.
MUSD
2013
2012
2011
Total operating revenue
300.1
216.0
159.8
Adjusted EBITDA (Non-IFRS 86.6
63.5
47.4
EBITDA excludes stock-based
compensation
expenses,
extraordinary/one-time costs and
acquisition related costs)
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Operating profit/loss (EBIT ex.
restructuring costs)
Net profit/loss after tax

61.8

50.2

38.1

60.1

21.4

22.9

Net cash from operating
activities
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents

49.5

37.6

36.7

106.2

-25.9

-2.8

Total assets
Total equity
Total liabilities

533.0
314.0
219.0

239.5
143.8
95.8

167.0
117.5
49.5

MUSD (unaudited)
Total revenue
Adjusted EBITDA (Non-IFRS
EBITDA excludes stock-based
compensation
expenses,
extraordinary/one-time costs and
acquisition related costs)
Operating profit/loss (EBIT)
Net profit/loss after tax

Q1 2014
87.0
22.7

Q1 2013
62.0
18.4

13.6
3.4

12.8
2.6

Net cash from operating
activities
Net change in cash and cash
equivalents

15.4

3.4

-20.4

-3.6

Total assets
Total equity
Total liabilities

506.8
319.5
187.3

382.6
162.0
220.5

In June 2014, the Company announced the acquisition of AdColony (described in
section 7.13 of this Prospectus) and a subsequent Private Placement (described in
section 13.10 of this Prospectus). With the exception of the acquisition of
AdColony and the Private Placement there has been no material change in the
Group´s financial or trading position since 31 March 2014 to the date of this
Prospectus.
B.8

Pro
forma
financial
information

The unaudited pro forma condensed income statement shows how the business
combination transaction of Opera and Jirbo Acquisition Company Inc. (operating
as AdColony) might have affected Opera’s consolidated group income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2013 had the transaction occurred on 1 January
2013. The unaudited pro forma condensed statement of financial position as of 31
December 2013 shows how the business combination transaction with AdColony
could have affected the Group’s financial position had it occurred on that date.
The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information has been compiled for
illustrative purposes only, and it addresses a hypothetical situation. Therefore, it
does not represent the Group’s actual financial position or results as they would
have been had the pro forma adjustment transactions occurred at an earlier date,
nor is it representative of the results of operations for any future periods. It should
be noted that there is greater uncertainty associated with unaudited pro forma
condensed financial information than ordinary historical financial reporting.
Investors are cautioned against placing undue reliance on this unaudited pro
forma condensed financial information.
The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information does not include all of
the information required for financial statements under IFRS and should be read
in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Opera,
prepared under IFRS as adopted by the EU as of and for the financial year 2013
(see Appendix 2), as well as the separate audited financial statements of Opera
and AdColony (both audited) as of and for the year ended 31 December 2013
prepared under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
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The tables below set out a summary of the unaudited pro forma condensed
income statement for the year ended and as of 31 December 2013:

Unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013

Historical
Opera
Software
Group
IFRS
(audited)

Historical
AdColony
US GAAP
(audited)
(refer to
section
12.7)

300.1

52.8

300.1

52.8

-

352.9

Cost of goods sold
Payroll and related expenses
Depreciation expenses
Other operating expenses

(58.2)
(108.6)
(20.8)
(50.8)

(28.9)
(11.3)
(0.1)
(5.4)

0.8
(13.7)
(0.6)

(87.1)
(119.1)
(34.6)
(56.8)

Total operating expenses

(238.4)

(45.7)

(13.5)

(297.6)

61.8

7.1

(13.5)

55.3

Amounts in MUSD

Revenue
Total operating revenue

Result from operating activities
(EBIT),
excl. restructuring costs
Costs for restructuring business
Results from operating activities
(EBIT)

(2.5)

Other interest income/expenses, net
Interest expense related to contingent
consideration
FX gains/losses related to contingent
consideration, net
Revaluation of contingent consideration
Other financial expenses
Share of profit/loss from associates
(equity method)
Net financial income (expenses)

13.9

59.2

Pro
forma
adjustme
nts
(unaudite
d)

Pro
forma
IFRS
(unaudit
ed)

Note

352.9

3
1
2

(2.5)
7.1

(13.5)

52.8

(3.6)

10.3

(17.0)

(17.0)

(6.3)

(6.3)

28.8
(7.8)

28.8
(7.8)

(3.3)

(3.3)

8.3

-

(3.6)

4.7

Profit (loss) before income taxes

67.5

7.1

(17.1)

57.5

Income tax on ordinary result

(7.2)

(1.1)

6.3

(2.0)

Profit for the period

60.3

6.0

(10.7)

55.6

4
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Earnings per Share – basic

0.490

0.420

9

Earnings per Share - diluted

0.479

0.412
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Unaudited condensed pro forma statement of financial position as of 31 December 2013

Historical
Opera
Software
Group
(FRS
(audited)

Amounts in MUSD

ASSETS

6

Historical
AdColony
US GAAP
(audited)
(refer to
section
12.7)

Pro
Pro
forma
forma
adjustme
IFRS
nts
(unaudite
(unaudite
d)
d)

Notes

Non-current assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Investments in other shares
Other investments and deposits
Total non-current assets

149.5
46.6
15.4
23.6
0.1
4.9

175.9
55.0
0.4
0.6
0.1

240.1

1.1

Current assets
Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

61.5
32.4
35.6
163.4
292.9
533.0

10.0

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Total paid in capital

0.4
184.2
18.9
203.5

Other equity
Total retained earnings
Total equity

110.4
110.4
313.9

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Social security, VAT and other taxation
payable
Deferred revenue
Other short-term liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(2.0)

325.4
101.6
15.8
22.2
0.1
5.0

1
1
1, 6

228.9

470.1

0.4
18.9
29.3
30.4

25.0
119.6
144.6
373.5

71.5
32.4
61.0
8
301.9 4, 8, 9
466.8
936.9

30.4

87.2

30.4

87.2

0.4
301.8
18.9
321.1

(20.0)
(20.0)
10.4

20.0
20.0
107.2

110.4
110.4
431.5

60.1
14.8
74.9

-

120.0
91.4
211.4

180.1
106.2
286.3

22.2
20.2

14.2
0.6

(0.6)

36.4
20.2

55.5
54.9
266.3
373.5

23.1
29.2
100.4
219.1
505.4
936.9

9.8
17.9
29.2
44.9
144.2
219.1
533.0

7, 9

4
8

6

9.8
5.2

20.0
20.0
30.4
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B.9

Profit forecast or
estimate

There is no profit forecast or estimate included in the prospectus.

B.10

Audit
report
qualifications

There are no qualifications in the audit reports.

B.11

Working capital

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company is of the opinion that the Group’s
working capital is sufficient for its present requirements and, in particular, is
sufficient for at least the next twelve months from the date of this Prospectus.

Section C – Securities
C.1

Description of the
type and the class
of the securities
and the security
identification

Opera has only issued one class of Shares with ISIN NO 0010040611.
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code

C.2

Currency

The par value of the Shares is NOK 0.02 each.

C.3

Number of issued
Shares and par
value

At the date of the Prospectus, the issued share capital is set at NOK 2,852,544.76
divided into 142 627 238 Shares each with a nominal value of NOK 0.02. All the
issued Shares are fully paid.

C.4

Rights attached
to the Shares

All issued Shares have the same rights.

C.5

Restriction on the
free
transferability of
the Shares

The Shares of the Company are freely transferable.

C.6

Application for
admission to
trading on a
regulated market
Dividend policy

Opera has been listed on Oslo Børs since March 2004.

C.7

The dividend policy is to maintain a high equity ratio in order to achieve its
ambitious long-term growth objectives. The Company believes its needs for
growth can be met while also allowing for a dividend distribution, as long as the
Company is reaching its targeted growth and cash generation levels. The
Company will consider continuing to pay dividends over the next years.

Section D – Risks
D.1

Key
risks
relating to the
issuer and its
business



























Technology risk
Competitive industry
Management of growth
Risks related to acquisitions, joint ventures, and strategic alliances
Dependence on recruiting and retaining knowledgeable employees
Intellectual property and proprietary rights
Lawsuits, government investigations, and other claims
Risks related to the protection of source code
Risk related to improper disclosure of personal data
Risk related to R&D and product development
Risks associated with international operations
Customer/Partner risk
Data-center risk
Brand name
Foreign currency exchange risk
Liquidity and credit risk
Tax risk
Fluctuations
Ability to raise additional capital
Currency fluctuations
Impairment of goodwill and amortizable intangible assets
Regulatory risks
Anti-corruption laws
Risk of war and terrorist attacks
Geopolitical risks
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D.3

Key
risks
relating to the
shares

The Shares are exposed to inter alia risk factors related to:
 The Share price volatility
 Liquidity of the Shares
 Future issuances of Shares or other securities, which may dilute the
holdings of Shareholders and could materially affect the price of the
Shares
 Investors possibly not being able to exercise their voting rights for
Shares registered in a nominee account
 Investors in the United States possibly having difficulty enforcing any
judgment obtained in the United States against the Company or its
directors or executive officers in Norway
 Transfer of Shares being subject to restrictions under the securities laws
of the United States and other jurisdictions
 Pre-emptive rights possibly not being available to all holders of Shares
 Shareholders outside of Norway are subject to exchange rate risk
 Major Shareholders may exert significant influence
 The economic situation in the market in which the Group operates.

Section E — Offer
E.1

The total net
proceeds and an
estimate of the
total expenses.

E.2a

Reasons for the
offer, use of
proceeds,
estimated
net
amount of the
proceeds.

E.3

A description of
the terms and
conditions of the
offer.

The total expenses of the Private Placement are estimated to amount to
approximately NOK 28 million, of which NOK 28 million are fees to the Joint
Bookrunners. The net proceeds of the Private Placement are estimated to amount
to approximately NOK 772 million. Gross proceeds from the offering amount to
NOK 800 million.
The purpose of the placement is to strengthen the Company’s capital base for
current and future strategic acquisition activities and obligations. In particular, the
proceeds of the placement will provide the Company with additional funding
flexibility to meet its earn-out obligations in connection with the recent AdColony
acquisition.

On 26 June 2014, the Company announced that it had resolved to raise up to 10
million new Shares through a Private Placement.
The Private Placement was completed on 27 June 2014 through issue of a total
number of 10 million Placement Shares with gross proceeds of NOK 800 million
(approximately MUSD 130). The subscription price applied in the Private
Placement was NOK 80 per Share, corresponding to a discount of approximately
4 % to the closing price of the Opera Share on Oslo Børs on 26 June 2014.
The Placement Shares were registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises on 2 July 2014 and settlement of the Private Placement took place on
2 July 2014.
The Placement Shares issued by the Private Placement become tradable on Oslo
Børs under the ticker code “OPERA”. It is expected that the first day of trading of
these Placement Shares on Oslo Børs will be 12 August 2014, following approval
by the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority and publication of this
Prospectus. Participants in the Private Placement were, however, able to trade
their allocated Shares from 27 June 2014, as the Company had entered into a loan
agreement with certain existing Shareholders comprising a number of Shares
corresponding to the Placement Shares.
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E.4

A description of
any interest that
is material to the
issue/offer,
including
conflicting inter
ests.

The Joint Bookrunners and their affiliates have provided from time to time, and
may provide in the future, investment banking services to the Company and its
affiliates in the ordinary course of business, for which they have received and
may continue to receive customary fees and commissions. The Joint Bookrunners,
their employees and any affiliate may currently own Shares in the Company. The
Joint Bookrunners do not intend to disclose the extent of any such investments
otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. The
Joint Bookrunners will receive a commission in connection with the Private
Placement and, as such, have an interest in the Private Placement.
As part of the Share issue as described in section 5 of this Prospectus, ABG
Sundal Collier Norge ASA has entered into a share lending agreement with the
Company as further described in section 9.8 of this Prospectus..
None of the Joint Bookrunners have any material holding of Shares in the
Company. However, Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV) is the 7th largest
shareholder in the Company with a 1,90715 % ownership and Verdipapirfondet
DNB Norge Selektiv is the 29th largest shareholder in the company with a 0.77%
ownership prior to the placing. Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV),
Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge Selektiv and DNB Markets are all part of DNB
ASA. Through Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV)’s and Verdipapirfondet DNB
Norge Selektiv’s ownership, DNB Markets, as a Joint Bookrunner, has an indirect
interest in the Company
Except for the above, the Company is not aware of any natural or legal person
involved in the Private Placement having any interest, including conflicting ones,
in the Private Placement that is material to the Private Placement.
Not Applicable; No securities shall be sold in accordance with the Prospectus.

E.5

Name of the
person or entity
offering to sell
the security.
Lock-up
agreements: the
parties involved;
and indication of
the period of the
lock up.

E.6

The amount and
percentage
of
immediate
dilution resulting
from the offer.
In the case of a
subscription
offer to existing
equity holders,
the amount and
percentage of
immediate
dilution if they
do not subscribe
to the new offer.

Opera had 132,586,088 Shares outstanding prior to the Private Placement. A total
of 10 million Placement Shares were issued in the Private Placement, resulting in
an immediate dilution of approximately 7.5% for existing Shareholders who did
not participate in the Private Placement.

E.7

Estimated
expenses charged
to the investor by
the issuer or the
offeror

Not Applicable; No expenses will be charged to the investors by the Company.
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2

RISK FACTORS

Investing in Opera involves a high degree of risk. This section highlights all known and significant risk factors
related to the Group and its business, and potential investors should carefully read and assess these specific
risks and the other information contained in this Prospectus. If these risks materialize, individually or together
with other circumstances, they may substantially impair the business of the Group and have material adverse
effects on the Group’s business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations, and any capital invested
in Shares may be partly or fully lost as a consequence.
The order in which the individual risks are presented below is not intended to provide an indication of the
likelihood of their occurrence nor of the severity or significance of individual risks. If any of these risks
materializes, the price of the Shares may decline, and investors could lose all or part of their invested capital.
Potential investors in Opera are strongly recommended to carefully do their own assessment of the risk involved
in an investment, before committing any capital. Each of the following risk factors can have a significant
negative impact on Opera’s business, financial results, operations, cash flow, and the trading price of its
common stock:
2.1
Business operations risks
Technology risk – Rapid technological change
The market segments in which the Group operates and plans to operate in the future are characterized by rapidly
changing technology and developments, evolving industry standards, emerging competition, and frequent new
product and service introductions. The competition in the market has historically resulted in, and is still expected
to result in, falling operational margins in the various sector segments. This requires higher demands for
continuous improvement of operation to secure and strengthen the Group’s earnings in the future. There can be
no assurance that the Group will be able successfully and quickly to take advantage of technological
developments, respond to new sources of competition, identify market opportunities, and develop and bring new
services to market. Moreover, it is conceivable that one or more technological breakthroughs will radically
change the manner in which browser services and ancillary services are marketed and delivered. Future
technological breakthroughs could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations,
and financial condition. In addition, the Company’s efforts to respond to technological innovations and a
changing marketplace may require significant investments of time and money. There is no guarantee that the
Group will possess the necessary resources to make such investments in a timely manner, in which case there
could be a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, and financial condition.
Competitive industry
The market for the Group’s products is highly competitive, which includes some of the largest technology,
advertising, IT and telecommunication companies in the world, with significantly larger financial resources and
headcount and broader distribution channels compared to the Group. These large companies have a greater
financial capacity to make strategic acquisitions, invest in new technology and research and development,
market their products, and compete for customers. Furthermore, due to the dynamic nature of the market, there is
always a risk that its large competitors, and even smaller startup competitors, could take a large share of the
markets in which it is operating within a very short period of time, by developing more attractive products and
taking customers away from its own products and services. The market in which the Group operates is subject to
rapid and substantial technological change, and developments by others may render the technology and business
models of the Group obsolete or non-competitive, which would have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
operations, financial condition, and future prospects. It should be expected that competitors will continuously try
to decrease the Group’s competitive advantages. The Group’s competitive position may be harmed if new
competitors with similar services establish themselves in the same segments of the market. The failure of the
Company to maintain the Group’s competitiveness through the successful management of its product and
services strategy could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results, or financial
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condition. The Group’s ability to meet the competition in the market and its skill in future strategic adaptation
will have significant consequences for the Group’s future development.
Management of growth
The Group has integrated a significant number of new employees, operations, and assets in the course of its
growth in recent years. If the Group fails to retain and/or attract management personnel who can continue to
manage the Group’s growth effectively, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group and its growth. In
addition, the Group will need to expand and improve its sales and marketing activities in conjunction with its
anticipated growth and possible expansion into new product areas. A failure to attract, retain, or effectively
manage such personnel, or to successfully market the Group’s services, could have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, operating results, and financial condition.
Risks related to acquisitions, joint ventures, and strategic alliances
The Group has recently made several acquisitions and entered into several joint ventures and strategic alliances,
and the Group expects to continue to do so as part of its long-term business strategy. Transactions involve
significant challenges and risks, including the transaction failing to advance the Group’s business strategy; that
the Group not realizing a satisfactory return on the investment; the potential occurrence of difficulties integrating
new employees, business systems, and technology; or the transaction diverting management’s attention from the
Group’s other businesses. The success of acquisitions, joint ventures, and strategic alliances will depend in part
on the Group’s ability to provide efficient integration from an operational and financial point of view. It may
take longer than expected to realize the full benefits from transactions, such as increased revenue, enhanced
efficiencies, increased market share, and improved market capitalization, or the benefits may ultimately be
smaller than anticipated or not realized at all. In addition, making such acquisitions requires significant costs for
legal and financial advice and can take management’s focus away from achieving other strategic objectives.
These events could harm the operating results or financial condition of the Group.
Dependence on recruiting and retaining knowledgeable employees
The Group’s success depends in a large part upon its ability to recruit, motivate, and retain highly skilled
employees with the functional and technical skills and experience necessary to develop and deliver the Group’s
products. The limited supply of such qualified employee candidates means that the competition for such
employees is intense. The Company is using incentive schemes such as employee stock ownership and options
in order to encourage employee loyalty throughout the Group. However, there can be no assurance that the
Group will be able to recruit, motivate and retain sufficient numbers of highly skilled employees in the future. A
failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results, or financial
condition.
Intellectual property and proprietary rights
The Group’s success depends significantly on its proprietary software technology. The Group relies on a
combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, non-disclosure agreements, and contractual
provisions to protect its proprietary rights. These laws and procedures provide only limited protection. The
intellectual property rights owned by the Group may not provide sufficiently broad protection, whether regarding
scope, territorial protection, or otherwise, or they may not be enforceable in actions against alleged
infringements. As well, despite precautions being taken, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy
or reverse engineer aspects of the current or future products or independently to develop similar or superior
technology or design concerning the patents the Group owns. Any dispute related to intellectual property rights
may be of a multi-jurisdictional nature, incur substantial cost, and may divert management’s attention away from
its business. Even if the outcome of disputes relating to intellectual property rights is in favor of the Group, such
disputes may therefore lead to a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and financial position.
Lawsuits, government investigations, and other claims
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The Group may become subject to disputes and litigation with its suppliers, contractors, and other third parties.
Such disputes could result in management being required to spend more time and resources on the dispute and
could further result in a loss of revenue and/or have a material negative impact on the overall financial position
of the Group. Such lawsuits, investigations, and proceedings could be related to, for example, intellectual
property (issues including trademark and patent suits), labor law issues, commercial lawsuits, data protection and
privacy matters, consumer law, marketing law, tax issues, and so forth. All such proceedings can have a
significant impact on Opera, whether or not it is ultimately successful, due to the legal cost and the internal
resources it would have to employ to defend itself. In the event of an adverse result against Opera in such a
proceeding, Opera could be required to pay significant monetary damages or fines and/or re-design its products
or services, causing a material impact on Opera’s business, financial results, operations and cash flow.
Third parties may from time to time claim that the Group infringes their intellectual property rights. The risk of
receiving such claims may increase because of constant technological change in the segments in which the
Group competes. Intellectual property lawsuits are very common in the market within which the Group operates.
Regardless of the merits of such lawsuits, they are extremely expensive to defend and litigate, and the damages
awarded in such suits can be high. To resolve such claims, the Group may enter into royalty and licensing
agreements on terms that are less favorable than currently available, stop selling or redesign affected products or
services, or pay damages to satisfy indemnification commitments. These outcomes may cause operating margins
to decline and have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. In addition to money damages, in some
jurisdictions, plaintiffs can seek injunctive relief that may limit or prevent importing, marketing, and selling its
products or services that have, or allegedly have, infringing technologies, even before the underlying dispute has
been finally determined.
Compared to the Group, many of its competitors own large numbers of patents and other intellectual property
rights. Although the Group does seek patent protection for certain innovations, the Group may not have
sufficient protection for important innovations. Furthermore, because many large companies are able to settle
intellectual property lawsuits by cross-licensing each other’s technology, the fact that its patent portfolio is not as
extensive as the competitors’ portfolios could have a negative impact in a cross-licensing situation.
Risks related to the protection of source code
The Group may not be able to protect its source code from copying if there is an unauthorized disclosure of
source code. Source code, the detailed program commands for the Group’s browser products and other software
programs, is critical to the business of the Group. If an unauthorized disclosure of a significant portion of the
Group’s source code occurs, the Group could potentially lose future trade secret protection for that source code.
It may become easier for third parties to compete with the Group’s products by copying functionality, which
could adversely affect the revenue, operating margins, and financial position of the Group.
Risk related to improper disclosure of personal data
The Group processes and stores a large stream of data, a substantial part of which will contain personally
identifiable information. No assurance can be given that the Group’s security controls and procedures relating to
personal data will prevent the improper disclosure of personally identifiable information by the Group. Improper
disclosure of such information could harm the Group’s reputation, lead to legal exposure to customers, or subject
the Group to liability under laws that protect personal data, resulting in increased costs or loss of revenue.
Perceptions in the market that the Group’s products or services do not adequately protect the privacy of personal
information could inhibit sales and restrict the adoption of the Group’s products or services, which would have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s operations and financial position.
Risk related to R&D and product development
The Group’s revenue is dependent on expanding the user base and customer base by developing and marketing
products that are more attractive than the competitors’ products. If the attractiveness of the Group’s products
does not continuously improve and evolve to keep pace with the industry, the Group will have challenges
retaining the current user base and gaining new customers. The Group’s competitors are constantly improving
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their products and associated services. In order to stay competitive, the Group has to invest significant resources
in research and development. Investing significantly in research and development is, however, no guarantee that
consumers and customers will, in fact, find the Group’s products to be attractive enough to begin or continue
using them, as it is impossible to accurately predict the behavior of its consumer and business customers.
Technological product development involves a high degree of risk and will incur substantial costs that may not
result in any successful product launch. The Group may prove not to have the ability to invent, explore, and
develop product candidates that are of value to the market. Further, new products and services may not be
profitable, and, even if they are profitable, operating margins for some new products and businesses will not be
as high as margin experienced historically by the Group. If the Group is not able to develop new products and
services in a successful manner from a marketing, operational, or financial point of view, there would be a
material adverse effect on the Group’s growth, earnings, and market capitalization; as a result, the financial
position of the Group may be harmed.
Risks associated with international operations
Sales in international markets are subject to risks inherent in international business activities, including, in
particular, general economic conditions in each such country, overlapping differing tax structures, managing an
organization spread over various jurisdictions, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, complying with a
variety of foreign laws and regulations, and the longer accounts receivable payment cycles in certain countries.
Other risks associated with international operations in general include import and export licensing requirements,
trade restrictions, changes in tariff and freight rates, the difficulty and expense of maintaining foreign
distribution channels, legal differences, political instability, and currency fluctuations. Emerging markets are one
of the focus areas of the Group’s international growth strategy. The developing nature of these markets presents
a number of risks, such as deterioration of social, political, labor, or economic conditions in a specific country or
region, and difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, each of which may also adversely affect the
Group’s operations or financial results. In addition, review of international customer and vendor agreements by
local counsel is not routinely obtained, because, in the Company’s view, the potential incremental improvement
to the Group’s standard forms or other applicable agreements does not generally outweigh the costs, when the
likelihood of dispute is considered. If any of the risks related to international operations materialize, they could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s operations, profitability, and financial position.
Customer/partner risk
There is always a risk that existing customers will terminate or fail to renew their contracts with Opera, if, for
example, Opera’s technology does not remain competitive enough to provide value to the customers or the
customers’ products, which incorporate Opera’s technology, or if it does not generate revenue and users as the
customer expected. There is also a risk that consumers will stop using Opera’s technology and begin using a
competitor’s technology and that the Group’s brand and performance advertising customers work with the
competitors instead of it for advertising campaigns. The negative impact of a loss of customer(s) and/or end
users on Opera’s revenues and business could be significant. For example, in 2013, Opera had sales to one
customer that accounted for more than 10% of total revenues. Loss of this customer or a change in the
commercial terms of that deal would negatively harm the Group’s revenues and business. Similarly, not being
able to attract new customers, partners, and consumers to its products would have a negative impact on revenues
and business.
Data-center risk
Many of the Group’s products and services are dependent on the continuous operation of data centers and
computer hosting and telecommunications equipment. If Opera's internal IT systems fail or are damaged, or if a
third party gains unauthorized access to such systems and data is lost or compromised, it could have a material
impact on Opera's operations. Downtime can, for example, hurt its reputation with its consumer customers, as
well as increasing the risk of damage claims and monetary penalties from its customers.
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If Opera’s data centers malfunction or become damaged, service can be interrupted for long periods of time.
Damage can result from any number of factors, including natural disasters such as earthquakes, floods, lightning
strikes, fires, terrorist attacks, power loss or failure, telecommunication equipment failures, severed or damaged
fiber optic cables, computer viruses, security breaches, sabotage, vandalism, negligence of suppliers, or
deliberate attempts to harm its equipment and/or systems. Furthermore, actions or inactions of third-party
hosting centers or telecommunications providers, including financial difficulties, can result in service disruption,
which would have negative impact on its products and services.
If Opera’s centers or systems are subject to a security breach, customers’ confidential or personal information
could be obtained and used by third parties, which could have a negative impact its our brand and the market
perception that it is a reliable company, as well as subjecting it to significant regulatory fines or claims or
damages from its customers.
For certain business models, Opera depends on internal systems to collect and produce accurate statistics
regarding the use of its products and services, especially for products that rely on an active-user royalty model.
Failures or malfunctioning of these systems can have a significant impact on its financial results. Failure to
adequately back up its internal systems can also have a material negative impact on the running of the business.
Brand name
Opera has a strong brand name in its markets. In order to expand the Group’s user and customer base, the Group
must maintain and strengthen the “Opera” brand by producing excellent products and services and maintaining
and improving end users’ and customers’ perceptions of Opera. Issues such as data privacy and security issues,
product and service outages, compatibility issues and product/service malfunctions can have a negative impact
on the brand name, which can, in turn, have a material negative impact on the Group’s results and business.
Opera is exposed to reputational risk, as it is heavily reliant on browser products and other related products and
services, while maintaining a relatively low marketing budget. In the past, Opera’s reputation has been spread
via word of mouth by satisfied users and customers. Failure to continue to release and develop high-quality,
user-friendly and customer-attractive products and services would adversely impact its reputation, this marketing
channel, and Opera’s business.
2.2
Financial risk
Foreign currency exchange risk
Opera’s sales and expenses are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk. Most of the Company’s foreign
exchange risk relates to sales and is the result of revenue contracts signed in Euros (EUR) and other currencies.
For FY 2013, approximately 76% (2012: 71%) of revenues were in U.S. dollars (USD), 13% (2012: 22%) in
EUR, 5% (2012: 4%) in Pound sterling (GBP), 4% (2012: 1%) in Chinese Yuan (CNY), and 1% (2012: 2%) in
other currencies. (All numbers mentioned are based on the annual report.) For the parent company,
approximately 68% (2012: 67%) of revenues were in USD, 23% (2012: 29%) in EUR, 7% (2012: 2%) in CNY,
and 2% (2012: 2%) in other currencies. The Board and management carefully monitor the foreign exchange
risks.
The majority of the Group’s purchases are made in the following denominations: Norwegian kroner (NOK),
USD, Swedish kroner (SEK), Polish zloty (PLN), Pound sterling (GBP), Japanese yen (JPY), Chinese Yuan
(CNY), South Korean won (KRW), New Taiwan dollars (TWD), Australian dollars (AUD), Ukrainian hryvnia
(UAH), Icelandic króna (ISK), Singapore dollars (SGD), EUR and Indian rupees (INR). Exchange rate
fluctuations in these currencies do impact Opera’s income statement. In FY 2013, approximately 54% (2012:
36%) were in USD, 20% (2012: 30%) in NOK, 6% (2012: 7%) in SEK, 6% (2012: 5%) in GBP, 5% (2012: 7%)
in PLN, 2% (2012: 3%) in CNY, and 6% (2012: 12%) in other currencies.
Although Opera does invest money conservatively, all its investments are subject to risk. For example, Opera’s
cash and other investments placed in Norwegian financial institutions are not guaranteed by the government
above MNOK 2 per institution. If the financial institution were to go bankrupt, a portion of Opera’s cash or
investment could be lost. Because a portion of the Group’s business is conducted in currencies other than NOK,
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the Group will be exposed to volatility associated with foreign currency exchange rates in the course of business.
There can be no assurance that the Group will not experience currency losses in the future.
Liquidity and credit risk
Opera is exposed to customer-related credit risk, which is primarily influenced by the financial strength and
characteristics of each customer. There is always a risk of loss on accounts receivable from its customers and
reduced sales to its customers if they face liquidity challenges.
Tax risk
From time to time, Opera faces tax audits and investigations by both domestic and foreign tax authorities, and
the outcome of any audit could have a negative impact on its operating results and financial condition.
Furthermore, the tax treatment of many transactions relies on the judgment of the Company and its auditors,
since the tax laws and regulations are not always clear. Based on the uncertainty that exists, the ultimate tax
outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in its financial statements and if Opera were required to re-file its
taxes based on an adverse tax judgment, it could materially affect its financial results during the relevant
period(s). The Group is subject to income taxes in Norway, the U.S. and many other foreign jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course
of business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The
Group is regularly under audit by tax authorities. Economic and political pressures to increase tax revenues in
various jurisdictions may make resolving tax disputes more difficult. The final determination of tax audits and
any related litigation could be materially different from the Group’s historical income tax provisions and
accruals. The results of an audit or litigation could have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements in
the period or periods for which that determination is made.
Fluctuations
Opera’s operating results fluctuate from period to period, due to, for example, changing business models and
factors that are outside its span of control. Furthermore, its business and the market are dynamic and evolving,
and its spending has historically been cyclical in nature and user traffic tends to be seasonal.
Ability to raise additional capital
The Company may seek to raise capital through collaborative arrangements, strategic alliances, and/or equity
and debt financings or from other sources. However, the Company may prove unable to raise such additional
capital on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. If the Group is unable to generate adequate funds from
operations or from additional sources, then the business, results of operations, and financial condition may be
materially and adversely affected.
Currency fluctuations
Because a portion of the Group’s business is conducted in currencies other than NOK, the Group will be exposed
to volatility associated with foreign currency exchange rates in the course of business. There can be no assurance
that the Group will not experience currency losses in the future.
Impairment of goodwill and amortizable intangible assets
If the Group’s goodwill or amortizable intangible assets become impaired, the Group may be required to record a
significant charge to earnings. The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. Factors that may be
considered a change in circumstances, indicating that the carrying value of the recorded goodwill or amortizable
intangible assets may not be recoverable, include a decline in stock price and market capitalization, reduced
future cash flow estimates, and slower growth rates in the industry in which the Group operates. The Group may
be required to record a significant charge in its financial statements during the period in which any impairment
of its goodwill or amortizable intangible assets is determined, negatively impacting its results of operations.
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2.3
Political, regulatory, and market risks
Regulatory risk
The Group operates on a global scale and is therefore subject to regulatory regimes across the globe. Not only is
it a challenge for a company the size of the Group to remain current on all the regulatory regimes that may apply
to the Group at any one time, but also some regulators have a particular interest in the markets within which the
Group is operating. As a result, the Group may become subject to increased regulatory scrutiny in the future. If
lawmakers and regulators make new laws or interpret current laws in different ways or subject the Group to
regulatory scrutiny, the Group may be required to, for example, invest significant amounts of money to
participate in or defend itself in regulatory proceedings in multiple jurisdictions and to adapt its products and
services to conform to the regulatory regimes in multiple jurisdictions. Such product adaptations may be very
costly and might ultimately result in the Group’s products and services becoming less attractive to its customers
and end users and/or in the Group being forced to maintain different software builds for different countries.
Anti-corruption laws
The Group operates in a large number of countries and almost all of the Group’s revenue comes from
international sales. Operations may be affected by changes in trade protection laws, policies and measures, and
other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment. The Norwegian Criminal Act, the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act, and other local laws (“Anti-Corruption Laws”) prohibit corrupt payments by the Group’s
employees, vendors, or agents. While the Group devotes substantial resources to its compliance programs, if the
Group fails to comply with Anti-Corruption Laws, the Group may be exposed to significant fines and penalties.
Risk of war and terrorist attacks
The Group may operate in areas of the world where there is significant risk of war, armed conflicts, or terrorist
attacks. Such events could disrupt the operations of the Group and its customers, in which case evacuation of
personnel, termination of contracts, delays to operations, or loss of personnel or assets may incur. This could
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business and results in the future. War or terrorist attacks may also
add uncertainty to the timing and budget for technology investment decisions by the Group’s customers and may
result in supply chain disruptions for hardware manufacturers, either of which may adversely affect the Group’s
revenue.
Geopolitical risks
A disruption or failure of the Group’s systems or operations because of a major earthquake, weather event,
cyber-attack, terrorist attack, or other catastrophic event could cause delays in completing sales, providing
services, or performing other mission-critical functions. A major part of the Group’s operations in the United
States is headquartered in California, which is near major earthquake faults. A catastrophic event that results in
the destruction or disruption of any of the Group’s critical business or IT systems could harm the Group’s ability
to conduct normal business operations. Furthermore, the long-term effects of climate change on the global
economy in general or the IT industry in particular are unclear. Environmental regulations or changes in the
supply, demand, or available sources of energy may affect the availability or cost of goods and services,
including natural resources, necessary to run the Group’s business. Changes in weather where the Group
operates may increase the costs of powering and cooling computer hardware that the Group uses to develop
software and provide its services.
2.4
Risk factors relating to the Company’s Shares
The Share price volatility
The trading price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors beyond the
Group’s control, including quarterly variations in operating results, adverse business developments, changes in
financial estimates, and investment recommendations or ratings by securities analysts, significant contracts,
acquisitions or strategic relationships, publicity about the Group, its services or its competitors, lawsuits against
the Group, unforeseen liabilities, changes to the regulatory environment in which it operates, or general market
conditions.
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In recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had
a significant impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in the
same industry as that of the Group. Those changes may occur without regard to the operating performance of
these companies. The price of the Company's Shares may therefore fluctuate based upon factors that have little
or nothing to do with Opera’s business, and these fluctuations may materially affect the price of the Shares.
Liquidity of the Shares
Although the Company’s Shares are listed, there is no guarantee for a liquid market for the Shares at all times.
The Shares may not be easily disposed of at all times.
Except for unanticipated circumstances, the Company believes that the Placement Shares will be admitted to
trading on Oslo Børs. A delay in the commencement of the listing of the Placement Shares would affect the
liquidity of the Placement Shares and prevent the sale of these Shares until they are allowed for listing.
Future issuances of Shares or other securities may dilute the holdings of Shareholders and could materially
affect the price of the Shares
It is possible that the Company may in the future decide to offer additional Shares or other securities in order to
finance new capital-intensive projects, or in connection with unanticipated liabilities or expenses or for any other
purposes. Any such additional offering could reduce the proportionate ownership and voting interests of holders
of Shares, as well as the earnings per Share and the net asset value per Share of the Company, and any offering
by the Company could have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Shares.
Investors may not be able to exercise their voting rights for Shares registered in a nominee account
Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through brokers, dealers or
other third parties) may not be able to vote for such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in their names
with the VPS prior to the Company's general meetings. The Company cannot guarantee that beneficial owners of
the Shares will receive the notice of a general meeting in time to instruct their nominees to either affect a reregistration of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares in the manner desired by such beneficial owners.
Investors in the United States may have difficulty enforcing any judgment obtained in the United States against
the Company or its directors or executive officers in Norway
The Company is incorporated under the laws of the Kingdom of Norway, and most of its current directors and
executive officers reside outside the United States. Furthermore, a substantial part of the Group’s assets and the
assets of the Company's directors and executive officers are located outside the United States. As a result,
investors in the United States may be unable to effect service of process on the Company or its directors and
executive officers or enforce judgments obtained in the United States’ courts against the Company or such
persons in the United States, including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal
securities laws of the United States. The Company has been advised by its Norwegian legal counsel that the
United States and Norway do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of
judgments (other than arbitral awards) in civil and commercial matters.
Transfer of Shares is subject to restrictions under the securities laws of the United States and other jurisdictions
The Shares have not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any state securities laws in the United
States or any other jurisdiction outside of Norway, and there are no plans to file for such registration. As such,
the Shares may not be offered or sold except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the
U.S. Securities Act and applicable securities laws. See section 6 "Notice and Transfer Restrictions".
Pre-emptive rights may not be available to all holders of Shares
In accordance with Norwegian law, prior to issuance of any Shares for consideration in cash, the Company must
offer holders of then outstanding Shares pre-emptive rights to subscribe and pay for a sufficient number of
Shares in order to maintain their existing ownership percentages, unless these rights are waived at a general
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meeting of Shareholders. These pre-emptive rights are generally transferrable during the subscription period for
the related offering and may be quoted on Oslo Børs.
Holders of Shares resident in the United States, and possibly Shareholders in other jurisdictions as well, may not
be able to receive, trade or exercise pre-emptive rights for Shares unless a registration statement in the United
States (or similar registrations in other jurisdictions) under the U.S Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is
effective with respect to such rights or an exemption from the registration requirements is available. The
Company is currently not subject to any reporting requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or any other foreign jurisdiction reporting requirements, and it currently has no intention to subject
itself to such reporting and will not undertake any obligation to subject itself to such reporting for the purpose of
allowing Shareholders in the United States to participate in any issues of financial instruments. If holders in the
United States, or possibly Shareholders in other jurisdictions, are not able to receive, trade, or exercise preemptive rights granted in respect of their Shares in any Share issues by the Company, then they may not receive
the economic benefit of such rights. Any such rights may, at the sole discretion of the Company’s Board, be sold
on behalf of such Shareholders and such Shareholders may receive any profits from such sale, but any profit will
depend on the prevailing market prices for the pre-emptive rights. In addition, such Shareholders’ proportionate
shareholding in the Company will be diluted.
Shareholders outside of Norway are subject to exchange rate risk
The Shares are priced in NOK, and any future payments of dividends on the Shares or other distributions from
the Company will be denominated in NOK. Accordingly, any investor outside Norway is subject to adverse
movements in the NOK against their local currency, as the foreign currency equivalent of any dividends paid on
the Shares or price received in connection with any sale of the Shares could be materially adversely affected.
Major Shareholders may exert significant influence
As of the date of this Prospectus, certain Shareholders control a significant percentage of the share capital. A
concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change of control of the
Company that could be economically beneficial to other Shareholders. Further, the interests of Shareholders
exerting a significant influence over the Company may not in all matters be aligned with the interests of Opera
and the other Shareholders of the Company.
2.5
Other risks
The Group is influenced in general by the economic situation in the market in which the Group operates. The
global economy and the global financial markets have been characterized by substantial uncertainty and
problems of historical enormity since early 2007.
A decrease, or the lack of improvement, in the global economy and problems relating to governmental treasuries,
equity- and debt markets, the access to and cost of capital, the general confidence by consumers, increased
unemployment, increase in inflation, and interest rates may have a grave and substantial negative effect on the
Group’s business, revenue, financial position, and equity. The exact effects on the Group are very uncertain and
not possible to describe in any precise manner as at the date of this Prospectus.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS

3.1

Board of Directors

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the Listing on Oslo Børs of the Placement Shares issued in
connection with the Private Placement.
The Board of Directors of Opera hereby declares that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case, the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of their knowledge, in accordance with the facts
and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Oslo, 11 August 2014
The Board of Directors of
Opera Software ASA

Sverre Christian Munck
Chairman

Marianne Heien Blystad
Board member

Audun Wickstrand Iversen
Board member

Kari Stautland
Board member

Andre Alexander Christensen
Board member

Krystian Patryk Kolondra
Board member

Erik Johan Möller
Board member

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza
Board member

20

4

NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements (“Forward-looking statements”, including, without
limitation, projections and expectations regarding the Company’s future financial position, business strategy,
plans and objectives). When used in this document, the words “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”,
“seek to”, “may”, “plan” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company, its subsidiaries, or its
management, are intended to identify Forward-looking statements. Such Forward-looking statements are
included in sections 5, 7 and 8 of this Prospectus. Such Forward-looking statements are based on numerous
assumptions regarding the Company’s present and future business strategies and the environment in which the
Company and its subsidiaries will operate. Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that Forwardlooking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that the Group’s actual financial position,
operating results and liquidity, as well as the development of the industry in which it operates, may differ
materially from those made in or suggested by the Forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. The
Company cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or current expectations upon which its Forward-looking
statements are based will occur. These Forward looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, including those discussed elsewhere in this Prospectus.
All Forward-looking statements included in this Prospectus are based on information available to the Company,
and views and assessments of the Company, as of the date of this Prospectus. The Company expressly disclaims
any obligation or undertaking to release any updates or revisions of the Forward-looking statements, whether as
a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, unless such update or revision is prescribed by law.
All subsequent written and oral Forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or to persons acting on
the Company’s behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred to above and
contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.
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5

THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT AND THE LISTING

5.1
Background and rationale behind the Private Placement
On 24 June 2014, Opera announced the acquisition of all outstanding shares in AdColony, by a merger
agreement structured under Delaware law. The transaction was closed on 24 July 2014. Further information on
the acquisition and AdColony is included in section 7.13 of this Prospectus.
5.2

Resolution regarding the Private Placement

The general meeting of the Company on 3 June 2014 made the following resolution:
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to
NOK 265,172, by one or several share issues of up to a total of 13,258,600 shares, each with a nominal
value of NOK 0.02. The subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors.
b) The authorization includes the right to increase the Company’s share capital in return for non-cash
contributions or the right to assume special obligations on behalf of the Company.
c)

The preferential rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act may be
deviated from by the Board of Directors.

d) The authorization may only be used in connection with acquisitions of businesses or companies, including
mergers, within the business areas operated by the Opera group, or which relates thereto.
e)

The authorization shall be effective from the date it is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises and shall be valid until and including 30 June 2015.

f)

The authorization replaces the current authorization when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises.

g) The authorization cannot be used if the Company in the period of 3 June 2014 to 30 June 2015 pursuant to
board authorizations has issued new shares in the Company representing more than 10% of the Company’s
share capital.
The Placement Shares were approved for issue by unanimous decision by the Board of Directors at a meeting
held on 26 June 2014 pursuant to the authorization granted by the Company's annual general meeting.
5.3
Process
The Private Placement was announced through a stock exchange announcement after close of Oslo Børs on 26
June 2014. As stated in the announcement, the Private Placement was directed towards Norwegian and
international professional investors, from, amongst others, the United States, the United Kingdom, and central
Europe. Announcement of completion of the Private Placement was published on 27 June 2014 at 08:00 (CET).
Existing Shareholders were not given preferential rights to subscribe for Shares in the Company in order to be
able to complete the Private Placement at the necessary time, and the Company does not intend to conduct a
subsequent repair issue. Of the allocated Shares, 31.2% of the Shares were allocated to Norwegian investors and
68.8% to institutional investors.
The Shareholders who participated in the Private Placement received a benefit of the preferential right being
waived. However, the Company has decided that there is no need to conduct any subsequent repair issue as the
issue price in the Private Placement was set at or about market price and thus no discount was given to the
Shareholders who participated in the Private Placement, cf. the Norwegian Securities Trading Act section 5-14.
In addition, only 7.5% of the total share capital was issued in new Shares in relation to the Private Placement.
5.4
Overview and terms of the Private Placement
On 26 June 2014, the Company announced that it had resolved to issue up to 10 million new Shares through a
Private Placement.
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The Private Placement was completed on 27 June 2014 through issue of a total number of 10 million Placement
Shares, with gross proceeds of NOK 800 million (approximately MUSD 130). The subscription price applied in
the Private Placement was NOK 80 per Share, corresponding to a discount of approximately 4 % to the closing
price of the Opera Share on Oslo Børs on 26 June 2014.
The Placement Shares were registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises on 2 July 2014 and
settlement of the Private Placement took place on 2 July 2014.
The Placement Shares issued by the Private Placement become tradable on Oslo Børs under the ticker code
“OPERA”. It is expected that the first day of trading of these Placement Shares on Oslo Børs will be 12 August
2014 following approval by the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority and publication of this Prospectus.
Participants in the Private Placement were, however, able to trade their allocated Shares from 27 June 2014, as
the Company had entered into a loan agreement with certain existing Shareholders comprising a number of
Shares corresponding to the Placement Shares.
5.5
Rights attached to the Placement Shares
The Company has only one class of Shares. The rights attached to the Placement Shares are the same as those
attached to the Company’s other existing Shares. The Placement Shares rank pari passu with existing Shares in
all respects including with respect to dividends as from their date of issue, 2 July 2014. The Placement Shares
are issued in accordance with Norwegian law and are freely transferrable.
The Company’s Articles of Association provide that all Shares shall represent a right to one vote each. All of the
issued Shares of the Company, including the Placement Shares, have equal voting rights from their date of
issuance.
See section 14 “Shares and Share Capital” in this Prospectus for a further description of certain matters
pertaining to the Company’s Shares, including dividend rights, voting rights, pre-emption rights, rights to share
in profits, right to share in surplus in the event of liquidation, mandatory offer obligation, squeeze-out rules, etc,
which apply also for the Placement Shares. See section 15 “Taxation” in this Prospectus for a description of
applicable rules regarding tax, etc.
5.6
Issued share capital following issuance of the Placement Shares
Prior to the issuance of the Placement Shares, the Company's issued share capital was NOK 2,651,721.76,
divided into 132,586,088 Shares, each fully paid up and with a par value of NOK 0.02. The Placement Shares
were issued on 26 June 2014.
Following the issuance of the Placement Shares, the Company’s issued share capital is NOK 2,851,722.76
divided into 142,586,088 Shares, each fully paid up and with a par value of NOK 0.02.
5.7
Proceeds and costs
The total expenses of the Private Placement are estimated to amount to approximately NOK 28 million, of which
NOK 28 million are fees to the Joint Bookrunners. The net proceeds of the Private Placement are estimated to
amount to approximately NOK 772 million. The gross proceeds from the Private Placement amount to NOK 800
million. The net proceeds will be used to increase the Company’s capital base for current and future strategic
acquisition activities and obligations. In particular, the proceeds of the placement will provide the Company with
additional funding flexibility to meet its earn-out obligations in connection with the recent AdColony
acquisition.
The acquisition of AdColony may include a variable cash and/or stock consideration of up to $275 million tied
to ambitious 2014, 2015, and 2016 AdColony mobile video advertising revenue and Adjusted EBITDA targets.
The first $30 million of the potential 2014 variable earn-out consideration will be paid in stock (converted to a
number of Shares based on a pre-determined Opera Share price of $12.323), equivalent to up to 2.43 million
shares. Beyond this, the payment mix of cash versus stock for earn-out payments is largely at Opera's discretion,
and payments in stock will be converted based on Opera's Share price at the time of payment. Based on
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AdColony delivering the incremental revenue and Adjusted EBITDA incorporated into Opera's updated 2014
financial guidance and 2015 financial aspirations, Opera estimates about $170 million of the maximum $275
million of potential earn-out payments would be made, implying an estimated total purchase price for AdColony
of approximately $245 million.
From the acquisition of Skyfire Labs in 2013, Opera has earn-out obligations of USD 30.5m in 2014, subject to
certain revenue and EBIT targets. See section 13.9.3 of this prospectus for a more detailed description of the
earn-out obligations.
No fees or taxes were charged to the subscribers in the private placement.
5.8
Dilution
Opera had 132,586,088 Shares outstanding prior to the Private Placement. A total of 10 million Placement
Shares were issued in the Private Placement, resulting in an immediate dilution of approximately 7.5% for
existing Shareholders who did not participate in the Private Placement.
5.9
Settlement
Settlement of the Placement Shares took place on 2 July 2014. The Placement Shares have been registered at a
separate ISIN number NO 0010714629 and have not been tradable on Oslo Børs, pending release of this
Prospectus. The Placement Shares will become tradable when this Prospectus has been published, and the
Placement Shares have been registered in the VPS under the Company's ordinary ISIN expected to take place on
12 August 2014. Participants in the Private Placement have, however, been able to trade the Shares subscribed
for in the Private Placement, due to the Company having entered into a loan agreement with existing
Shareholders Arepo AS (Board member Kari Stautland) and Ferd AS covering a number of Shares
corresponding to the newly issued Shares.
The Shares are issued in ”book-entry form”. The address of the Central Securities Depository (VPS) is Fred
Olsens gate 1, 0152 Oslo.
5.10
Advisors
ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA (Munkedamsveien 45 E, P. O. Box 144, Vika, Oslo, Norway) and Morgan
Stanley & Co. International plc (25 Cabot Square, Canary Wharf, London E144QA, England) acted as Joint
Global Coordinators and Joint Bookrunners in connection with the Private Placement, and DNB Markets
(Dronning Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway), a part of DNB Bank ASA, and Goldman Sachs International
(Peterborough Court, 133 Fleet Street, London EC4A 2BB, England) acted as Joint Bookrunners.
Arntzen de Besche Advokatfirma AS (Bygdøy allé 2 P.O. Box 2734, Solli, 0204 Oslo, Norway) has acted as
Norwegian legal advisor to the Company.
5.11

Participation of major existing Shareholders and members of the Company’s management,
supervisory and administrative bodies in the Private Placement

The following major existing Shareholders participated in the Private Placement: Folketrygdfondet, DNB, and
Storebrand. No members of the management or Board of Directors participated in the placement.
5.12

Interests of natural and legal persons involved in the Private Placement

The Joint Bookrunners and their affiliates have provided from time to time, and may provide in the future,
investment banking services to the Company and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business, for which they
have received and may continue to receive customary fees, monthly retainer, and commissions, from advisory
services or subject to the success of future transactions. The Joint Bookrunners, their employees and any affiliate
may currently own Shares in the Company. The Joint Bookrunners do not intend to disclose the extent of any
such investments otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. The Joint
Bookrunners will receive a commission in connection with the Private Placement as a percent of the total
proceeds and, as such, have an interest in the Private Placement.
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As part of the Share issue as described in section 5 of this Prospectus, ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA has
entered into a share lending agreement with the Company, as further described in section 9.8 of this Prospectus.
None of the Joint Bookrunners have any material holding of Shares in the Company. However, Verdipapirfondet
DNB Norge (IV) is the 8th largest Shareholder in the Company with a 1.90715% ownership and
Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge Selektiv is the 29th largest shareholder in the company with a 0.77% ownership
prior to the placing. Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV), Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge Selektiv, and DNB
Markets are all part of DNB ASA. Through Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV)’s and Verdipapirfondet DNB
Norge Selektiv’s ownership, DNB Markets, as a Joint Bookrunner, has an indirect interest in the Company
Except for the above, there are no natural or legal persons involved in the Private Placement having any interest,
including conflicting ones, in the Private Placement that is material to the Private Placement.
5.13

Publication of information relating to the Private Placement

In addition to press releases, which will be posted on the Company’s website, the Company will use the Oslo
Børs information system to publish information relating to the Private Placement and the Listing.
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6

NOTICE AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

6.1
Notice to prospective investors
No person has been authorized to give any information or make any representations other than those contained in
this Prospectus, and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having
been authorized. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
securities. Neither the delivery of this document nor any sale made under this document shall, in any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Company since the date
hereof and that the information contained in this document is correct as of any time subsequent to the date of this
document.
Financial information included in the document has been derived from financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU. Prospective
investors should review the accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements and consult
their own accounting experts in order to understand how such differences may be relevant to their review of the
Company’s financial statements.
6.2
Transfer restrictions – United States
The Shares have not been registered, and there are no plans to effect a registration, under the U.S. Securities Act
and may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction
not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. The
Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3), and no representation is made as to the
availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144 for resales of any Shares, as the case may be.
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7

PRESENTATION OF THE COMPANY

7.1
General
Opera is a public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway, with corporate registration
number 974 529 459. The Company's legal and commercial name is Opera Software ASA. The Company is
governed by the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Company was founded on 22 June 1995 as a
Norwegian private limited liability company and converted to a public company in June 2001.
The Company’s registered address is:
Opera Software ASA
Gjerdrums vei 19
N-0484 OSLO, Norway
Telephone: +47 2369 2400
Website: www.opera.com
The Company has been listed on Oslo Børs since 11 March 2004 under the ticker code “OPERA”. According to
section 3 of the Articles of Association, the purpose of Opera’s business is to develop, produce, and sell software
and associated services and all activities related hereto, including participation in other companies and other
activities with similar purposes. Opera has redefined web browsing for PCs, mobile phones, and other networked
devices. Opera's cross-platform web browser technology is renowned for its small size, performance and
standards-compliance, while giving users a faster, safer, and more dynamic online experience. A further
description of the business is included in section 7.4 of this Prospectus.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the Company subsidiaries Hern Labs AB, Opera
Distribution AS, Netview Technology AS and Opera Software International AS (which, in turn, includes the
subsidiaries Opera Software Korea Ltd, Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd, Opera Software Poland
Sp. z o.o, Opera Software Singapore PTE. LTD., AdMarvel, Inc., LLC Opera Software (Russia), LLC Opera
Software Ukraine, Opera Software Iceland ehf, Opera Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd, Handster, Inc., Mobile
Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising Ltd, 4th Screen Advertising Holdings Ltd, Skyfire Labs, Inc., Opera
Software International US, Inc., Opera Mediaworks, LLC., Opera Mediawork Performance, LLC, OMWMSG,
LLC, Opera Holdings Ireland Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ireland Limited, Opera Software Ireland Limited,
Opera Mediaworks Ad Exchange, Inc., Opera Software Netherland BV, Opera Software Americas, LLC., Opera
Commerce, LLC., and the limited company Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co., Ltd. (of which
Opera had full control), together referred to as the “Group”.
7.2
Legal structure
Below is the legal structure of the Group as per the date of the Prospectus. Opera is the parent company of the
Group and the shares of the subsidiaries as illustrated below. All subsidiaries are 100% owned.

27

The address and country of residence of the legal entities in the Group is set out below:
Opera Software ASA, Gjerdrums vei 19, 0484 Oslo, Norway
Opera Software International AS, Gjerdrums vei 19, 0484 Oslo, Norway
Opera Distribution AS, Gjerdrums vei 19, 0484 Oslo, Norway
Netview Technology AS, Gjerdrums vei 19, 0484 Oslo, Norway
Hern Labs AB, Sankt Larsgatan 12, 582-24, Linkoping, Sweden
Opera Software Poland sp. z o.o., Al. Szewska 8, 3p, 50-122, Wroclaw, Poland
4th Screen Advertising Holdings Limited, 5th Floor, the Tower Building, 11 York Road, SE1 7NX London,
United Kingdom
Opera Software Korea Ltd, K11F, POSCO Center Bldg., West Tower,Daechi-dong,440 Teheran-ro, Gangnamgu, Seoul, 135-777, Korea
Opera Software India Private Limited, 104, Maple Tower, Bollywood Heights, Peer Mushalla, Zirakpur 140603, Punjab, India
Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., Rm.0933 Tower C, Chaowai SOHO, #6 Chaowai Street, Chao
Yang District, 100020, Beijing, China
LLC Opera Software, Primorsky pr., 54/1 A, 197374 St. Petersburg, Russia
AdMarvel, Inc., 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Opera Software Iceland ehf., Skogarhlio 12, 105 Reykjavik, Iceland
Handster, Inc., 601 Skokie Blvd, Suite 105, Northbrook, IL 60062, United States
LLC Opera Software Ukraina, 33a Admiralskiy Ave., city of Odessa, 65010 Ukraine, Ukraine
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4th Screen Advertising Limited, 5th Floor, the Tower Building, 11 York Road, SE1 7NX London, United
Kingdom
Mobile Theory Inc., 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co.,Ltd., Rm.0932 Tower C, Chaowai SOHO,#6 Chaowai Street,
Chao Yang District, 100020, Beijing, China
Opera Software Singapore pte. ltd, 6 Raffles quay, #10-05/06, Singapore (048580), Singapore
Opera Software International US, Inc., 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Opera Mediaworks, LLC, 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Opera Commerce, LLC, 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Opera Software Americas, LLC, 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Skyfire Labs, Inc., 779 Easi Evelyn Avenue, Suite 200, 94041 Mountain View, CA, United States
Opera Software Netherlands BV, Hector Malotweg 37, 3446 ZS, Woerden, the Netherlands
Opera Mediaworks Performance, LLC, 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
OMWMSG, LLC 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Opera Mediaworks Ad Exchange, Inc, 1875 South Grant, Suite 800, San Mateo, CA 94402, United States
Opera Software Holdings Ireland Limited, Property Suit 106, Fitzwilliam Business Centre, 77 Sir John
Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland
Opera Mediaworks Ireland Limited, Property Suit 106, Fitzwilliam Business Centre, 77 Sir John Rogerson's
Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland
Opera Software Ireland Limited Property, Suit 106, Fitzwilliam Business Centre, 77 Sir John Rogerson's Quay,
Dublin 2, Ireland
Huntmads SA, Arcos 2215, 7th floor, city of Buenos Aires, Argentina
Floriades Park SA, Calle 18 de Julio 878, 12th floor corner 1204 Street, Montevideo, Republic of Uruguay
Hunt Mobile Ads SA de CV, Navarra 210, extension number 1102, city of Benito Juarez, Distrito Federal,
Mexico
Hunt Mobile Ads aplicativos para internet Ltda, R Barao de Santa Eulalia 300, ap 61 - Real Parque, city of Sao
Paulo, Brazil
Hunt Mobile Ads Panama Corp., Edificio Capital Plaza, 8th floor, Roberto Motta Avenue and Costa del Este,
city of Panama, Panama
Apprupt, GroBe ReichenstraBe 27, 20457, Hamburg, Germany

Branch Offices:
Opera Software International AS, Japan branch, ORIX Meguro bldg. 9F - 10F, 1-24-12 Meguro, Meguro-ku.
Tokyo 153-0063. Japan
Opera Software International AS Oddzial w Polsce, ul. Szewska 8, 3p, 50-122, Wroclaw, Poland
Opera Software International AS, Beijing Representative Office, Rm.0935 Tower C, Chaowai SOHO,#6
Chaowai Street, Chao Yang District, 100020, Beijing, China
Opera Software International AS, Taiwan Branch Office, Norway, 3F, No. 423 Juikuang Road, Tapei, Taiwan
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7.3

Description of the Group

7.3.1
Main activities of the companies of the Group
Browser business
Opera Software ASA is responsible for all development of products and services provided to customers and
bears any commercial and other risk connected to such products and their marketing, but requires certain
services in relation to such development that shall be provided by the overseas branches/subsidiaries. The
following companies of the Group perform R&D services, basic technical engineering services, marketing
support, hosting services, and/or customer liaison services of for the ultimate parent Company;


















Opera Software International AS
Hern Labs AB
Opera Software Korea Ltd
Opera Software Netherlands, BV
Opera Software LLC (Russia)
Opera Software India Private Limited
Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o, Poland
Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Lt, China
Opera Software Iceland ehf
Opera Software Ukraine LLC
Opera Software Singapore PTE Ltd.
Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co., Ltd, China
Opera Software Americas, LLC (USA)
Opera Software International AS, Oddzial w Posce, Poland, branch office
Opera Software International AS, Bejing, China, Representative office
Opera Software International AS, Japan, branch office
Opera Software International AS, Taiwan branch office

Mobile operators
Opera Software Ireland Limited is responsible for all development of “Skyfire” products and services provided
to customers and bears any commercial and other risk connected to such products and their marketing, but
requires certain services in relation to such development that shall be provided by Skyfire Labs, Inc.
Mobile advertising
The following Group companies perform services in connection with mobile advertising;
Opera Software MediaWorks, LLC (USA) and all its subsidiaries (including, inter alia, AdMarvel Inc., USA,
Mobile Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising Ltd., UK), Opera Software Commerce LLC, Opera Mediaworks
Ireland Limited and their subsidiaries.

7.3.2
Main subsidiaries
Below are brief descriptions of the main subsidiaries in the Group.
Hern Labs AB
Hern Labs AB is a privately held company incorporated in and existing under the laws of Sweden, with business
identification number 556556-8770. The company is wholly owned by Opera. The company is located in
Linköping, Sweden. The company performs R&D services, basic technical engineering services and marketing
support and customer liaison services for the ultimate parent, Opera. Its primary focus is on developing crossplatform solutions, thereby helping software manufacturers expand their base of potential customers by reaching
new markets.
Opera Software International AS
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Opera Software International AS is a limited liability company incorporated in and existing under the laws of
Norway, with company registration number 887 726 752. The company is wholly owned by Opera. The
company was established on 5 January 2005 and is located in Oslo, Norway. Opera Software International AS is
an intermediate holding company, which owns a number of the foreign subsidiaries and branches in the Group.
The company is purely acquired by Opera for the purpose of being engaged in the provision of certain auxiliary
and preparatory services for Opera. The total average number of employees for 2013 was 0.
Opera Mediaworks, LLC
Opera Mediaworks, LLC is a limited liability company incorporated and existing under laws of the U.S. The
company was established in January 2013. The company is wholly owned by Opera. Opera Mediaworks, LLC is
an intermediate holding company, which owns a number of the subsidiaries in the U.S. The company owns, inter
alia, the brand-focused premium advertising networks, like Mobile Theory (USA) and 4 th Screen Advertising
(U.K.). Opera has made significant investments in innovation to expand its service portfolio, delivering new
capabilities for rich-media and video ad units, targeting and audience segmentation, and performance-oriented
tools to serve advertisers around the world.
Opera Software Holdings Ireland Limited
Opera Software Holdings Ireland Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and existing under laws of
Ireland. The company was established in December 2013. The company is wholly owned by Opera. Opera
Mediaworks Ireland is an intermediate holding company, which owns a number of the Group subsidiaries in
Ireland, including Opera Mediaworks Ireland Limited, which performs mobile advertising and Opera Software
Ireland Limited, which is the beneficial owner of the all the Skyfire intangible property. Skyfire’s innovative,
next-generation carrier cloud approach to mobile video and data optimization provides wireless operators with
huge cost savings, elastic capacity, and the ability to surgically enhance quality of experience on a per-stream
level. Skyfire also introduced the first mobile browser extension platform to enable robust contextual & social
browsing, as well as enhanced monetization opportunities for operators. Skyfire’s unique video compression
technology and cloud solutions have given the Group a further edge in the operator business by helping it expand
its product portfolio via such products as the Rocket Optimizer™ solution, the Horizon™ toolbar, and Opera
Max app.
7.3.3
Other shareholdings
In August 2011, nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd was co-founded by Opera and Telling Telecom.
nHorizon is committed to developing and marketing the Oupeng mobile browser, providing users with a simple,
fast, and smooth mobile internet experience and to helping people enjoy a comfortable mobile internet life. For
more information, please visit www.oupeng.com. The focus of the company is on the massive consumer mobile
internet market and revenue opportunity in China. Opera China will continue to target the operator, mobile
OEM, device OEM, and desktop markets independent from the company. As of 31 December, 2013, Opera
owned 29.09% of nHorizon Innovation.
Opera owns 20% of the European Center for Information and Communication Technologies — EICT GmbH.
The booked value of the share is USD 0.1. The market value of the company is unknown. The EICT is a
public/private partnership of scientific institutions, institutes of applied research and leading industrial companies. The strategic innovation-partnership pools and specifically links research and development activities in
industry and science to information and communication technologies. For more information about EICT, please
see the website at www.eict.de.
7.4
Business description
Opera’s cloud-based consumer products and services enable more than 350 million internet users to discover and
connect with the content and services that matter most to them, no matter the device, network or location. In
turn, these products and services help advertisers to reach the audiences that build value for their businesses and
publishers to monetize their content and services. Opera also delivers products and services to more than 130
operators around the world, enabling them to provide a faster, more economical and better network experience to
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their subscribers. Opera also helps publishers monetize their content through advertising and advertisers reach
the audiences that build value for their businesses, capitalizing on a global consumer audience reach that exceeds
400 million. By the end of 2013, Opera had more than 350 million active monthly users of the consumer
products worldwide, with Opera powering the internet on mobile phones, gaming consoles, internet-connected
TVs, set-top boxes, tablets, netbooks, desktop computers, and laptops. Moreover, Opera’s mobile active monthly
users with operators exceeded 100 million, meaning that the Company and its operator customers, key
monetization partners and marketing partners, jointly delivered services to nearly 40% of the Company’s 270
million mobile consumer base.
In addition, Opera, via the mobile publisher and advertiser business, reached major milestones in 2013. By the
end of 2013, the reach of Opera’s mobile audience via the publisher partners exceeded 400 million and more
than 14,000 mobile applications and websites were powered by Opera’s advertising technology platform, with
60 billion ad impressions managed by the platform on a monthly basis by year-end.
Opera has one revenue line, but Opera also provides an overview of revenue by customer type: (i) mobile
operators (such as MTN, Telkomsel and Vodafone), (ii) mobile consumers (via partnerships with search
providers and advertisers), iii) mobile publishers and advertisers (opera publisher partner network, which
includes partners such as Pandora Media, American Express and Home Depot), (iv) device OEMs (such as Sony
and Samsung), and (v) desktop consumers (primarily from search, advertising and e-commerce partnerships,
including those with Google, Yandex, and Amazon). The customer types and its most important factors for
continued business are further described below.
Mobile operators
Opera is a trusted partner for operators globally. The Company currently offers four major cloud-based solutions
and services to operators worldwide: (i) operator/co-branded versions of Opera mini, whereby operators are able
to offer their mass-market subscribers content compression, fast internet download speeds, convenient access to
operator portal services in order to drive incremental revenue, and lower-priced data plans and data packages,
capitalizing on the up to 90% data compression that Opera’s cloud services enable 1; (ii) the Rocket Optimizer™
solution, which allows mobile operators to leverage cloud computing to optimize and compress video and other
multimedia traffic on crowded mobile towers, including 3G and 4G LTE networks, enabling operators to both
boost the capacity of their networks by up to 60% and offer better network performance and quality to their
subscribers2; (iii) the Horizon™ solution, a mobile browser extension and toolbar platform that allows users to
personalize their smartphone browser and operators to gain new monetization opportunities, such as advertising;
and (iv) Opera Web Pass, which allows users to easily buy time-based or content-based mobile data packages
through a simple, one-click purchase, similar to how users buy apps today, enabling operators to both offer a
broad array of personalized data package alternatives for their subscribers and increase average revenue
generated per subscriber. The most important drives for the mobile operators are increased number of global
mobile subscribers and continued focus on data services and data delivery by operators.
Mobile consumers (Opera-owned-and-operated properties)
Today, 270 million unique users worldwide browse the web with an Opera mobile browser. From low-end basic
phones to Android smartphones and high-end tablets, Opera works on more than 3,000 phones. 3 Opera is placing
a significant emphasis on developing and expanding its owned-and-operated properties and capitalizing on its
extensive mobile consumer user base. These owned-and-operated properties include the Speed Dial page, the
Smart Page, the Opera Mobile Store, and the Discover feature. These Opera-owned-and-operated properties are
expected to be monetized primarily via mobile advertising, mobile search, and mobile applications. The most
important drivers for these mobile consumers are continued growth of mobile subscribers, with a positive impact
from adoption of smartphones and advertisers that follow the audience to the mobile device
1

http://blogs.wsj.com/personal-technology/2014/06/24/opera-mini-8-for-ios-helps-prevent-data-hogging/ and
http://www.pcmag.com/article2/0,2817,2383389,00.asp (June 2014)
2
http://www.skyfire.com/rocket-optimizer (June 2014) and Opera ASA annual report 2013 (June 2014)
3
http://www.opera.com/about and Opera ASA annual report 2013 (June 2014)
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Mobile publishers and advertisers (Opera network members)
Opera’s goal is to power the mobile advertising ecosystem through innovative and differentiated mobile
advertising services and technology solutions, targeting premium and performance advertisers, ad agencies,
publishers, and developers. Opera’s ultimate mission is both to help publishers increase revenue from their
mobile properties and content and advertisers reach and acquire potential customers. Opera, with the AdMarvel
SDK, the industry’s leading third-party mediation hub, provides the ability for publishers to deliver mobile
advertising from media they sell directly or via ad campaigns acquired through more than 140 mobile-focused ad
networks and DSPs around the world 4. This includes Opera’s own premium and performance ad networks.
Opera reaches over 400 million unique mobile consumers a month via its third-party publisher network and
manages over 65 billion ad impressions a month, across more than 14,000 mobile sites and applications. The
most important drivers for these customers are continued growth in mobile advertising as audiences grow and
time spent on mobile increases.
Desktop consumers
Since the first public release in 1995, Opera has continuously delivered browser innovation to desktop PCs.
Opera’s desktop browser provides its users with a safe, efficient and enjoyable browsing experience. Today, the
vast majority of Opera’s desktop users are in the Russia/CIS region and in the emerging markets. Opera is
particularly focused on gaining users in regions where it already has a strong base of users, such as Russia. The
most important drivers for these customers are development and penetration of PCs in the world and time spent
on PCs.
Global device Original Equipment Manufacturers (device OEMs)
With the Opera devices Software Developer Kit (SDK), device manufacturers are able to offer not only web
browsing capabilities and full internet access to their operator and consumer end customers, but also customized
web applications that are accessible from the home screen of the device. Moreover, with the Opera devices SDK,
device manufacturers are able to use their own (and third-party) developers to enable full web browsing, create
user interfaces, widgets and menu systems using web technologies, such as HTML5 and CSS, HbbTV and OIPF,
while accelerating time to market for new consumer electronic devices. The most important drivers for these
customers are proliferation of smart TVs and other connected devices.
Opera has 5 main revenue types;
Licenses/royalties: Licenses/royalties are payments made by device OEMs, for example, in order to have the
right to ship Opera technology on their devices.
Development fees: Development fees are paid for engineering hours typically charged on a per-hour basis for
doing custom development work for Opera’s customers.
Maintenance, support, and hosting fees: Maintenance, support, and hosting fees are paid by customers in order to
maintain, support and host Opera products for its customers.
Search: Opera integrates and distributes search services from such companies as Google and Yandex and
revenue is generated based on its consumers conducting searches within the Opera search boxes embedded in its
browser products.
Advertising: Opera generates revenue when the agreed advertising services are delivered, such as when an
advertising impression is delivered within publisher content and is viewed by a consumer.
The key financial results for all these 5 revenue types are included in section 10.4 of this Prospectus.
Opera is continuously launching new products and services in addition to updating and upgrading the existing
portfolio of products. Opera does not view the success of any unlaunched product as key to its ability to reach its

4

http://blog.ormma.org/2011/07/admarvel-collaborates-with-ormma-to.html (June 2014)
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financial targets. Opera prepares all products and services in-house and all sales takes place to the customers
directly.
7.5
History and important events
In June 1995, the founders of Opera, Jon S. von Tetzchner and Geir Ivarsøy, acquired the rights to the browser
solution and founded Opera. During 1995, Opera’s primary focus was on making the smallest and fastest
browser with the best user experience for Windows PCs. In September 1996, the first version Opera was made
available on the internet.
In 1998, Opera started focusing on the new emerging market for handheld internet devices. By virtue of offering
the smallest and fastest browser on Windows, Opera gained considerable competitive advantages in the new and
fast growing market for internet devices. Opera made a strategic decision to start development of the browser on
several new platforms. From the end of 1999, Opera started to grow substantially. An increased focus on sales
and marketing, and the growing need for more developers, led to an increase in staff from 25 by the end of 1999,
to over 100 one year later.
In 2000, Opera had several commercial breakthroughs, signing strategic agreements with Ericsson Mobile
Communications, Psion (the groundwork for later cooperation with Symbian), and others.
The expansion was not limited to the new internet device markets, with Opera changing the business model for
its desktop browser from a shareware model to an ad-sponsored model. From the release of Opera version 5.0 for
desktops in December 2000, users could download an ad-version of the Opera browser for free or chose to pay
for a version without advertising. More than 6 million users downloaded and installed the Opera browser during
the next 12 months.
On 14 December 2000, Opera acquired Hern Labs AB, a software development company located in Linköping,
Sweden.
In Q2 2003, Opera launched the technology concept, “the Opera Platform” which is a solution directed towards
mobile operators. With the Opera Platform, the browser became the main start-up screen, integrating the internet
with the device’s local applications, like the calendar, SMS, and email. Using the Opera Platform, Opera’s openstandards browser technology positioned itself to become a key technology component on any device.
In March 2004, the Company was listed on Oslo Børs. The same year, between 1-2 million people a month
downloaded and installed the Opera browser on their PCs, and Opera’s partners included IBM, Nokia, Motorola,
Macromedia, Adobe, Symbian, Canal+ Technologies, Sony Ericsson, Kyocera, Sharp, Metroworks, MontaVista
Software, BenQ, and Sendo.
In March 2005, Opera announced that it would continue its cooperation with Nokia Corporation by signing a
contract that allowed Nokia to include the Opera’s mobile internet browser, in addition to the standard, Nokiadeveloped browsers, on models launched in 2005.
In January 2006, Opera launched Opera mini, the web browser that runs on almost every mobile phone,
including low- and mid-end handsets.
On March 2006, Opera announced that it had completed a directed Share issue of NOK 211.2 million.
In January 2007, Opera and Yahoo! announced a new strategic partnership for which Opera has named Yahoo!
as the exclusive provider of mobile search on its millions of web browsers for mobile phones, Opera mini and
Opera mobile, across more than 100 countries worldwide.
In July 2007, Opera entered into an agreement with a leading telecommunications provider to, for the first time,
make its Opera mini mobile web browser available on BREW-based handsets.
During 2007, 2008 and 2009, Opera entered into several agreements in relation to handset featuring the Opera
mobile browser.
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In February 2009, Opera announced that it had signed a global frame agreement with Vodafone Group. In this
global agreement, Vodafone Group subsidiaries were able to offer Opera Widgets, Opera mini and Opera Turbo
to its subscribers.
In May 2009, Opera signed an agreement with SK Telecom, the leading mobile operator in Korea. Under the
terms of the agreement, SK Telecom were to deploy a customized version of the Opera mini mobile browser.
In June 2009, Opera signed an agreement with Motricity to deliver Opera mini to a leading North American
mobile operator.
In July 2009, Opera signed an agreement with Thomson, a leading set-top-box solutions provider. Under the
terms of the agreement, the customer were to deploy the Opera devices SDK on its product platforms.
In November 2009, Opera entered into an agreement with a leading semiconductor company, to deliver the
Opera devices SDK, Opera mobile, Opera mini, Opera turbo and Opera widgets to the customer.
In November 2009, Opera and Google Inc. renewed their current agreement to integrate Google as the default
search partner for the Opera desktop browser.
In December 2009, Opera signed an agreement with a partner to license a solution based on Opera Widgets and
to license the Opera Widgets SDK to a leading telecom operator. The agreement covers deployment in multiple
countries.
On January 19, 2010, Opera Software International AS announced the purchase of 100% of the shares and voting
interest of the privately held company AdMarvel, Inc.
In August 2010, Opera entered into an agreement with Sharp Corporation, a Japanese multinational corporation
that designs and manufactures electronic products for delivery of the Opera devices SDK to Sharp.
In August 2010, Opera entered into a frame agreement with Telenor, a global mobile operator, to offer Opera
mini to its subscribers over the air and/or pre-embedded on target devices.
In February 2011, Opera entered into an agreement with Qualcomm, a semiconductor manufacturer. Under the
terms of the agreement, Opera mini as to be preinstalled on the manufacturer's chipsets as part of one of the
manufacturer's operating system offerings to be shipped to customers including OEMs and Original Device
Manufacturers (ODMs).
On 7 March 2011, Opera announced that it had signed an agreement with Appia, Inc., to provide a white-label
content and commerce platform across the installed base of Opera mobile and Opera mini. The duration of the
contract is three years and includes a revenue share agreement.
In August 2011, nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd was co-founded by Opera and Telling Telecom.
nHorizon is committed to developing and marketing the Oupeng mobile browser, see further information in
section 7.4 above.
On 16 February, 2012, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the
privately-held company Mobile Theory, Inc. Mobile Theory (www.mobiletheory.com) is a leading premium
mobile advertising network based in San Francisco, California, USA, with offices in New York, Chicago, Los
Angeles, and Seattle. The company is focused on the fast-growing U.S. mobile advertising market.
On 16 February, 2012, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the
privately-held company 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. 4th Screen Advertising Ltd. (www.4th-screen.com) is a
leading premium mobile-advertising network in the United Kingdom. The company is focused on the fast
growing mobile-advertising market in the United Kingdom.
In September 2012, Opera entered into an agreement with Yandex, a major software company, pursuant to which
the customer was to license and integrate Opera's technology into Yandex’s product.
In 2013, Opera launched Opera Coast, a radical redesign of browsing on Apple’s iPad. The newest addition to
the Opera browser family, Opera Coast opts for gesture-based controls and full-canvas browsing.

35

In 2013, Opera completed an offering of 8,000,000 new Shares, equal to 6.48% of the existing share capital of
the Company. The offering was comprised of a private placement to institutional investors in Norway and
internationally. The over-subscribed offering was completed at a subscription price of NOK 68.50 per Share,
which was determined through an accelerated book-building process. Gross proceeds from the offering
amounted to MNOK 548 (approximately MUSD 90). The net proceeds, of approximately MUSD 7.2, will be
used to increase the Company s capital base for current and future strategic acquisition activities and obligations.
On 14 March, 2013, Opera acquired 100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held company
Skyfire Labs, Inc., a leader in mobile video optimization and cloud solutions for mobility. Opera believes
Skyfire adds capabilities to its portfolio around video, app optimization, smartphones, and tablets, as well as
strength in North America, and it was excited to expand Opera’s solutions for operators.
In June 2013, Opera Software announced a 3-year Global Frame Agreement with Telenor, a major international
mobile operator, whereby Skyfire’s Rocket Optimizer video and media optimization solution was selected as the
lead supplier across Telenor’s mobile networks for all countries in which it operates.
Certain of the main events in the Group’s history can be summarized as follows:
Year

Significant events


The founders began developing a new internet browser software, naming it
“Opera”.

1995



The Company was founded.

1996



The first version of Opera was made available on the internet.



Commercial breakthroughs, signing strategic agreements with Ericsson
Mobile Communications, Psion.

2004



Listed on Oslo Børs in March

2005



Announced continuation of cooperation with Nokia Corporation



Launched Opera mini



Completed a directed Share issue of NOK 211.2 million

2007



Entered into strategic partnership with Yahoo!

2009



Signed Global Frame Agreement with Vodafone Group



Entered into frame agreement with Telenor



Co-founded nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd.



Acquired AdMarvel Inc.



Sold Opera Software Poland Sp. z.o.o. to Opera Software International AS



Opera Software International AS acquired Mobile Theory, Inc. and 4th
Screen Advertising Ltd



Acquired Skyfire Labs, Inc.



Completed private placement




Acquired AdColony
Completed private placement

1994

2000

2006

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

7.6
Employees
As of 31 March 2014, the Company had 1154 employees (i.e., full-time equivalents).
The table below illustrates the number of employees (i.e., full-time equivalents) at year-end over the last three
financial years.

Number of employees (year end)

2011
777

See section 9.5 for further information on employees.
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2012
931

2013
1039

7.7
Research and development policies
Opera’s revenue relies on expanding its user base and customer base by developing and marketing products that
are more attractive than its competitors’ products. If the attractiveness of its products does not continuously
improve and evolve to keep pace with the industry, it will have challenges retaining its current user base and
gaining new customers. Opera’s competitors are constantly improving their products and associated services. In
order to stay competitive, Opera has to invest significant resources in research and development. Investing
significantly in R&D is, however, no guarantee that consumers and customers will, in fact, find its products to be
attractive enough to begin or continue using them, as it is impossible to accurately predict the behavior of its
consumer and business customers. See section 11.1 of this Prospectus for research and development costs
incurred in the period covered by the historic financial information.
7.8
Patents and licenses
Opera has patents in several jurisdictions, including but not limited to USA and Norway; however, in the opinion
of Opera, such patents are not material to the Group and its business.
For dependence on patents and licenses, reference is made to section 7.12 “Dependence on patents, contracts and
licenses” of this Prospectus.
7.9
Property, plants, and equipment
The Group leases its offices and other premises from several parties in the following countries/cities;
Oslo, Norway,
Götenborg, Linköping and Stockholm, Sweden,
Warsaw and Wroclaw, Poland,
London, United Kingdom
Seoul, South-Korea
Gurgaon, India
Beijing, China
St. Petersburg, Russia
Chicago, Los Angeles, Mountain View, San Mateo, New York, Northbrook, San Francisco United States,
City of Odessa, Ukraine
Singapore
Dublin, Ireland
City of Buenos Aires, Argentina
Düsseldorf and Hamburg, Germany
Tokyo, Japan
Taipei, Taiwan
The Group’s leasing of offices consists in total of 22,677 square meters at an annual rent in total of USD
8,137,595. All lease agreements are on commercial terms and satisfactory to the Group’s needs.
See section 13.9.1 for a table describing the Company’s property plant, and equipment as of 31 March 2014.
7.10
Environmental issues
In the opinion of Opera, its business and operations have no material negative impact on the environment and the
Group has no pending disputes or investigations with respect to any public environmental authority.
Dependence on patents, contract and licenses
The Group is not dependent on any existing or new patents, licenses, industrial, commercial or financial
contracts, or new manufacturing processes to conduct its business.
7.11

7.12
Material contracts
The Group is not a party to any material contract other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business.
7.13
Acquisition of AdColony
On 24 June 2014, Opera announced that it had reached a definitive agreement to acquire AdColony. The
acquisition closed on 24 July 2014. The transaction is an acquisition by Opera Software ASA of all outstanding
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stock in AdColony. The transaction is structured as a reverse triangular merger resulting in AdColony, which
will be the surviving corporation, becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Opera Software ASA. The triangular
merger is described in the following figure:
Pre-merger

Note: Jupiter Merger Corp., a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Opera Software ASA, merged with and into
Jirbo Acquisition Company, Inc. with Jirbo Acquisition Company, Inc. continuing as the surviving corporation
and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Opera Software ASA.
Post-merger

Note: Jirbo Acquisition Company, Inc. is the holding company where the stockholders (including the
optionholders) held their equity interests. Jirbo Holdings, Inc. is an intermediate holding company that was
initially put in place for structuring purposes. Jirbo, Inc. is the operating company where the business is
conducted. “AdColony” is the trading name of the operating business. Jupiter Merger Corp., a direct, whollyowned subsidiary of Opera Software ASA, was established for the purpose of the transaction and was merged
with and into Jirbo Acquisition Company, Inc. with Jirbo Acquisition Company, Inc. continuing as the surviving
corporation and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Opera Software ASA.
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AdColony is a mobile video advertising company, whose proprietary Instant-Play™ technology serves razor
sharp, full-screen video ads instantly in HD across its extensive network of iOS and Android apps, eliminating
the biggest pain points in mobile video advertising: long load times and grainy, choppy video. As a leading
mobile video advertising and monetization platform, AdColony works with both Fortune 500 brands and the
world's top grossing publishers. The company's reach, targeting, and optimization tools and services provide
advertisers with a superior way to engage mobile audiences at scale. AdColony's app developer tools and
services provide publishing partners with ways to maximize monetization while gaining insight needed to
continuously optimize content and advertising offerings. AdColony has offices in Los Angeles, San Francisco,
Seattle, Chicago, Detroit, New York, and London. To learn more about AdColony, visit www.AdColony.com.
The mobile advertising market, including Opera’s existing customers, has shown a strong appetite for high
quality mobile video advertising solutions on both the supply and demand sides of the advertising economy.
Integrating AdColony’s technology into Opera’s end-to-end mobile advertising platform will extend Opera’s
leadership position in rich media advertising, establishing it as the go-to platform for mobile video advertising.
AdColony’s demonstrated expertise in leveraging mobile video advertising for performance advertisers is
expected to further strengthen Opera’s value proposition for user acquisition/app install offerings, in a market
that is characterized by explosive growth. AdColony also brings a formidable portfolio of mobile publishers to
Opera, including many of the top grossing mobile applications on iTunes and Google Play who in turn can
benefit from the broader capabilities of Opera Mediaworks. Finally, leveraging Opera’s global footprint and
accessible inventory, the AdColony technology can be applied to a much broader global audience, at a much
faster rate than possible in a stand-alone scenario.
For advertisers, the addition of AdColony will make Opera Mediaworks the most comprehensive suite of brand
and performance-based mobile ad solutions, delivering creative, targeting, analytics, measurement,
programmatic buying, and video and rich-media offerings.
For publishers, the combination will offer the world’s largest mobile-focused ad server, along with a larger
scope of managed, self-service, and programmatic tools creating powerful ways to monetize their inventory
effectively.
Transaction and financial highlights
 Opera paid MUSD 75 in cash for AdColony at closing, plus MUSD 18.4 for the net cash on
AdColony’s balance sheet.


In addition, the deal may include additional variable cash and/or stock consideration of up to MUSD
275 (including the potential release of the already paid MUSD 25.0 in escrow to the escrow agent) tied
to ambitious 2014, 2015 and 2016 AdColony mobile video advertising revenue and Adjusted EBITDA5
targets. The first MUSD 30.0 of the potential 2014 variable earn-out consideration will be paid in stock
(converted to a number of Shares based on a pre-determined Opera Share price of USD 12.323),
equivalent to up to 2.43 million Shares. Beyond this, the payment mix of cash versus stock for earn-out
payments is largely at Opera’s discretion, and payments in stock will be converted based on Opera’s
Share price at the time of payment.



Based on AdColony delivering the incremental revenue and Adjusted EBITDA incorporated into
Opera’s updated 2014 financial guidance and 2015 financial aspirations, Opera estimates about MUSD
170 of the maximum MUSD 275 of potential earn-out payments would be made, implying an estimated
fair value (non-discounted) total purchase price for AdColony of approximately MUSD 245 (excluding
MUSD 18 of net cash on AdColony’s balance sheet at closing).

5

Adjusted EBITDA", or Non-IFRS EBITDA (for Opera) or non-USGAAP EBITDA (for AdColony), refers to EBITDA excluding stockbased compensation expenses, extraordinary/one-time costs and acquisition related costs.
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The highlights of the variable acquisition consideration portion of the transaction for the 2014, 2015,
and 2016 financial targets are as follows:
Performance
components

Total Maximum Variable
Consideration

Expected additional
payments, resulting in an
estimated MUSD 245
purchase price for
AdColony

Escrow



MUSD 25

2014 Revenue and
Adjusted EBITDA

2015 Revenue and
Adjusted EBITDA

2016 Revenue and
Adjusted EBITDA

Total variable
components

Up to MUSD 10 released based on
2014 Revenue and Adjusted
EBITDA targets
 Up to MUSD 15 released based on
2015 Revenue and Adjusted
EBITDA targets
 Up to MUSD 22.5 based on revenue
targets
 Up to MUSD 52.5 based on Adjusted
EBITDA targets
 Up to MUSD 30 based on revenue
targets
 Up to MUSD 105 based on Adjusted
EBITDA targets
 Up to MUSD7.5 based on revenue
targets
 Up to MUSD 32.5 based on Adjusted
EBITDA targets
MUSD 275

MUSD 50

MUSD 75

MUSD 20

MUSD 170



Should AdColony deliver even stronger incremental financial performance compared to what is
incorporated into Opera’s updated 2014 financial guidance and 2015 financial aspirations and Opera is
required to pay higher earn-out payments, the multiples and attractiveness of the deal will improve even
further.



ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA provided the Opera Board of Directors with a fairness opinion on the
purchase price for AdColony.



Opera was advised by Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP as U.S. counsel and Arntzen de Besche
Advokatfirma AS as Norwegian counsel.

Fair value


Opera has estimated the total earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 170.6, at the acquisition
date. Opera used a WACC of 11.5% and foreign exchange rate of 6.1897, when calculating and
booking the earnout in Opera Software ASA. Based on these assumptions and the earnout valuation
performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked a contingent consideration
of MUSD 146.9 in the financial statements. The FY 2014, 2015 and FY 2016 earnout targets are both
based on revenue and EBIT targets. The maximum possible payment for both FY 2014, 2015 and FY
2016 is MUSD 275. At the acquisition date, Opera calculated the earnout value before discounting to be
MUSD 59.9 in FY 2014, MUSD 90.0 in FY 2015, and MUSD 20.6 in FY 2016.

Financing


On 24 June 2014 Opera signed an agreement with DNB Bank ASA to increase the size of its secured
revolving credit facility originally entered into on 15 February, 2013 from MUSD100 to MUSD 200.
Due to the successful completion of the 10 million Share offering (see below) on 27 June 2014, the
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facility was automatically reduced to MUSD 150 upon the registration of the capital increase with the
Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises in beginning of July. The amended facility now in the
amount of up to MUSD 150 will primarily be secured through a share pledge in Opera Software
International AS and floating charges over accounts receivable in Opera Software ASA and certain of
its U.K. and U.S. subsidiaries. The new facility has a term of 3 years and bears an interest rate of
LIBOR + 1.75% p.a. (plus a utilization fee varying with the amount drawn). On the undrawn portion of
the facility, a commitment fee of 35% of the applicable margin will be paid. Opera Software intends to
use the financing for general corporate purposes and to fund potential earn-out payments related to the
acquisition of AdColony.


On 27 June 2014, Opera Software ASA announced the successful completion of the offering of 10
million Shares, equal to 7.5% of the existing share capital of the Company. The offering was comprised
of a private placement to institutional investors in Norway and internationally. The over-subscribed
offering was completed at an offer price of NOK 80 per Share, which was determined through an
accelerated book-building process. Gross proceeds from the offering amount to MNOK 800. The net
proceeds will be used to increase the Company’s capital base for current and future strategic acquisition
activities and obligations. In particular, the proceeds of the placement will provide the Company with
additional funding flexibility to meet its earn-out obligations in connection with the recent AdColony
acquisition. MNOK 27.5 in transaction costs has been booked against the gross proceeds.

7.14
Litigation and disputes
During the course of the preceding twelve months, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have been involved
in any legal, governmental, or arbitration proceedings which may have, or had in the recent past, significant
effects on the Company’s financial position or profitability, and the Company is not aware of any such
proceedings that are pending or threatened.
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8

MARKET OVERVIEW

The following information appearing under this section 8 of the Prospectus contains information sourced from
third parties. The Company confirms that this information has been accurately reproduced and that, as far as the
Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by such third parties, no facts have been
omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Where information sourced from
third parties has been presented, the source of such information has been identified.
8.1
General industry overview
Over the last decade, the number of internet subscribers has exploded, and the number of people with internet
access is still growing rapidly all over the world. People are also accessing the internet more frequently, from
home, at work, as well as on the go, and are connecting with an increasing number of people through social
networks, using a range of devices such as PCs, mobile phones, tablets and internet-connected TVs. The number
of internet connected devices is thus increasing rapidly, as consumers typically have multiple devices each. As a
result, the internet has become a primary channel for content creation, consumption, social engagement, and
commerce.
The number of internet users is expected to continue to increase in the years to come, and the global internet
device installed base is expected to double by 2018, to more than 9bn devices. The largest growth will be seen in
the market for smartphones and tablets, and consumers’ share of media consumption on smartphones is expected
to continue to increase.6
This has created significant opportunities for a wide range of manufacturers and providers of web browsers,
mobile and online advertising, e-commerce solutions, and online content. The market is highly fragmented with
a combination of large conglomerates and small niche players.
8.2
Customer types: Overview, growth drivers and market size
Mobile operators
As mobile operators face increasing downward pressure on average voice revenue per subscriber, and as
competition heightens, operators around the world are looking for new sources of revenue, differentiation via
data services and network performance/quality, and solutions to manage the explosion of mobile video and
multimedia data network traffic spurred by the rapid adoption of smartphones and tablets. This development is
expected to drive monthly data usage, and from 2012–2016, monthly data traffic is expected to grow by 10
times7. Mobile video is expected to be the biggest growth driver, with an estimated CAGR of 69% from 2013 to
2018.8
To capitalize on this development, operators need tools to manage traffic, analytics, and reports to always give
the user the best experience. Opera is a trusted partner for operators globally, helping companies drive more data
revenue via mobile cloud compression solutions. With the Skyfire technology, Opera experience increased
interest from internet companies and mobile manufacturers to license video technology.
Mobile consumers
During the first quarter of 2014, mobile internet usage around the world continued to grow at a rapid pace. Based
on statistics from Global Statcounter, 1.6 billion consumers accessed the internet via a full web mobile browser,
an increase of more than 60% compared to Q1 2013. In parallel with growing number of mobile consumers,
marketers and content providers are really starting to embrace the effectiveness of rich media. In a recent survey,
57% of consumers were more confident about purchases and less likely to return products after watching product
videos online. Consumers are also 27 times more likely to click through online video ads than standard banners,
6

BI Intelligence Estimates and eMarketer (June 2014)
Cisco VNI Mobile Data Traffic Forecast (June 2014) http://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/collateral/service-provider/visualnetworking-index-vni/white_paper_c11-520862.html
8
Cisco VNI Mobile Data Traffic Forecast (June 2014) http://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/collateral/service-provider/visual-networkingindex-vni/white_paper_c11-520862.html
7
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and click-through rates for video are nearly 12 times those for rich media ads 9. Today approximately 87% of
online marketers use video content in their advertising10. As rich media is more data savvy, this represents a
significant potential for Opera’s mobile browser application, as data compression reduce loading time and
associated data cost for consumers.
Mobile publishers and advertisers
The global advertising industry continues to experience a macro shift in advertising spend from traditional
offline channels, such as print, television, and radio, to online channels, with mobile taking an increasing share
of the online/internet medium. This macro shift from offline to online has been fueled by several factors, namely,
the increasing amount of time consumers spend online and on mobile devices, as well as the fact that digital
advertising compared to traditional offline advertising enables much better targeting, provides opportunities for
more user interaction and provides better measurement capabilities. Opera’s ultimate mission is to help both
publishers increase revenues from their mobile properties and content providers and advertisers reach and
acquire potential customers.
The rapid growth in mobile advertising in particular is being fuelled by a number of factors: (i) the dramatic
increase in smartphone users, with smartphone users spending significantly more time engaged with their mobile
devices than basic phone users; (ii) reach and “anytime, anywhere” access to users — there are almost 5 billion
mobile-phone users worldwide overall (compared to around 2 billion desktop users, for example) 11; (iii) strong
targeting characteristics — advertisers are able to glean meaningful amounts of aggregated information about
mobile users, such as location, demographics and behavior; (iv) high performance and user response rates from
Android and iOS smartphone devices in particular, which support highly interactive and entertaining ad formats
due to advanced display technologies, strong graphics processors, and fast processing speeds; (v) more
widespread access to high-speed wireless data networks, which enables the consumption of high quality and
rich-media and video content on mobile devices; and (vi) a rapid increase in the consumer time spent in
smartphone mobile apps in particular, as developers have been able to deliver highly intuitive, engaging, and
personalized content experiences “in app”, capitalizing on native operating system software development kits,
which facilitate the full harnessing of a mobile device’s processing capabilities and functionality.
The growing number of online users is expected to drive the global online advertising market, which is estimated
to be more than USD 100 billion in 2013, growing at 25% p.a. At the same time, the mobile internet ad spending
is expected to increase by more than 5 times, to MUSD 100 by 201812.
Device OEMs
Traditionally, television has been referred to as a “lean back” medium, where interaction is passive. Today,
television manufacturers and operators are trying to encourage consumers to become more actively engaged with
their TV sets, referred to as a “lean forward” model, by providing web apps, web browsing, and other digital
content on TVs. This has been spurred not only by the desire of the TV manufacturers and operators to
differentiate, obtain premium pricing for their product and service offerings, and generate new revenue streams,
but also by the perceived opportunity to bring many of the same services that have been deployed successfully in
the mobile phone eco-system, such as mobile web browsing and app stores, to their TV consumer customers.
This represents a large market opportunity for software providers, driving new services and revenue streams.
Desktop consumers
Today, the desktop browser is a more powerful platform than ever. This is seen most saliently with the clear
dominance of web applications within desktop-centric computing. This trend is no more pronounced than with
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IBM: http://public.dhe.ibm.com/common/ssi/ecm/en/epw14024usen/EPW14024USEN.PDF (June 2014)
IBM: http://public.dhe.ibm.com/common/ssi/ecm/en/epw14024usen/EPW14024USEN.PDF (June 2014)
11
Cisco VNI Mobile Data Traffic Forecast http://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/collateral/service-provider/visual-networking-indexvni/white_paper_c11-520862.html (June 2014)
12
http://www.idc.com/getdoc.jsp?containerId=prUS24472713 (June 2014)
10
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social networking, where Facebook, for example, has more than 800 million desktop users 13. In addition, the
rapid adoption and innovation around HTML5 is making web applications more powerful and always available.
For example, playing video without the need for third-party applications or plug-ins and using geolocation to
provide locally targeted information are some clear examples where HTML5 is making the browser and
browser-based applications much more powerful than in the past. Opera has continuously delivered browser
innovation to desktop PCs since the beginning in 1995, helping consumers discover and reach the content and
service that matter most to them. With more than 50 million active desktop users, Opera has a strong position in
the desktop browser market.
8.2.1
Competitive landscape
Opera’s competitors, including Microsoft, Google, Apple, Facebook and Mozilla, include some of the largest
technology, advertising, IT and telecommunication companies in the world, with significant financial resources
and headcount and broad distribution channels. There is also a large number of small niche players within the
different customer types. Despite of the fragmented market, the company believes it has a strong competitive
position with significant strength in research and product development. This is demonstrated through Opera’s
great user growth over the last years, with 270 million mobile users and 50 million desktop users, by end of
2013. Within the mobile consumer business, Opera mini is among the fastest services compared to competitors,
and compared to December 2012, the total user base of Opera mobile browsers grew by more than 17% 14.
For further information regarding Opera mini please see page 56 in the Company’s 2013 annual report that is
incorporated hereto by reference, see section 1 .2 “Incorporated by reference”.

13
14

Opera ASA annual report 2013 (June 2014)
http://www.pcmag.com/article2/0,2817,2383389,00.asp and Opera ASA annual report 2013 (June 2014)
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9

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, AND EMPLOYEES

9.1

Board of Directors

In accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for administering the Company’s
affairs and for ensuring that the Company’s operations are organized in a satisfactory manner. The Board shall
supervise the administration of the Company and thereunder supervise the Chief Executive Officer.
The members of the Board are elected by the general meeting of Shareholders. The Company’s Articles of
Association provide that the Board of Directors shall have no fewer than 5 members and no more than 10
members. In accordance with Norwegian law, the CEO and at least half of the members of the Board must either
be resident in Norway, or be citizens of and resident in an EU/EEA country.
The Board consists of 8 members: Sverre Munck (Chairman), André Christensen, Audun Wickstrand Iversen,
Marianne Heien Blystad, Kari Stautland, Krystian Kolondra, Erik Möller, and Christian Uribe.
The composition of the Board of Directors is in accordance with the recommendation in the Norwegian Code of
Practice for Corporate Governance dated 23 October 2012 (the "Code").
9.1.1

Board members

The names of the Board members of Opera as of the date of this Prospectus are given in the table below.
Name

Director since

Sverre Munck
Marianne Heien Blystad
Audun Wickstrand Iversen
Kari Stautland
André Christensen
Krystian Kolondra
Erik Möller
Christian Uribe

2014
2010
2008
2007
2014
2013
2013
2013

Current
term
expires
2015
2015
2015
2015
2015
2015
2015
2015

Business address

Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY

The following information provides profiles of the members of the Board as at the date of this Prospectus:
Sverre Munck
Sverre Munck is currently an independent board professional and advisor. Until the fall of 2013, Munck was for
20 years an EVP in Schibsted Media Group. Responsibilities during his time at Schibsted included being Group
CFO, managing Schibsted's free newspapers under the 20minutes brand, starting up online classifieds sites like
compraventa.com and leboncoin.fr. He was also responsible for Group strategy from 2011. Prior to joining
Schibsted, he spent two years in the beginning of his career at McKinsey & Company and Loki, an Oslo Børs
listed Investment Company. Munck holds a B.A. in Economics from the Yale University and a Ph.D. in
Economics from Stanford University.
Marianne Heien Blystad
Marianne Heien Blystad has been an Attorney-at-Law with the law firm Ro and Sommernes since 2008. Apart
from her professional legal experience from corporate banking, shipping, and offshore, she holds directorships
with Eksportfinans ASA, Sørenga Utvikling AS, Edda Utvikling AS, and Songa Shipping. Ms. Blystad holds a
Business degree from the Norwegian School of Management (Handelshøyskolen BI) and a Law degree from the
University of Oslo.
Audun Wickstrand Iversen
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Audun Wickstrand Iversen is a private investor and currently the CEO of EAM Solar ASA, a company listed on
the Oslo Axess. Over the last ten years, he has focused primarily on the telecom, IT, and alternative energy
industries. Previously, Iversen worked as a financial analyst at DnB Markets and as a portfolio manager at DnB
Asset Management, with responsibility for global telecoms and alternative energy. He holds a degree in Business
Administration from the Norwegian School of Management (BI), as well as degrees from the Norwegian School
of Economics and Business Administration (NHH) and the University of Oslo.
Kari Stautland
Kari Stautland has a background in human resources. Most recently, she was Human Resources Manager at GE
Healthcare AS — a leading global medical company. She has been working in HR for many years and has
extensive knowledge within this area. Kari holds a Master’s degree in Business and Marketing.
André Christensen
André Christensen has extensive strategic and operational experience from the media, internet, high tech
industries across Europe, North America and Asia from the last 20 years. He is currently co-owner and Chief
Operating Officer with the IPTV service provider QuickPlay Media based in San Diego/Toronto. Prior to this he
was the SVP Business Operations and Strategy at Yahoo globally after 12 years with McKinsey & Company as a
partner establishing and leading the Business Technology practice in Canada as well as the Global Operating
Model service line worldwide. He has also been a successful entrepreneur and holds a M.Sc./Dipl.Kfm. degree
from University of Mannheim.
Christian Uribe, Employee representative,
Christian Uribe joined Opera Software in 2005, bringing with him a varied and international professional and
educational background. Before taking up his role at Opera (currently, he is Director of Operator Deliveries),
Uribe ran an IT consultancy in Mexico. He holds a Law degree from the Universidad de Valparaiso in Chile.
Krystian Kolondra, Employee representative,
Krystian Kolondra is responsible for Opera’s products group. He joined Opera Software in 2006.Before taking
his current position he was Country Manager for Opera’s offices in Poland and had the role of SVP for TV
Product Development, as well as having responsibility for Opera’s desktop group. Prior to joining Opera,
Kolondra has worked in various managerial positions in Siemens and BenQ. Kolondra holds a Master’s degree
in Computer Sciences from the University of Wrocław and is a post graduate in Project Management from the
Higher School of Banking in Wrocław.
Erik Möller, Employee representative,
Erik Möller is an experienced software engineer and joined Opera Software in 2009 after having spent 14 years
in the computer games industry. Möller is currently employed as the manager for the Android Sweden team.
9.1.2

Remuneration and benefits

The compensation for the members of the Board of Directors for their service as Directors is determined on an
annual basis by the Shareholders of the Company at the annual general meetings of Shareholders. For the year
2013, the total remuneration for the Board of Directors was USD 380,000. The below table sets out the
remuneration and benefits for each of the Directors for the year 2013 (all numbers in MUSD). For further
information, please see note 3 in the Company’s 2013 annual report that is incorporated hereto by reference, see
section 18.2 “Incorporated by reference”.
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Figures in MUSD
Director

Remune
ration
0.10

Arve Johansen*
Gregory Gerard
Coleman*
Kari Stautland

Salary/Consulta
ncy fee

Bonus

Pension

Other
compensation /
Benefits in Kind

Stock
Options
0.05

0.09
0.13

0.05

Audun Wickstrand
Iversen
Marianne Heien Blystad

0.03

0.05
0.04

Christian Uribe **

0.01

0.14

Krystian Kolondra**

0.02

0.12

Erik Möller* *

0.02

0.09

0.01

0.00

0.08
0.01

* No longer members of the Board as of 3 June 2014
** Employee representatives

9.1.3

Directors’ shareholding and options

The following table sets forth information concerning direct or indirect ownership interests in the Company, as
of the date of this Prospectus, by each of the Directors.
Name
Sverre Munck
Marianne Heien Blystad
Audun Wickstrand Iversen
Kari Stautland
André Christensen
Christian Uribe*
Krystian Kolondra*
Erik Möller*

Shares
15,00015
100,00016
25,00017
8,187,12018
0
248
0
312

Options
0
30,000
17,500
30,000
0
25,000
180,000
0

* Employee representatives
9.1.4

Loans and guarantees

The Company has no outstanding loans or guarantees to any member of the Board.
9.2

Management

9.2.1

Members of the executive management

The names of the members of the executive management as of the date of this Prospectus are given in the table
below.
Name
Lars Boilesen

Position
CEO

Business address
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY

15

Indirect ownership through Libras AS
Indirect ownership through Spencer Trading Inc.
17
Indirect ownership through Naben AS
18
Indirect ownership through AREPO AS
16

47

0.04

Mahi de Silva
Rikard Gillemyr
Erik C. Harrell
Tove Selnes
Andreas Thome

EVP, Consumer Mobile
EVP, Product Development
CFO / CSO
EVP, Human Resources
EVP, Sales & Marketing

1875 South Grant Street, San Mateo, CA 94402
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY
Gjerdrums vei 19, NO-0484 OSLO, NORWAY

The following provides a profile of the members of the executive management of the Company as of the date of
this Prospectus.
Lars Boilesen
Mr. Lars Boilesen is the Chief Executive Officer at Opera, a position he has held since 2010. Mr. Boilesen has
extensive experience in the software and tech industry and has held executive positions in various corporations
prior to his joining Opera. He was Executive Vice President of Sales & Distribution at Opera from 2000 to 2005,
and served on the Board of Directors of Opera from 2007 to 2009. From 2005-2008 he was Chief Executive
Officer for the Nordic and Baltic Region at Alcatel-Lucent. Mr. Boilesen started his career in the LEGO Group
as Sales and Marketing Manager for Eastern Europe. After that, he headed the Northern Europe and Asia Pacific
markets for Tandberg Data. He has been on the board of directors of Aspiro AB since May 2009 and currently
serves as Chairman of the board of directors at Cobuilder AS. Mr. Boilesen holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Business Economics from Aarhus Business School, and postgraduate diploma from Kolding Business School.
Mahi de Silva
Mahi de Silva is responsible for Opera`s advertising and publisher business. Opera Mediaworks is the world’s
leading mobile advertising platform, helping to power the global mobile economy. Before joining Opera, Mahi
was co-founder and CEO of AdMarvel, Inc., the global leader in mobile advertising platforms, acquired by
Opera in 2010. Prior to AdMarvel, Mahi co-founded Frengo Corporation, a mobile social media platform. Mahi
also spent 10 years at VeriSign, where he was part of the startup management team. From 2002 to 2006, he
served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of Wireless and Digital Content Services at VeriSign,
where he built the world’s leading mobile messaging and mobile entertainment business with revenues
exceeding $600M per year. Prior to VeriSign, he served in various technology leadership roles at Taligent, Apple
and NCR Corporation.
Rikard Gillemyr
Rikard Gillemyr began his affiliation with Opera in 1998, when he and the other co-founders of Hern Labs in
Sweden ported Opera 3 to BeOS. Since officially joining Opera in 2000, Gillemyr has been responsible for many
of Opera’s major deliveries, including Opera on BREW and the Opera devices SDK. Gillemyr previously served
as the country manager of Opera’s offices in Poland and Korea before his appointment to Vice President of
Engineering. He was educated at the Linköping Institute of Technology, where he studied Computer Science and
Engineering until 1999.
Erik C. Harrell
As CFO/CSO, Harrell’s primary responsibilities include Opera’s global finance & accounting and financial
planning operations, corporate strategy, corporate development/mergers & acquisitions, and investor relations.
Prior to joining Opera in 2005, Harrell was CFO of the European operations for Advent Software, a NASDAQlisted software company based in San Francisco, California, USA. Harrell’s professional experience includes six
years at JP Morgan & Co. in New York, where he was Vice President of Mergers & Acquisitions, and the role of
Founder and CEO of an early-stage internet software company. Harrell has an M.B.A. with Distinction from the
Harvard Business School and holds an M.A. and B.A. (Phi Beta Kappa) from The Johns Hopkins University.
Tove Selnes
Tove Selnes joined Opera in 2007 as VP of Human Resources and has more than ten years of experience in
organizational management. Prior to working at Opera, Selnes served as Director of Human Resources at Eltel
Networks, where she was responsible for the development and implementation of the organization’s human
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resources strategy. Her professional experience also includes working at Avinor and Aetat. Selnes holds a Law
degree from the University of Oslo and is presently pursuing a Master’s of Management degree at the Norwegian
School of Management. In 1994, she was awarded an Erasmus scholarship with Bologna University in Italy,
where she studied EU and international environmental rights. She is a noted and respected authority on human
resources management.
Andreas Thome
Andreas Thome joined Opera in 2007, when he took on a role as Senior Vice President of Sales & Marketing for
the EMEA region. He currently serves as EVP for Commercials and Operations. Prior to his career with Opera,
he was a Project Director at Telecom Management Partner, where he also served as Chief Officer for the Fixed
Networks Division of Ghana Telecom in West Africa. Thome previously served a variety of roles within Alcatel.
In addition to several Commercial and Management roles at Alcatel, he was the Regional Vice President (North
Europe) for Access Networks Division, the General Manager for Fixed Networks, and the Customer Account
Director for Alcatel’s Nordic and Baltic regions. Thome has also held positions at Tandberg Data in Oslo and
Rim Invest in Singapore. Thome obtained a Master of Science degree in Project Analysis, Finance & Investment
from University of York (UK) and a Master of Science and Bachelor’s degree in Economics from University of
Oslo.
9.2.2

Executive shareholdings

As of the date of the Prospectus, the members of the executive management of Opera hold/control the following
Shares, warrants, and options in Opera:
Manager
Lars Boilesen

Position
CEO

Shares
10,000

RSUs
120,000

Options
700,000

Mahi de Silva

EVP, Consumer Mobile

20,000

115,000

43,751

Rikard Gillemyr

EVP, Product Development

360,000

10,000

662,500

Erik C. Harrell

CFO / CSO

100,700

20,000

612,500

Tove Selnes

EVP, Human Resources

9,359

20,000

157,500

Andreas Thome

EVP, Sales and Marketing

10,000

20,000

752,500

9.2.3

Remuneration and benefits

The salaries and other benefits paid to members of the executive management for the financial year ended 31
December 2013 are shown in the table below:
Figures in MUSD

Lars Boilesen

2009

0.61

0.49

0.10

Other
compensation /
benefits in kind
0.05

Mahi de Silva

2010

0.27

0.31

0.00

0.00

0.04

Rikard Gillemyr

2000

0.31

0.19

0.03

0.00

1.15

Erik C. Harrell

2005

0.40

0.36

0.04

0.09

2.61

Tove Selnes

2007

0.27

0.11

0.03

0.04

0.38

Andreas Thome

2007

0.31

0.29

0.03

0.00

1.22

Manager

Date of
joining

Salary /
Consultancy fee

Bonus

Pension

Benefit
exercised
options
5.53

Lars Boilesen has waived his rights under section 15-16 of the Norwegian 2005 Act related to employees’
protection, etc. As compensation, Mr. Boilesen is entitled to a termination amount of two years’ base salary if
the employment is terminated by the Company.
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Beside the above mentioned agreement with Mr. Boilesen, no other member of the executive management team
or Board members will receive any benefits upon termination of employment.
The Board of Directors has, in accordance with the Public Limited Liability Companies Act § 6-16a, developed
policies regarding compensation for the Executive Team. Below is a summary of the cash incentive bonus for
Executive Team members in relation to the financial year 2013. For further information please see the section
regarding “Declaration of executive compensation policies” in the Company’s annual report that is incorporated
hereto by reference, see section 18.2 “Incorporated by reference” of this Prospectus.
The Company uses a cash incentive bonus to focus the Executive Team members on, and reward the Executive
Team members for, achieving key corporate objectives, which typically involve a fiscal-year performance
period. Key drivers of cash incentive bonuses for the Executive Team are typically corporate financial and
operational performance. Cash incentive bonuses tied to strategic business objectives, which may be individual
to or shared among the Executive Team members, may also be considered as part of the cash incentive bonus.
The determination of the total bonus that can be potentially earned by an executive in a given year is based on,
among other factors, the executive’s current and expected contributions to the Company’s performance, his or
her position within the Opera Executive Team, and competitive compensation practices. Any cash incentive
bonus is capped, so no member of the Executive Team can be awarded more than 200% of his or her cash
incentive bonus.
In February 2013, the Board approved the executive compensation plan for FY 2013, applicable to all Executive
Team members, except for the EVP of Consumer Mobile, as noted below. The cash incentive bonus is divided
into two components: corporate results (as defined above) and strategic business objectives. For the corporate
results component, 50% is tied to meeting the FY 2013 revenue target for the Company and 50% to meeting the
FY 2013 reported adjusted EBITDA (including extraordinary one-time costs) target for the Company. Based on
the FY 2013 executive compensation plan, there were no interim, intra-year payments, no bonus based on
corporate results is paid or earned for attainment below 80% achievement, and the Company must meet at least
80% of the FY 2013 reported adjusted EBITDA (including extraordinary one-time costs) target component to
award any bonus associated with the FY 2013 revenue target. Provided attainment is above 80% for both the
revenues and reported adjusted EBITDA (including extraordinary one-time costs) components, the bonus is
calculated as follows: from 80%-100%, bonus percentage achievement is interpolated based on a 30% bonus at
80% achievement and a 100% bonus at 100% achievement, and from 100%+ achievement, the bonus percentage
achievement is interpolated based on a 100% bonus at 100% achievement and a 200% bonus at 110%
achievement on both revenue and reported adjusted EBITDA (including extraordinary one-time costs). Total
bonuses paid for the fiscal year for corporate results under the plan shall not exceed 200% of the bonus
opportunity for each corporate result component for any one individual. There were no interim, intra-year
payments, and no bonus is paid before a release form is signed by the executive.
To ensure a special focus on the growth plan for Opera’s advertising operations, the Board has, for 2013,
approved a separate executive cash incentive bonus structure for Opera’s EVP of Consumer Mobile. This bonus
structure is divided into two components, with 80% weight tied to revenue from Opera’s mobile publisher and
advertiser (Opera publisher partner members) business (“MP&A Bonus”) and 20% weight tied to advertising
revenue generated from Opera’s owned and operated mobile properties (“O&O Bonus”). The achievement is
based on actual FY2013 financial results. For the MP&A Bonus, 60% of the on target bonus is paid when certain
minimum revenue, EBIT, and EBIT margin targets have been reached. From 60%-100% achievement, the bonus
percentage is linearly interpolated with 100% bonus achieved when 100% of the target is reached, as long as a
certain EBIT margin is maintained; the EVP of Consumer Mobile is eligible for a nominal percentage of revenue
above the revenue target provided a certain target EBIT margin is maintained. For the O&O Bonus, 60% of the
bonus is paid when a certain minimum revenue target is reached; from 60-100% achievement, the bonus
percentage is linearly interpolated with 100% bonus achieved when 100% of the target is reached. The EVP of
Consumer Mobile is eligible for a nominal percentage of revenue above the revenue target. There were no
interim, intra-year payments, and no bonus is paid before a release form is signed by the EVP of Consumer
Mobile.
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Please see section 9.5.2 of this Prospectus for an overview of the stock option program established by the
Company for eligible employees.
9.2.4

Loans and guarantees

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Group has no outstanding loans or guarantees to any member of the
executive management.
9.3

Founders

Opera was founded in August 1995 by Geir Ivarsøy and Jon Stephenson von Tetzchner.
9.4

Directorship, partnership, and management positions

The tables below set forth the directorships, partnerships, and/or management positions (apart from any such
position of responsibility in the Company), the members of the Board of Directors and the executive
management of the Company presently hold, and have held within the last five years preceding the date of this
Prospectus. Please note that any directorships or partnerships held in any of the Company’s subsidiaries are not
included in the overview below.
Description
Board
Sverre Munck

Current

Previous five years
Schibsted ASA, Anuntis
Segundamano, 20Minutos and
GeoKnowledge

André Christensen
Krystian Kolandra
Erik Möller
Christian Uribe

Libras AS, Tamedia Ltd, Resoptima
AS, Kezzler AS, Helsetelefonen AS,
Futurum AS, AS Hedemum,
Stenerstuen Eiendom AS, Nyborg
Eiendom AS and Resoptima Olyx AS
Hermana AS, Spencer Energy AS,
Blystad Shipholding AS, JJB AS,
Agmably AS, Akb AS, Edda
Utvikling AS, Arne Blystad AS,
Norefejell Prosjektutvikling AS,
Spencer Holding AS, Haakon VII’s
gate 1 ANS, Songa Shipping AS,
Sørkedalsveien 8 AS, Sørkedalsveien
8 Holding AS, Advokatfirma
Marianne Heien Blystad AS, Grenland
House Invest AS, Eksportfinans ASA,
and Orkla ASA
Naben AS, Energeia Asset
Management AS, EAM Solar Park
Management AS and EAM Solar AS
GE Healthcare, Arepo AS and Prestlio
AS
Yahoo
N/A
Timetrap AB
N/A

Management
Lars Boilesen
Mahi de Silva
Rikard Gillemyr
Erik C. Harrell

Cobuilder AS
PreCash Inc.
N/A
Alliance Venture fund

Aspiro AB

Marianne Heien Blystad

Audun Wickstrand Iversen

Kari Stautland
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Tpot AS, Aker Philadelphia
Shipyard ASA and Sørenga
Utvikling AS

N/A

Unikum,
Marlink
Healthcare
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

and

GE

Tove Selnes
Andreas Thome
9.5

HR Norge
Cobuilder AS

NHO and Dialogpartner AS
N/A

Employees

As of 31 March 2014, the Group had 1154 employees (full-time equivalents). The table below illustrates the
development in number of employees over the last three years, as per the end of each calendar year for 2011,
2012, and 2013.
2014 (31 March)
1154

Total

2013
1039

2012
931

2011
777

The table below illustrates the development in number of employees (full-time equivalents) by geographical
area.

Oslo, Norway
Linköping, Göteborg &,
Stockholm, Sweden
San Mateo, USA
Tokyo, Japan
Beijing, China
Seoul, Korea
Taipei, Taiwan
Saint Petersburg, Russia
Odessa, Ukraine
Warsaw, Wroclaw,
Poland
Reykjavik, Iceland
Singapore
Argentina
India
Mexico
London, UK
Australia
Total
9.5.1

2014
223
102

2013
218

2012
303

2011
309,4

101

98

99,8

273
7
63
4
7
11
36
217

243
7
65
4
7
10
34

105,8
17
76
4
8
7
24,2

44
27
47
6
10
8
10

193

179,7

166,9

0
6
27
125
3
48
0
1154

1
5
0
101
0
48
0
1039

1
0
0
56,5
0
39,3
11,3
931

1
0
0
37,4
0
0
10,3
777

Employee remuneration

The table below shows the salaries for all staff in 2011-2013. For management remuneration, refer to section
9.2.3.
Year ended 31 December
Figures in MUSD
Salaries/bonuses

2013
74.9

2012
70.2

201119
57,7

Social security cost

10.4

9.4

10,5

Pension cost

2.9

2.9

2,9

Share-based remuneration, including social security cost

4.0

3.6

3,1

Other payments

9.5

6.0

3,1

19

Numbers were in NOK and are converted to USD based on the average exchange rate of Norges Bank of 2011 of 5.61.
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Consultancy fees for technical development

7.0

2.5

1,6

Total

108.6

94.7

78,9

9.5.2

Employee incentive schemes

The Company has established a stock option program for eligible employees. Each option gives the right to
subscribe for one Share in the Company. In June 2013 the strike price of non-vested options was adjusted for the
dividend of NOK 0.22 that was paid out following a resolution of the 2013 annual general meeting. Further, in
June 2014, the strike price for non-vested options was adjusted for the dividend of NOK 0.24 following a
resolution of the 2014 annual general meeting.
On 5 June 2012, the Board of Directors granted 400,000 options each to executives Erik Harrell and Andreas
Thome. Rikard Gillemyr was granted 250,000 options. In all, 200,000 of the options granted to Erik Harrell and
Andreas Thome, and 50,000 of the options granted to Rikard Gillemyr, were subject to approval from the AGM.
The vesting period started from 6 June 2012, and the options are originally booked as an option liability and are
included in total current liabilities. These options were approved by the AGM in June 2013.
The annual general meeting held on 14 June 2011, passed the following resolutions:
a)

The maximum number of options to be granted during 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 is 11,950,000. This
represents slightly less than 10% of the registered share capital of the Company. However, options
cannot be granted if the aggregate of all issued, un-exercised and not-terminated options represents
more than 10% of the then-registered share capital of the Company.
b) No employee can be granted options annually that in value exceed 200% of that employee’s base salary.
The value is to be based on valuation principles for options as applied under IFRS and in accordance
with Opera Software’s financial statements.
c) The options are to be granted in accordance with the Company’s standard option agreement as approved
by the ordinary general meeting in 2010, which means that the vesting structure is 50% after 3 years
and 50% after 4 years, with a strike price equal to the market price at grant.
d) No changes are made to the already approved standard option agreement. The proposal does not
constitute any authority for the Board to change the terms in the standard agreement, including strike
price and time of vesting, for the options that may be granted, and does not include the possibility to
grant options to Board members.
After 14 June 2011, and up to 31 December 2013, 4,548,850 options have been granted under the program.
At the annual general meeting held on 3 June 2014, the above mentioned option program was terminated and
replaced with a new incentive program consisting of Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”). Any granted and still
outstanding options under the program approved in 2011 still exist and are subject to the terms and conditions
for vesting and exercise as set out in the specific grant. The new RSU program covers a maximum of 3,000,000
RSUs over 4 years, and a maximum of 1,900,000 RSUs can be granted in any given year. Each RSU gives the
holder the right to receive one Share of capital stock of the Company against payment in cash of the par value
for the Share (currently NOK 0.02 per Share). The RSUs are time based or performance based, as further
decided by the Board. The standard vesting period is 4 years, with an initial one-year, non-vesting period and
annual vesting thereafter, unless the Board decides otherwise for specific grants. Key executives and key
employees world-wide will be eligible for grants, but no employee can receive RSUs in any financial year which
in value exceeds 200% of that employee’s annual cash compensation (unless the Board makes exemptions in
special cases). As at the date of this Prospectus, 1,882,885 RSUs have been granted under the approved program.
9.5.3

Pensions

Opera is required to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance with the Norwegian Act on Required
Occupational Pension (“lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”). The Group has incorporated the requirements
with regards to required occupational pension and has established a defined contribution plan for all employees.
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9.5.4

Statement from the Board of Directors and the executive management

No member of the Board of Directors (as of first day of Listing) or the executive management has during the last
five years preceding the date of this Prospectus had:

9.6



Any convictions in relation to indictable offences or convictions in relation to fraudulent offences;



Received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory authorities
(including designated professional bodies) or ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a member
of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the
management or conduct of the affairs of any company; or



Been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation in his/her
capacity as a founder, director or senior manager of a company.
Board practices and corporate governance compliance

A large number of Opera’s Shareholders are international investors with a different view on some of the
recommendations of the Code. Hence, some of Opera’s Directors carry stock options in the Company, as
disclosed in note 3 to the annual report of 2013. Except for the fact that the stock options shall vest over four
years (20%, 20%, 25% and 35%) the stock option program for the Directors are based on the same standard
option agreement as the stock option program for eligible employees. As set out in section 9.5.2, the option
program for employees has been replaced by a RSU program. No Directors have been or will be granted any
RSUs under the program. No options have been granted to Directors since November 2012. The granting of
options to Directors will not be excluded as a tool to enhance the interest of any particular international expert or
senior executive to join the Board. Any grant of options to Board members will, however, be subject to specific
approval by the general meeting. This deviation from the Code is described in the annual report of 2013, page
183. Besides that, the Company complies with the Code.
Opera does not have a corporate assembly, as the employees have voted, and the general meeting in 2010
approved, that the Company should not have one.
9.7

Conflicts of interest

There are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties to the issuer, of the members of the Board of
Directors or the senior management, and their private interests and or other duties. There are no family relations
between any of the members of the Board of Directors or members of senior management.
9.8

Related party transactions

Except for (i) the Group’s intra-group agreements entered into in the ordinary course and in accordance with
market terms and conditions transactions (cf. note 14 to the annual report 2011, 2012, and 2013) and (ii) the
share lending agreement as referred to below, related party transactions have not been entered into in the period
covered by the historical financial information and until the date of this Prospectus.
As part of the Share issue as described in section 5 of this Prospectus, the Company entered into a share lending
agreement with ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA and certain major Shareholders, including Arepo AS which is
controlled by board member Kari Stautland. As compensation for lending out Shares, Arepo AS will receive a
fee equal to 4% of the closing trading price, calculated daily during the term of the share lending. The share
lending agreement is entered into on standard terms and conditions.
9.9

Nomination committee

The nomination committee is a body established pursuant to the Articles of Association and shall consist of three
to five members. The members and the chairperson are elected by the general meeting. Members of the
nomination committee serve for a two-year period, but may be re-elected. The members of the nomination
committee are independent of the Board of Directors and the executive personnel. Currently, no member of the
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nomination committee is a member of the Board of Directors. Any member who is also a member of the Board
of Directors will normally not offer himself or herself for re-election to the Board.
The tasks of the nomination committee are to propose candidates for election as Shareholder-elected members of
the Board of Directors and members of the nomination committee. The nomination committee cannot propose its
own committee members as candidates for the Company’s Board of Directors. Further, the nomination
committee shall make recommendations regarding the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors.
Its recommendations will normally be explained, and information about proposed candidates will normally be
given, no later than 21 days before the general meeting. The tasks of the nomination committee are further
described in the Company’s nomination committee guidelines, as adopted by the annual general meeting held on
14 June 2011. Remuneration of the members of the nomination committee will be determined by the general
meeting. Information regarding deadlines for proposals for members to the Board of Directors and the
nomination
committee
will
be
posted
on
Opera’s
corporate
website.
Please
see
http://www.operasoftware.com/company/investors/nominations/ for further information regarding the
nomination committee.
9.10

Audit committee

The Board of Directors has further established an audit committee. According to the Code, a majority of the
members should be independent from the Company. Currently the audit committee consists of Audun
Wickstrand Iversen (Chairman), Kari Stautland, and Erik Møller. The requirements for independence are thus
met.
The audit committee’s main responsibilities include following up on and overseeing the financial reporting
process, monitoring the systems for internal control and risk management, having continuous contact with the
appointed auditor, and reviewing and monitoring the independence of the auditor. The Board of Directors
maintains responsibility and decision making in all such matters. Furthermore, the audit committee performs a
review of the quarterly and annual financial statements, which ultimately are approved by the Board of
Directors.
Every year, the auditor presents to the audit committee a report outlining the audit activities in the previous fiscal
year and highlighting the areas that caused the most attention or discussions with management, as well as a plan
for the work related to the Company’s audit.
9.11

Remuneration committee

The Board of Directors has also established a remuneration committee. According to the Code, a majority of the
members should be independent from the Company. Currently, the remuneration committee consists of
Marianne Helen Blystad (Chairman), Christian Uribe, and André Christensen. The requirements for
independence are thus met.
The remuneration committee shall act as a preparatory body for the Board of Directors with respect to (i) the
compensation of the CEO and other members of the Executive Team and (ii) Opera’s corporate governance
policies and procedures, which, in each case, are matters for which the Board of Directors maintains
responsibility and decision making.

55

10

SELECTED OPERATING AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

You should read the following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with
the financial statements included in this Prospectus.
10.1

Basis for preparation

The audited consolidated financial statements of Opera for the financial year 2013, 2012, and 2011 have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations, as approved
by the EU. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial information for the interim period ended 31 March
2014, with comparable figures for the interim period ended 31 March 2013, have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
The historical consolidated financial information included in section 10.3 “Consolidated historical financial
information” have been derived from the Opera audited consolidated financial statements for 2013, 2012, and
2011 and the unaudited consolidated financial information as at 31 March 2014, with comparable figures for the
interim period ended 31 March 2013. The consolidated financial statements for 2013, 2012, and 2011, and for
the interim period ended 31 March 2014, with comparable figures for the interim period ended 31 March 2013,
are incorporated in this Prospectus by reference, please see section 18.2 “Incorporated by Reference” in this
Prospectus for link.
10.2

Accounting principles

Please refer to note 1 to the financial statements for 2013 for full summary of Opera’s summary of significant
accounting policies. Please see section 18.2 “Incorporated by Reference” in this Prospectus for link to the
Group’s significant accounting policies.
10.3

Consolidated historical financial information

As described in section 10.1, the following tables, present data extracted from Opera’s audited consolidated
financial statements and unaudited interim financial information as at 31 March 2014, with comparable figures
for the interim period ended 31 March 2013. The tables should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements as incorporated by reference in this Prospectus (see section 18.2).
10.3.1

Income statement information

The table below sets out a summary of the Opera unaudited consolidated income statement information for the
three months ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, and the Opera audited consolidated income statement information
for the years ended 31 December 2013, 2012, and 2011.
3 months ended 31
March
(IAS 34 unaudited)
2014
2013

Figures in MUSD
Revenue
Total operating revenue

87.0
87.0

Cost of goods sold
Payroll and related expenses, excluding stock option
costs
Stock-based compensation expenses
Depreciation expenses
Other operating expenses

16.1
31.7
1.1
6.7
16.6

Total operating expenses
Results from operating activities (“EBIT”) excl.
restructuring costs
Costs for restructuring the business
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62.0
62.0

Year ended 31 December
2013

2012

2011

300.1
300.1

216.0
216.0

159.8
159.8

8.9

58.2

24.9

3.5

23.9

104.6

91.1

77.2

0.9
3.2
10.9

4.0
20.8
50.8

3.6
9.7
36.4

2.4
6.2
32.3

72.2

47.7

238.3

165.8

121.7

14.9

14.3

61.8

50.2

38.1

1.3

1.5

2.5

12.8

1.7

Results from operating activities (“EBIT”)

13.6

12.8

59.3

37.4

36.4

Other interest income/expenses, net
Interest expense related to contingent consideration
FX gains/losses related to contingent consideration, net
Other FX gains/losses, net (negative amount = losses)
Revaluation of contingent consideration
Share of the profit/loss of associates accounted for using
the equity method

0.4
(3.7)
0.9
(1.4)
(4.8)

0.0
(4.3)
(3.1)
2.7
0.2

13.9
(17.0)
(6.3)
(7.8)
28.8

3
(7.7)
1.4
(5.1)
0.2

5.6
(1.5)
0.0
(3.3)
0.6

0.0

(1.1)

(3.3)

(3.7)

(0.7)

5.1

7.3

67.5

25.6

37.1

(2.6)

(3.7)

(7.2)

(8.6)

(11.8)

Profit for the period

2.5

3.6

60.3

17.0

25.4

Foreign translation differences for foreign operations

1.0

(1.0)

(0.2)

4.4

(2.4)

Total comprehensive income for the period

3.4

2.6

60.1

21.4

22.9

Profit before income tax
Provision for taxes

10.3.2

Consolidated balance sheet

The table below sets out a summary of the Opera unaudited consolidated balance sheet information as of 31
March 2014 and 2013, and the Opera audited consolidated balance sheet information as of 31 December 2013,
2012, and 2011.
3 months ended 31
March
(IAS 34 unaudited)
2014
2013

Figures in MUSD

Year ended 31 December
2013

2012

2011

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Total intangible assets

155.2
47.5
202.6

153.9
46.7
200.6

149.5
46.6
196.2

70.3
12.5
82.8

27.2
4.7
32.0

Office machinery, equipment etc.
Total property plant and equipment

14.8
14.8

14.4
14.4

15.4
15.4

15.8
15.8

12.8
12.8

Deferred tax assets
Investments in other shares
Other investments and deposits
Total other non-current assets

22.7
0.0
7.6
30.3

0.0
0.0
1.9
1.9

23.6
0.1
4.9
28.6

3.8
2.1
3.6
9.4

0.8
1.6
2.9
5.2

247.6

216.9

240.1

108.0

49.9

Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

59.9
34.1
22.1
143.0
259.2

41.4
29.3
41.3
53.6
165.7

61.5
32.4
35.6
163.4
292.9

35.2
26.7
12.4
57.2
131.5

14.4
15.2
4.4
83.1
117.1

TOTAL ASSETS

506.8

382.6

533.0

239.5

167.0

0.4
187.9
20.0
111.2
319.5

0.4
91.6
16.9
53.2
162.0

0.4
184.2
18.9
110.4
314.0

0.4
81.9
17.0
44.4
143.8

0.4
76.2
12.4
28.5
117.5

0.0

2.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS

EQUITY
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Other equity
Total equity
LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liability
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Other long-term liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

60.1
12.7
72.8

60.2
30.9
93.6

60.1
14.8
74.9

0.0
26.1
26.1

0.0
1.7
1.7

Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable
Deferred revenue
Option liability
Other short-term liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

14.3
12.7
9.3
15.7
0.0
39.4
23.0
114.4

17.2
6.2
6.7
19.1
0.2
19.8
57.8
126.9

22.2
20.2
9.8
17.9
0.0
29.1
44.9
144.1

19.6
7.7
5.9
11.2
0.1
22.4
2.7
69.7

4.0
3.3
5.0
14.5
0.0
13.4
7.7
47.8

TOTAL LIABILITIES

187.3

220.5

219.0

95.8

49.5

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

506.8

382.6

533.0

239.5

167.0

10.3.3

Consolidated cash flow statements

The table below sets out a summary of the Opera unaudited consolidated cash flow information for the three
months ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, and the Opera audited consolidated cash flow information for the years
ended 31 December 2013, 2012, and 2011.
3 months ended 31
March
(IAS 34 unaudited)
2014
2013

Figures in MUSD
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/loss before taxes
Taxes paid
Depreciation expenses
Profit/loss from sales of property, plant, and equipment
Impairment of intangible assets
Changes in accounts receivable
Changes in accounts payable
Changes in other liabilities and receivables, net
Equity method for accounting associated companies
Share-based remuneration
Interest and FX related to contingent payment
Conversion discrepancy
Net cash flow from operating activities

Year ended 31 December
2013

2012

2011

5.1
(9.6)
6.7
(0.2)
0.0
1.3
(8.5)
9.9
0.0
1.0
7.6
1.8
15.4

7.3
(2.4)
3.2
0.0
0.0
(6.0)
(4.4)
(0.7)
1.6
0.8
7.1
(3.2)
3.4

67.5
(13.0)
20.8
(0.0)
0.0
(29.5)
(1.1)
2.9
7.3
3.4
(5.5)
(3.1)
49.5

25.6
(9.2)
9.7
0.1
3.0
(24.3)
5.4
4.9
4.6
3.6
6.0
8.1
37.6

37.1
(4.6)
6.2
0.3
0.8
2.4
(0.4)
(7.4)
0.7
2.5
0.9
(1.8)
36.7

(1.6)
(3.1)
(29.9)
(2.6)
(37.2)

(2.5)
(2.4)
(62.2)
0.0
(67.2)

(10.2)
(14.4)
(62.7)
(7.9)
(95.2)

(10.4)
(3.4)
(44.2)
(4.9)
(62.9)

(10.6)
0.0
(12.1)
(2.4)
(25.1)

1.4
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.4

1.8
58.4
0.0
0.0
60.2

97.8
58.4
(4.4)
0.0
151.9

3.4
0.0
(4.0)
0.0
(0.6)

5.9
0.0
(4.0)
(16.3)
(14.4)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents (beginning of period)

(20.4)
163.4

(3.6)
57.2

106.2
57.2

(25.9)
83.1

(2.8)
(86.0)

Cash and cash equivalents

143.0

53.6

163.4

57.2

(83.1)

Cash flow from investment activities
Capital expenditures
Investment in R&D
Acquisitions
Other investments
Net cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from Share issue and sale of Shares
(Repayment of) / Proceeds from borrowings
Dividend paid
Purchase of own Shares
Net cash flow from financing activities

10.3.4

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

The table below sets out a summary of the Opera audited changes in equity information for the years ended 31
December 2013, 2012, and 2011, and the Opera unaudited changes in equity information for the three months
ended 31 March 2014 and 2013.
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Figures in MUSD

Nbr.

Balance as of 01/01/2011
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for
the period

119.0

Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Reserve
for own
Shares

0.4

77.4

10.3

0.0

Translation
reserve
0.0

Other
equity

Total
equity

17.5
25.4

105.6
25.4
(2.4)

(2.4)
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(2.4)

25.4

22.9

(1.1)

0.0

0.0

2.5

0.0

0.0

(13.5)

(11.0)

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Balance as of 12/31/2011

117.9

0.4

77.4

12.8

0.0

(2.4)

29.4

117.5

Balance as of 01/01/2012
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for
the period

117.9

0.4

77.4

12.8

0.0

(2.4)

29.4
17.0

117.5
17.0
4.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.4

17.0

21.4

Total contribution by and
distribution to owners

1.3

0.0

0.0

4.8

0.0

0.0

0.1

4.9

Other equity changes

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Balance as of 12/31/2012

119.2

0.4

77.4

17.6

0.0

2.0

46.4

143.8

Balance as of 01/01/2013
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for
the period

119.2

0.4

77.4

17.6

0.0

2.0

46.4
60.3

143.8
60.3
(0.2)

Total contribution by and
distribution to owners
Other equity changes

Total contribution by and
distribution to owners
Other equity changes
Balance as of 12/31/2013

4.4

(0.2)
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

(0.2)

60.3

60.1

13.1

0.0

109.7

3.4

0.0

0.0

(2.9)

110.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

132.3

0.4

186.9

20.9

0.0

1.8

103.8

314.0

20.9

0.0

1.8

103.8
2.5

314.0
2.5
1.0

The table below shows the unaudited reconciliation of equity as of 31 March 2014
Balance as of 01/01/2014
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for
the period

132.3

0.4

186.9

1.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

1.0

2.5

3.4

Total contribution by and
distribution to owners

0.3

0.0

1.4

1.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2.4

Other equity changes

0.0

0.0

(0.1)

0.0

0.0

0.0

(0.1)

(0.3)

132.6

0.4

188.2

22.0

0.0

2.8

106.2

319.5

Balance as of 03/31/2014

10.3.5 Significant changes in financial trading position after 31 March 2014
Beside the proceeds from the new Shares issued in connection with the Private Placement completed in June
2014, as further described in section 5 of this Prospectus, no significant changes in the financial or trading
position of the Group have occurred since 31 March 2014.
10.4

Customer type

The Group’s business activities stem from browser related sales (i.e., revenue generated from Opera’s ownedand-operated properties, license, search, and advertising revenue) and advertising revenue generated from the
Opera advertising network business (i.e., non-Opera-owned-and-operated properties), primarily from Opera’s
AdMarvel, Mobile Theory, 4th Screen Advertising and Opera Mediaworks subsidiaries. Opera’s chief operating
decision makers are members of the Executive Team. The Executive Team meets regularly to review the
period’s assets, liabilities, revenues, and costs for the Group as a whole, as well as to make decisions about how
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resources are to be allocated based on this information. Based on the above, Opera has determined that it has one
segment. Please see note 1 to the annual accounts for a definition of products and services for each reportable
customer type.
The geographical revenue breakdown reflects revenues from external customers attributed to the entity’s country
of domicile. Consequently, the revenue breakdown reflects the location of Opera’s customers and partners.
Because the products of Opera’s customers and partners are distributed globally, the breakdown above does not
accurately reflect where Opera’s derivative products are actually used.
The breakdown of the Groups assets reflects non-current assets (other than financial instruments, deferred tax
assets, post-employment benefit assets, and rights arising under insurance contracts) located in Norway and
located in all foreign countries.

Figures in MUSD

3 months ended 31
March
(IAS 34 unaudited)
2014
2013

Year ended 31 December

2013

2012

2011

Revenue by region
EMEA
Americas
Asia Pacific
Total

38.0
41.8
7.2
87.0

24.7
30.4
6.8
62.0

104.0
166.3
29.9
300.1

78.1
107.0
31.0
216.0

47.1
71.8
40.9
159.8

31.2
2.4
2.3
12.1
38.4
0.4
0.2
0.0
87.0

20.2
2.4
2.1
14.3
22.6
0.2
0.3
0.0
62.0

84.2
7.6
7.7
55.3
142.7
1.6
1.1
0.0
300.1

67.3
10.8
6.7
62.6
63.1
4.3
1.2
0.1
216.0

68.0
12.2
7.5
52.7
14.8
2.8
1.6
0.1
159.8

18.6
n.a.
4.3
13.7
31.7
18.5
0.2
87.0

12.7
n.a.
5.4
7.5
18.4
17.5
0.6
62.0

62.1
n.a.
18.3
37.9
119.1
60.9
1.7
300.1

41.7
3.7
28.2
19.5
54.1
67.5
1.2
216.0

47.4
12.0
27.5
6.1
10.8
53.8
2.2
159.8

16.1
0.0
16.1

8.9
0.0
8.9

58.1
0.0
58.2

24.9
0.0
24.9

3.5
0.1
3.5

28.5
196.5
225.0

10.0
206.9
216.9

25.3
191.2
216.5

17.8
86.4
104.3

7.2
42.0
49.2

Revenue type
License/royalties
Development fees
Maintenance, support, and hosting
Search
Advertising
Application and content
Subscription
Other revenue
Total
Revenue by customer type
Operators
Mobile OEMs
Device OEMs
Mobile consumers
Mobile publishers and advertisers
Desktop consumers
Other
Total
Cost of goods sold
Publisher cost
License cost
Total
Non-current assets
Non-current assets located in Norway
Non-current assets located in foreign countries
Total

10.5

Key financial figures
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Q1 2014

Q1 2013

2013

2012

2011

Operating revenues (MUSD)

87.0

62.0

300.1

216.0

159.8

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (MUSD)

21.6

17.5

82.6

59.9

44.3

3.4

2.6

60.1

21.4

22.9

Book equity (end of period) (MUSD)

319.5

162.0

314.0

143.8

117.5

Earnings per Share (adjusted for split)

0.019

0.030

0.490

0.143

0.21

Diluted earnings per Share (adjusted for split)

0.018

0.029

0.479

0.140

0.21

Book equity per Share (end of period) (adjusted
for split)

2.35

1.33

2.49

1.19

0.97

Equity ratio (%) end of period

63%

42%

58.9%

60.0%

70.4%

19.1%

7.8%

19.1%

14.9%

19.5%

1,154

938

1,039

931

777

0.0

0.0

0.24

0.22

0.20

Net income (MUSD)

Annualized return on equity (%)
Number of employees
Dividend per Share (NOK)

Definitions of financial key figures:
Book equity per Share:

Book equity / Number of shares at period end

Basic earnings per Share:

Profit/loss of the year / Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Diluted earnings per Share Profit/loss of the year / Weighted average number of fully diluted Shares
Equity ratio:

Book equity at period end / Total assets at period end

Annualized return on equity:

Profit after taxes / Book equity at period end

10.6

Statutory auditors

The Company’s auditor is KPMG AS (“KPMG”), whose address is Sørkedalsveien 6, 0306 Oslo, Norway.
KPMG is a member of the Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants (“Den Norske Revisorforening”).
KPMG has audited Opera’s financial statements and the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2013,
2012, and 2011 that were all prepared under IFRS as approved by the EU. The audit reports thereon were
unqualified.
The financial statements and related reports from KPMG referred to above are incorporated by reference into
this prospectus as discussed in section 18.2.
10.7

Acquisition of Skyfire Labs, Inc.

Opera acquired 100 % of the shares and voting interest in Skyfire Labs, Inc. (“Skyfire”) on 14 March 2013.
Skyfire is a leading company in mobile video optimization and cloud solutions for mobility. Skyfire’s head
office is in Mountain View, California. The effects of this transaction on the consolidated financial statements of
Opera have not been included in the pro forma condensed financial information included in section 12, but are
outlined in the following.
10.7.1 Effect on the consolidated statement of financial position
Consideration paid is a combination of cash and Shares in Opera. A significant portion of the estimated
consideration is based on an earn-out agreement over a three-year period. The best estimate of the total
consideration as at 31 December 2013 is as detailed in the table below:
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Consideration
Cash consideration
Contingent consideration
Total consideration

Amount
MUSD

in
49.1
40.5
89.6

In performing the acquisition accounting for Skyfire, the following identifiable assets and liabilities, and residual
goodwill were identified and valued, and consequently included in the consolidated statement of financial
position of Opera as at the acquisition date:
Fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
consideration
Customer relations
Proprietary technology
Other intangible assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other long-term liabilities
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Accounts payable
Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable
Deferred revenue
Other short-term liabilities
Net identifiable assets and liabilities at fair value
Total consideration
Goodwill (residual)

US million
3.6
19.4
4.7
0.4
9.4
0.5
0.1
8.2
(1.6)
(3.3)
(9.4)
(0.1)
(0.3)
(5.1)
(2.7)
23.8
89.6
65.8

62

10.7.2 Effect on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Total revenue arising from the operations of Skyfire in 2013 during the 9.5 months after the acquisition date is
included in the consolidated financial statements of Opera at MUSD 12.2. The pre-acquisition period (January 1
through 14 March 2013) generated revenues of MUSD 0.8. Revenues from external parties generated by Skyfire
during the full financial year 2013 were thus MUSD 13.0.
Customer relations and proprietary technology acquired in the transaction are subject to amortization that has an
effect on the financial results of Opera going forward. Additional amortization expense for the period prior to the
acquisition date in 2013 (January 1 through March 14, 2013) would be MUSD 0.8. The reversal of the associated
deferred tax liability would be MUSD 0.3 (income tax income). The additional amortization expense for the full
financial year 2013 would have been MUSD 4.0 had Skyfire been acquired as at January 1, 2013, with a
corresponding reversal of the related deferred tax liability (income tax income) of MUSD 1.6.
Had Skyfire been acquired at 1 January 2013, the company would have contributed a negative MUSD 7.3 to the
profit for 2013 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Of this, a negative MUSD 5.6 relates to
the period prior to the acquisition and is consequently not recognized in the consolidated financial statements of
Opera for 2013.
Acquisition-related costs (due diligence and legal fees) amounting to approximately MUSD 1 were expensed in
the consolidated financial statements of Opera in 2013.
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11

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

You should read the following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with
the financial statements included in this Prospectus. The following discussion may contain forward-looking
statements that are based on current assumptions and estimates by Opera’s management regarding future events
and circumstances. Opera’s actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those described in section 2 “Risk factors”.
11.1

Consolidated financial results – Q1 2014 compared to Q1 2013

Revenue was MUSD 87.0 in 1Q14 compared to MUSD 62.0 in 1Q13, an increase of 40%. Compared to 1Q13,
1Q14 saw strong revenue growth from mobile operators, mobile consumers (owned and operated properties),
and mobile publishers and advertisers (Opera publisher partner members), a slight increase in revenue from
desktop consumers and a decrease in revenue from device OEMs. Overall, Opera saw strong revenue growth
from its cloud-based mobile services, serving operators, consumers, advertisers, and publishers. Revenue from
Opera’s cloud-based mobile services grew 68% to MUSD 63.0 in 1Q14, compared to MUSD 37.6 in 1Q13
In 1Q14, mobile publishers and advertisers (Opera publisher partner members) was the largest source of revenue
(MUSD 31.7 in revenue and 36% of revenue), followed by mobile operators (MUSD 18.6 in revenue and 21%
of revenue), desktop consumers (MUSD 18.5 in revenue and 21% of revenue), mobile consumers (MUSD 13.7
in revenue and 16% of revenue), and device OEMs (MUSD 4.3 in revenue and 5% of revenue).
Revenue from operators increased by 47% in 1Q14 versus 1Q13. Operator cloud-based license/data revenue
increased by 48% to MUSD 17.5 in 1Q14 compared to MUSD 11.8 in 1Q13, fueled by both user growth and
revenue from Skyfire’s Rocket Optimizer™ and Horizon™ cloud-based services. Mobile consumer (Operaowned-&-operated properties) revenue was up 84% compared to 1Q13, with revenue driven primarily by
licensing revenue, including the licensing of the Rocket Optimizer™ video/media optimization technology to a
major internet company (note that this revenue was split 50/50 between the mobile consumer and desktop
consumer customer types), and mobile advertising related to Opera’s owned and operated properties. Mobile
publisher and advertiser (Opera publisher partner members) revenue grew 72%, compared to 1Q13. Revenue
growth was driven primarily by increased revenue from premium and performance advertisers and “app-install”driven spend from primarily the mobile gaming sector. Revenue from desktop consumers increased by 6% in
1Q14 versus 1Q13, with lower search revenue offset by higher licensing revenue, including the licensing of the
Rocket Optimizer™ video/media optimization technology to a major internet company. Device OEM revenue
was down 20% compared to 1Q13, driven by lower license revenue from its connected TV customers in
particular.
Total operating costs, excluding one-time extraordinary costs, were MUSD 72.2 in 1Q14, compared to MUSD
47.7 in 1Q13, an increase of 51%. Total payroll and related expenses, excluding stock-based compensation
expenses, were MUSD 31.7 in 1Q14, compared to MUSD 23.9 in 1Q13, an increase of 33%. Payroll and related
expenses increased in 1Q14 versus 1Q13 due to headcount growth and higher payroll costs per employee. Total
stock-based compensation expenses for 1Q14 were MUSD 1.1, compared to MUSD 0.9 in 1Q13. Depreciation
and amortization expenses in 1Q14 were MUSD 6.7, compared to MUSD 3.2 in 1Q13, an increase of 110%.
Depreciation and amortization costs increased primarily due to higher investments in Opera mini server
infrastructure, depreciation of intangible assets related to acquisitions, and amortization of research and
development costs. Cost of goods sold in 1Q14 was MUSD 16.1 compared to MUSD 8.9 in 1Q13, an increase of
81%. Cost of goods sold expenses increased in 1Q14 versus 1Q13 due to higher publisher payout costs related to
higher revenue from its mobile publisher and advertiser business. Other operating expenses in 1Q14 were
MUSD 16.6, compared to MUSD 10.9 in 1Q13, an increase of 52%. Other operating expenses increased in 1Q14
versus 1Q13, primarily due to higher marketing, travel and hosting costs. In 1Q14, Opera recorded restructuring
charges of MUSD 1.3 related to a strategic cost reduction that will better align costs with revenues and legal fees
related to business combinations.
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EBITDA, excluding stock-based compensation expenses and one-time extraordinary costs, was MUSD 22.7
compared with MUSD 18.4 in 1Q13. EBITDA, excluding one-time extraordinary costs, was MUSD 21.6 in
1Q14, compared with MUSD 17.5 in 1Q13. EBIT, excluding one-time extraordinary costs, was MUSD 14.9 in
1Q14, compared to MUSD 14.3 in 1Q13. EBIT, including one-time extraordinary costs, was MUSD 13.6 in
1Q14, compared to MUSD 12.8 in 1Q13.

11.2

Consolidated financial results – 2013 compared to 2012

Opera’s operating revenues grew by 39% to MUSD 300.1 in 2013 (2012: 216.0). Compared to 2012, 2013 saw
strong revenue growth from mobile operators, mobile consumers, and mobile publishers and advertisers (Opera
publisher partner members), as well as a decrease in revenue from desktop consumers and device OEMs. Mobile
publisher and advertiser (Opera publisher partner members) revenue grew 120%, compared to 2012. Revenue
growth was driven primarily by increased revenue from premium and performance advertisers and “app-install”driven spend primarily from the mobile gaming sector. Mobile consumer (Opera’s owned and operated
properties) revenue was up 94% in 2013, compared to 2012, with revenue driven primarily by licensing revenue
and mobile advertising related to Opera’s owned and operated properties. Revenue from mobile operators
increased by 49% in 2013, compared to 2012. Operator cloud-based license/data revenue increased by 53% to
MUSD 58.2 in 2013, compared to MUSD 38.1 in 2012, fueled by both strong user growth and revenue from the
Rocket Optimizer™ and Horizon™ cloud-based services. Desktop revenue was lower in 2013, compared to
2012, due to lower search revenue, which was partly offset by higher content and advertising revenue. Device
OEM revenue was down 35% in 2013, compared to 2012, driven by lower license revenue from its connected
TV customers in particular.
Operating expenses, excluding one-time extraordinary costs, increased by 44% to MUSD 238.3 (2012: MUSD
165.8), with non-headcount expenses increasing primarily due to the higher cost of goods sold or publisher payout costs related to the mobile publisher and advertiser business, higher hosting costs related to Opera mini’s
hosting infrastructure, and overall marketing and travel expenses. Opera delivered EBIT (excluding costs for
restructuring the business) of MUSD 61.8 (2012: MUSD 50.2), an increase of 23%, and profit before income
taxes (including costs for restructuring the business) ended at MUSD 67.5 (2012: MUSD 25.6). Income taxes
were MUSD 7.2 (2012: MUSD .6), and the Company’s profit for the period was MUSD 60.3 (2012: MUSD
17.0). Earnings per Share were MUSD 0.490 (2012: MUSD 0.143), and diluted earnings per Share were USD
0.479 (2012: 0.140). On a Non-IFRS basis, EBITDA before stock-based compensation expenses grew 36% to
MUSD 86.6 in 2013 (2012: MUSD 63.6). Non-IFRS profit for 2013 ended at MUSD 67.8 (2012: MUSD 44.7)
and non-IFRS earning per Share was USD 0.55 (2012: 0.376), while diluted earnings per Share was USD 0.539
(2012: 0.369).
Net cash flow from operating activities in 2013 totaled MUSD 69.3 (2012: 3 .3). Opera’s cash balance in 2013,
versus 2012, was impacted positively by pre-tax profits and proceeds from Share issues of MUSD 87.2 (2012:
0). Opera’s cash balance in 2013, versus 2012, was reduced by MUSD 143.7 (2012: 0.8) related to acquisitions,
MUSD 2.1 (2012: 5.2) for capital expenditure and MUSD 4.4 (2012: 4.0) related to dividends. As of December
31, 2013, the Company had a cash balance of MUSD 128.4 (2012: 128.2) and MUSD 0 (2012: 0) in interestbearing debt. The Company’s interest-coverage was 55 (2012: 437), and the equity ratio was 77% (2012: 76%).
11.3

Consolidated financial results – 2012 compared to 2011

Opera’s operating revenues grew by 35% (37% on a constant currency basis) to MUSD 216.0 in 2012 (2011:
159.8m). Compared to 2011, 2012 saw strong revenue growth from mobile consumers and mobile publishers
and advertisers (Opera network members), revenue growth from desktop consumers and device OEMs, and a
decrease in revenue from mobile OEMs and mobile operators. Desktop consumers was the largest source of
revenue in 2012 (MUSD 67.5 in revenue and 31% of total revenue), followed by mobile publishers and
advertisers (Opera network members) (MUSD 54.1 in revenue and 25% of total revenue), mobile operators
(MUSD 41.7 in revenue and 19% of total revenue), device OEMs (MUSD 28.2 in revenue and 13% of total
revenue), mobile consumers (MUSD 19.5 in revenue and 9% of total revenue and mobile OEMs (MUSD 3.7 in
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revenue and 2% of total revenue). Mobile consumer revenue was up over 200% in 2012 compared to 2011,
driven primarily by increased revenue from mobile search, the Opera mobile store, and active user growth.
mobile publisher and advertiser (Opera network members) revenue grew 400% compared to 2011. Revenue
growth was driven by increased revenue from the mobile advertising network business in the United States and
the United Kingdom, as well as higher publisher transaction revenue on the AdMarvel platform. Revenue from
desktop consumers increased by 25% in 2012 versus 2011, driven by growth in ARPU (Average Revenue Per
User). Device OEM revenue was up 3% compared to 2011, with license growth from connected TV customers
offset by lower development revenue. Operator revenue fell by 12% in 2012 compared to 2011. Increases in
operator Opera mini license/data revenue in 2012 compared to 2011 (up 14% in 2012 vs. 2011) were offset by
decreases in development and license revenue from legacy operator agreements related to customized operator
versions of Opera mobile.
Operating expenses increased by 36% to MUSD 165.8 (2011: 121.7m), with non-headcount expenses increasing
primarily due to higher cost of goods sold or publisher pay-out costs related to the mobile publisher and
advertiser business, higher hosting costs related to Opera mini’s hosting infrastructure, and overall marketing
and travel expenses. Opera delivered EBIT (excluding costs for restructuring the business) of MUSD 50.2 (2011:
38.1m), an increase of 32%, and profit before income taxes (including costs for restructuring the business) ended
at MUSD 25.6 (2011: MUSD 37.1). Income taxes were MUSD .6 (2011: 11. m), and the Company’s profit for
the period was MUSD 17.0 (2011: 25.4m). Earnings per Share was USD 0.14 (2011: 0.21), and diluted earnings
per Share was USD 0.14 (2011: 0.21).
Net cash flow from operating activities in 2012 totaled MUSD 3 .3 (2011: 31.1). Opera’s cash balance in 2012
versus 2011 was impacted positively by pre-tax profits and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of
MUSD 3.4m (2011: 5.9). Opera’s cash balance in 2012 versus 2011 was reduced by MUSD 0.8 (2011: 0.0)
related to acquisitions, capital expenditure of MUSD 5.2 (2011: 4.7), and a dividend payment of MUSD 4.0
(2011: 4.0). As of 31 December 2012, the Company had a cash balance of MUSD 128.2 (2011:102.3) and no
interest-bearing debt.
11.4

Consolidated statement of financial position – Q1 2014 compared to Q1 2013

Total intangible assets were MUSD 202.6 end of Q1 2014, compared to MUSD 200.6 end of Q1 2013. Deferred
tax assets were MUSD 22.7 end of Q1 2014, compared to MUSD 0 end of Q1 2013. The increase is a result of
the Company’s acquisitions during the period. Total trade and other receivables was MUSD 116.1 end of Q1
2014, compared to MUSD 112 end of 1Q 2013. Cash and cash equivalents were MUSD 143 at the end of Q1
2014, compared to MUSD 53.6 at the end of Q1 2013. The increase is due to higher cash flow from financing
and as a result of issue of new Shares. Total equity was MUSD 319.5 end of Q1 2014, compared to MUSD 162
end of Q1 2013. The increase was explained by the issuing of new Shares. Total provisions were MUSD 35.7
end of Q1 2014, compared to MUSD 88.7 end of Q1 2013. The decrease was explained by the payment of 2013
earn-out commitments during the year. Total current liabilities were MUSD 114.4 end of Q1 2014, compared to
MUSD 136.9 end of Q1 2013.
11.5

Consolidated statement of financial position – 2013 compared to 2012

Goodwill increased from MUSD 70.3 in 2012 to MUSD 149.5 end of 2013, as a result of the acquisition of
Skyfire. Deferred tax assets increased from MUSD 3.8 to MUSD 23.6 in 2013 as a result of acquisitions.
Accounts receivables were MUSD 61.5 at the end of 2013, compared to MUSD 35.2, as a result of higher
operational activity. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2013 was MUSD 163.4, compared to MUSD 57.2 in
2012. The increase is mainly explained by cash flow from financing of MUSD 151.9, compared to MUSD-0.6 in
2012. The equity increased from MUSD 143.8 in 2012 to MUSD 314.0 in 2013, as a result of new Share issue
and the financial result of MUSD 60.1. Other long-term liabilities were MUSD 60.1 at the end of 2013,
compared to MUSD 0 in 2012, as a result of the drawdown on the DNB facility. Total provisions were MUSD
59.7 at the end of 2013 compared to MUSD 28.8. The increase can be explained by increase in earn-out
obligations in relation to acquisitions.
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11.6

Consolidated statement of financial position – 2012 compared to 2011

Goodwill increased from MUSD 27.2 in 2011 to MUSD 70.3 end of 2012, as a result of the acquisition of
Mobile Theory Inc. and 4th Screen advertising. Accounts receivables were MUSD 35.2 end of 2012, compared
to MUSD 14.4 in 2011. Unbilled revenue was MUSD 26.7 end of 2012, compared to MUSD 15.2 in 2011. Other
receivables were MUSD 12.4 end of 2012, compared to MUSD 4.4 in 2011. The increase was explained by the
higher activity level for the company’s business. Cash and cash equivalents were MUSD 57.2 end of 2012,
compared to MUSD 83.1 end of 2011. The decrease was explained by a higher negative cash flow from
investment activities, as well as a negative cash flow from financing. Total equity was MUSD 143.8 end of
2012, compared to MUSD 117.5 end of 2011. Provisions were MUSD 28.8 in 2012, compared to MUSD 9.4 in
2011, as a result of higher earn-out obligations related to the company’s acquisitions. Accounts payable were
MUSD 19.6 in 2012, compared to MUSD 4 in 2011. Other short-term liabilities were MUSD 22.4 in 2012,
compared to MUSD 13.4 in 2011. The increase was explained by the higher activity level for the company’s
business.
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12
12.1

UNAUDITED
PRO
INFORMATION

FORMA

CONDENSED

FINANCIAL

Purpose of the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information

The unaudited pro forma condensed income statement shows how the business combination transaction of Opera
and Jirbo Acquisition Company Inc. (operating as “AdColony”) might have affected Opera’s consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013 had the transaction occurred on 1 January 2013. The
unaudited pro forma condensed statement of financial position as of 31 December 2013 shows how the business
combination transaction with AdColony could have affected the Group’s financial position had it occurred on
that date.
The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information has been compiled for illustrative purposes only and
addresses a hypothetical situation. Therefore, it does not represent the Group’s actual financial position or results
as they would have been had the pro forma adjustment transactions occurred at an earlier date, and is not
representative of the results of operations for any future periods. It should be noted that there is greater
uncertainty associated with unaudited pro forma condensed financial information than ordinary historical
financial reporting. Investors are cautioned against placing undue reliance on this unaudited pro forma
condensed financial information.
The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information does not include all of the information required for
financial statements under IFRS and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements of Opera Software ASA, prepared under IFRS as adopted by the EU as of and for the financial year
2013 (see Appendix 2), and the separate audited financial statements of AdColony as of and for the year ended
31 December 2013, prepared under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States..
Please see section 7.13 of this Prospectus for a further description of the business combination transaction of
Opera and Jirbo Acquisition Company Inc. (operating as “AdColony”).
12.2

Sources and basis for preparation for the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information

The unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013 is based on the
historical audited consolidated financial statements for Opera and Jirbo Acquisition Company Inc. (operating as
AdColony) for the year ended 31 December 2013. The audited financial statements for 2013 for Opera and Jirbo
Acquisition Company Inc. (operating as AdColony) are included in Appendices 2, 4 and 5 to this Prospectus.
Both sets of financial statements are presented in USD.
The sources and assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments applied to the historical financial
information, for the purposes of compiling the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information, are
described in the notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information.
The pro forma adjustments related to unaudited pro forma condensed income statement will have continuing
impact, with the exception of transaction costs arising as a result of the acquisition of AdColony, and their
related income tax effect (described in note 2 in section 12.8 below) and the effects related to the acceleration of
the share-based compensation plan (described in note 3 in section 12.8 below). These are one-off items
specifically related to the transaction.
12.3

Accounting principles

The historical consolidated financial information of Opera has been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as
adopted by the EU. The accounting principles to be applied for Opera will be in accordance with those
accounting principles outlined in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2013, as
included in Appendix 2 to this Prospectus.
The historical financial information for AdColony has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the Unites States of America (US GAAP), which has been converted to IFRS as adopted
by the EU and the accounting policies of Opera for the purposes of compiling this unaudited pro forma
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condensed financial information. This conversion is described in Section 12.7 “IFRS adjustments” below and
has not been subject to audit. The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information for the Group does not
include all information required for financial statements under IFRS.
12.4

Full-year unaudited pro forma condensed financial information

The tables below present the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information for the period described in
section 12.1 “Purpose of the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information” and Section 12.2 “Sourced
and basis for preparation for the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information”. The pro forma
adjustments (columns entitled “Pro forma adjustments (unaudited)”) are described in section 12.8 “Unaudited
pro forma adjustments” below.
12.5

Unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013

Amounts in MUSD

Historical
Opera
Software
Group IFRS
(audited)

Historical
AdColony
US GAAP
(audited) (refer
to section 12.7)

Pro forma
adjustments
(unaudited)

Pro forma
IFRS
(unaudited)

Revenue

300.1

52.8

Total operating revenue

300.1

52.8

-

352.9

Cost of goods sold
Payroll and related expenses
Depreciation expenses
Other operating expenses

(58.2)
(108.6)
(20.8)
(50.8)

(28.9)
(11.3)
(0.1)
(5.4)

0.8
(13.7)
(0.6)

(87.1)
(119.1)
(34.6)
(56.8)

Total operating expenses

(238.4)

(45.7)

(13.5)

(297.6)

Result from operating activities (EBIT),
excl. Restructuring costs

61.8

7.1

(13.5)

55.3

Costs for restructuring business

(2.5)

Results from operating activities (EBIT)

59.2

7.1

(13.5)

52.8

(3.6)

10.3
(17.0)
(6.3)
28.8
(7.8)

Other interest income/expenses, net
Interest expense related to contingent consideration
FX gains/losses related to contingent consideration, net
Revaluation of contingent consideration
Other financial expenses
Share of profit/loss from associates
(equity method)
Net financial income (expenses)

Note

352.9

3
1
2

(2.5)

13.9
(17.0)
(6.3)
28.8
(7.8)
(3.3)

4

(3.3)

8.3

-

(3.6)

4.7

Profit (loss) before income taxes

67.5

7.1

(17.1)

57.5

Income tax on ordinary result

(7.2)

(1.1)

6.3

(2.0)

Profit for the period

60.3

6.0

(10.7)

55.6

5

Earnings per Share – Basic

0.490

0.420

9

Earnings per Share - Diluted

0.479

0.412

9

12.6

Unaudited pro forma condensed statement of financial position as of 31 December 2013

Amounts in MUSD

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill

Historical
Opera
Software
Group (FRS
(audited)

149.5
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Historical
AdColony US
GAAP
(audited) (refer
to section 12.7)

Pro forma
adjustments
(unaudited)

175.9

Pro forma
IFRS
(unaudited)

325.4

Notes

1

Other intangible assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Investments in other shares
Other investments and deposits
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

46.6
15.4
23.6
0.1
4.9
240.1
61.5
32.4
35.6
163.4
292.9
533.0

0.4
0.6

55.0
(2.0)

0.1
1.1

228.9

101.6
15.8
22.2
0.1
5.0
470.1

0.4
18.9
29.3
30.4

25.0
119.6
144.6
373.5

71.5
32.4
61.0
301.9
466.8
936.9

10.0

1
1, 6

8
4, 8, 9

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Total paid in capital

0.4
184.2
18.9
203.5

30.4

87.2

30.4

87.2

0.4
301.8
18.9
321.1

Other equity
Total retained earnings
Total equity

110.4
110.4
313.9

(20.0)
(20.0)
10.4

20.0
20.0
107.2

110.4
110.4
431.5

7

180.1
106.2
286.3

4
8

-

120.0
91.4
211.4

14.2
0.6

(0.6)

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Social security, VAT, and other taxation payable
Deferred revenue
Other short-term liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

12.7

60.1
14.8
74.9
22.2
20.2
9.8
17.9
29.2
44.9
144.2
219.1
533.0

5.2

20.0
20.0
30.4

55.5
54.9
266.3
373.5

36.4
20.2
9.8
23.1
29.2
100.4
219.1
505.4
936.9

7, 9

6

8

IFRS adjustments

The historical financial statements for AdColony have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP. In order to
present the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information on a consistent basis, the need for adjustments
has been assessed, in order to reflect the financial information of AdColony in accordance with IFRS.
Certain adjustments to the classification of line items have been made in order to align the financial information
of AdColony to the presentation format of Opera. No adjustments have been made to the amounts in order to
reflect the financial information in accordance with IFRS and Opera accounting policies.
Under US GAAP, research and development expenditure is expensed as incurred. Under IFRS, development
expenditure must be capitalized as an asset if, and only if, the following can be demonstrated:


Technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available or use or sale;



The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;



The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;



How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
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The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and
use or sell the intangible asset; and



The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development

Certain expenditure incurred in AdColony would meet these criteria. There is, however, an additional
requirement under IFRS that the cost of the asset must be measured reliably. AdColony has not had systems and
processes in place to capture such costs under US GAAP. Consequently, this requirement is not met, and an
asset not recognized. However, the fair values of the acquired intangible assets have been determined in
connection with the preliminary acquisition accounting for pro forma purposes, as described in Section 12.8
“Unaudited pro forma adjustments” below and development costs are as such included in the unaudited pro
forma financial information as presented in the columns entitled “pro forma IFRS (unaudited)” in sections 12.5
and 12.6 above.
Other accounting principles applied by AdColony are consistent with the accounting policies of Opera. The
historical financial information for AdColony (column entitled “Historical AdColony US GAAP (audited)” also
reflects the financial information as it would have been presented under IFRS.
12.8

Unaudited pro forma adjustments

The pro forma adjustments pertain to the column “Pro forma adjustments (unaudited)” contained in the tables in
Section 12.5 and 12.6 above. The figures are prepared based on the assumption that the business combination
transaction with AdColony occurred on 1 January 2013 for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed
income statements, and as of 31 December 2013 for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed
statement of financial position. Each adjustment necessary to illustrate the effect of this is described below.
Following the acquisition of AdColony, Opera will control 100 % of the shares and voting interest of AdColony.
This is reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information, and the pro forma adjustments
made affect a number of line items in the unaudited pro forma condensed income statements and the unaudited
condensed statement of financial position, as set out in sections 12.5 and 12.6 above. Details are included in the
notes below.

Note 1 – Goodwill and other intangible assets
In connection with the business combination in which Opera will acquire 100 % of the shares in AdColony, the
principles of IFRS 3 Business Combinations will be applied, and identifiable assets and liabilities will be
recognized at their estimated fair values. The measurement of identifiable assets and liabilities for the purposes
of the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information is based on provisional values determined by
management, pending final valuations. Management has used a preliminary purchase price allocation (dated 14
July 2014), prepared by external consultants, as basis for their assessment. The assessment of fair values will be
updated as necessary and recognized in the financial statements when the transaction has been completed.
The provisionally estimated fair values of the acquired identifiable intangible assets are as follows:
Goodwill and intangible assets
Customer relationships
Customer contracts
Technology
Pro forma adjustment – Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Pro forma adjustment – Goodwill

As of 31 December 2013
(MUSD)
34.0
6.0
15.0
55.0
175.9
175.9

Remaining useful life
(in years)
6
2
3
Indefinite

The corresponding deferred tax liability associated with the fair value adjustments to other intangible assets is
MUSD 22, based on a 40% tax rate.
The fair value of other intangible assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful
life of the assets, estimated to be between two to six years. Goodwill is not amortized. The pro forma
adjustments to the unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for 2013 are as follows:
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Year ended 31 December
2013 (MUSD)
5.7
3.0
5.0
13.7

Amortization
Customer relationship
Customer contracts
Technology
Pro forma adjustment – Depreciation expenses

The related deferred tax effect of MUSD 5.5 (based on a tax rate of 40%) is also recognized as a pro forma
adjustment in the unaudited pro forma condensed income statement.
Note 2 – Transaction costs
The Company has entered into arrangements with a number of advisors in order to facilitate the business
combination transaction with AdColony. These expenses have been reflected in the unaudited pro forma
condensed financial information, as they form part of the expenditure of the group assuming that the transaction
is successful. Estimated expenses of MUSD 0.6, classified as “Other operating expenses”, have been recognized
in the unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for 2013, as if the transactions had occurred at the
beginning of the period, with a related income tax effect of MUSD 0.2 (28% reflecting the rate of income tax in
Norway applicable in 2013).
Note 3 – Share-based compensation
AdColony has operated a Share-based compensation scheme for its employees through which employees have
the right to acquire shares in AdColony. AdColony recognized a Share-based compensation expense of MUSD
0.8 for the year ended 31 December 2013, as payroll and related costs. The fair value of the share options was
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the share options. As a consequence
of the business combination transaction, the Share-based compensation scheme is discontinued, and these
options are thus subject to accelerated vesting and vested fully on the date of the business combination. In order
to reflect the transaction as if it had occurred on 1 January 2013 for the purposes of the pro forma condensed
income statement, the share options expense of MUSD 0.8 is reversed in the unaudited pro forma condensed
income statement, with a related income tax effect of MUSD 0.3, applying a 40% tax rate.
Note 4 – Borrowings and finance costs
It is intended that the acquisition of AdColony will be funded partly by issuing share capital and partly with
borrowed funds. The share capital will be raised by issuing new Shares for cash consideration as described in
note 7 below. It is assumed that 50% of the finance will be raised by borrowings from financial institutions.
Given the estimated fair value of the total consideration given of MUSD 239.9, it is assumed that loans of
MUSD 120 will be required. This has been reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed statement of financial
position as of 31 December 2013, classified as “Other long-term liabilities” with a corresponding entry in “Cash
and cash equivalents”.
An interest rate of 3% per year has been assumed, based on the interest rates currently available to Opera, and
the pro forma interest expense is thus estimated to be MUSD 3.6, reflecting the interest expense that may have
been incurred had the transaction occurred on 1 January 2013. This has been reflected in the unaudited pro forma
condensed income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013, with a related income tax effect of MUSD
1.0, applying a 28% tax rate.
Note 5 – Income taxes
The income tax effect of the pro forma adjustments in the unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2013, as described above in note 1 through note 4, have been included in the
unaudited pro forma condensed income statement for the year ended 31 December 2013, at the rates applicable
to each adjustment.
The pro forma effect on income tax expense is summarized as follows:
Income tax
Tax effect (40%) of amortization of intangible assets (note 1)
Tax effect (28 %) of transaction expenses (note 2)
Tax effect (40 %) of Share-based compensation (note 3)

Year ended 31 December 2013 (MUSD)
5.5
0.2
(0.3)
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Tax effect (28 %) of finance expenses (note 4)
Pro forma adjustment – Income tax on ordinary result

1.0
6.3

Note 6 – Deferred tax assets and liabilities
For the purposes of the unaudited pro forma statement of financial position as of 31 December 2013, the
deferred tax effect of the transactions described above has, where relevant, been determined at a rate applicable
to the jurisdiction in which the tax is incurred:


28%, which is the statutory rate of income tax in Norway; and



40%, which is the relevant tax rate for AdColony

The effect on deferred tax assets and deferred tax in the pro forma adjustments described above is arrived at as
follows, with the deferred tax liability effects and the deferred tax assets effect netted for presentation purposes:
a)

The deferred tax effect of recognition of intangible assets of MUSD 22.0 has been described in note 1
above.

b) Deferred tax assets recognized for the share option compensation, amounting to MUSD 0.7, have been
reversed for pro forma purposes as these will not be available when the share options are realized on
acquisition
c) Closing payments made to options holders are tax deductible and a deferred tax asset recognized for pro
forma purposes in order to reflect this. A tax rate of 40% is applied on payments of MUSD 14.8 that has
a deductibility of between 70% (success fee of MUSD 4) and 100% (initial payment of MUSD 10.8).
This has been netted against a corresponding tax payable of MUSD 0.6, arriving at a pro forma
adjustment of MUSD 4.8. The payment to option holders is estimated by the selling parties in
connection with closing and is based on the capitalization records of AdColony (unaudited).
d) Contingent consideration (as detailed in note 8 below) contains earn-out payments of MUSD 39.9 that
are treated as salary costs for tax purposes. As this amount is tax deductible, as deferred tax asset of
MUSD 15.9 (applying a tax rate of 40%) has been included as a pro forma adjustment
The adjustments in b) and c) above relate to tax effects of accelerating the Share-based payments scheme of
AdColony employees and the related payments to be made to the option holders.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax effect – Liability (40 %) on recognition of intangible assets (note 1)
Deferred tax effect – Liability (40%) reversal of tax benefit option scheme
Deferred tax effect – Asset (40%) on closing payments
Deferred tax effect – Asset (40 %) on earn-out payments
Pro forma adjustment – Deferred tax assets
Taxes payable
Deferred tax effect – Liability (40%) offset closing payments (note 6c)
Pro forma adjustment – Taxes payable

As of 31 December 2013
(MUSD)
(22.0)
(0.7)
4.8
15.9
(2.0)
As of 31 December 2013
(MUSD)
(0,6)
(0,6)

Note 7 – Issue of equity
It is intended that the acquisition of AdColony will be funded partly by issuing share capital and partly with
borrowed funds. It is assumed that 50% of the finance will be raised by borrowings from financial institutions
(described in note 4 above). Equity to fund the remaining part of the acquisition has been raised in 2014 by
issuing new Shares for cash consideration. The relevant amount, representing 50% of the estimated total
consideration of MUSD 239.9 is thus MUSD 120, which comprises 9,125,550 Shares at a consideration of NOK
80 (USD 13.15) per Share. MUSD 2.4 of related transaction costs have been capitalized (deducted) as part of the
Share issue. The amount to be adjusted for in the unaudited pro forma condensed statement of financial position
is thus MUSD 117.6.
The effect of pro forma adjustments on equity is summarized as follows:
Equity

As of 31 December 2013
(MUSD)
117.6

Equity issue
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Pre-acquisition equity in AdColony
Pro forma adjustment – share premium reserve

(30.4)
87.2

Pre-acquisition equity in AdColony
Pro forma adjustment - other equity

20.0
20.0

Pro forma adjustment - equity

107.2

Note 8 – Consideration
The consideration in the transaction comprises an up-front cash payment combined with earn-out payments. The
best estimate of the total consideration that management expects to pay to acquire all the shares in AdColony,
based on projections of AdColony’s future earnings has been reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed
statement of financial position as of 31 December 2013 as follows:
Consideration
Cash payment
Of which escrow amounts
Contingent consideration (current)
Contingent consideration (non-current)
Total consideration

Pro forma adjustment
classified as:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables
Current provisions
Non-current provisions

As of 31 December 2013
(MUSD)
118.0
(25.0)
55.5
91.4
239.9

Note 9 – Earnings per Share
For the purposes of estimating earnings per Share based on the unaudited pro forma condensed income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2013, the total number of Shares issued by Opera Software ASA as of 31
December 2013 has been adjusted by the number of Shares issued to finance the acquisition, i.e. 9,125,550
Shares (as described in note 7 above). This adjustment applies to the calculation of both basic and fully diluted
earnings per Share.
Earnings per Share (amounts in USD)

Earnings per Share (basic)
Earnings per Share (diluted)
Shares used in earnings per Share calculation (basic)
Shares used in earnings per Share calculation (diluted)

12.9

Historical Opera
Software ASA
consolidated
0.490
0.479
123,156,089
125,783,923

Pro forma

0.420
0.412
132,281,639
134,909,473

Independent practitioner’s assurance report on unaudited pro forma condensed financial
information

With respect to the unaudited pro forma condensed financial information included in this Prospectus, KPMG AS
has applied assurance procedures in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3420,
Assurance Engagements, to report on the compilation of pro forma financial information included in a
Prospectus, in order to express an opinion as to whether the unaudited pro forma financial information has been
properly compiled on the basis stated, and that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the
Company; see Appendix 3 “Independent Practitioner’s Report on Unaudited Pro forma Condensed Financial
Information”.
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13

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The information below is derived from the consolidated historical information as presented in section 10.2
“Consolidated financial information”. The complete historical cash flow statements are presented in section
10.3.3. In June 2014, the Company announced the acquisition of AdColony (described in section 7.13 of this
Prospectus) and a subsequent Private Placement (described in section 13.10 of this Prospectus). With the
exception of the acquisition and the Private Placement, there has been no material change in the Group’s
financial or trading position since 31 March 2014 to the date of this Prospectus.
13.1

Cash flow – Q1 2014 compared to Q1 2013

Cash flow from operations
The Company’s net cash flow from operating activities was MUSD 15.4 in Q1 2014, compared to MUSD 3.4 in
Q1 2013. Cash flow from operating activities was impacted positively by strong profitability and changes in
working capital.
Cash flow from investments
Cash flow from investments was MUSD -37.2 in Q1 2014, compared to MUSD -67.2 in Q1 2013. Opera’s cash
balance was impacted negatively by investments in research and development, investment in Opera’s joint
venture in China and earn-out payments. Expenditures in R&D amounted to MUSD 3.1, compared to MUSD 2.4
in Q1 2013. Expenditures for acquisitions were MUSD 29.9 for the period, compared to MUSD 62.2 in Q1
2013. The acquisition expenditures are related to earn-out payments for previous acquisitions. Capital
expenditures, which are primarily related to Opera’s hosting operations, were MUSD 1.6 in Q1 2014, versus
MUSD 2.5 in Q1 2013. A detailed description of the investment activity is presented in section 13.9.2.
Cash flow from financing
Cash flow from financing activities was MUSD 1.4 in Q1 2014, compared to MUSD 60.2 in Q1 2013. Cash flow
from financing of MUSD 1.4 in Q1 2014 was related to proceeds from Share issue as part of the incentive
program. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of Q1 2014 were MUSD 143.0, compared to MUSD 53.6 in Q1
2013. In Q1 2013, the Company signed a MUSD 100 secured revolving credit facility with DNB Bank ASA, of
which MUSD 60.0 has been drawn as of the end of Q1 2014. The Company has not undertaken any other
interest-bearing debt during Q1 2014.
13.2

Cash flow – 2013 compared to 2012

Cash flow from operations
Net cash flow from operating activities in 2013 totaled MUSD 49.5, compared to MUSD 37.6 in 2012 from a
strong 39% revenue growth and growth in EBIT of 23% YoY. Profit from operating activities was MUSD 67.5
in 2013, compared to MUSD 25.6 in 2012, an increase of 164%.
Cash flow from investments
Cash flow from investment activities totaled MUSD -95.2 in 2013, compared to MUSD -62.9 in 2012. For the
year 2013, Opera had MUSD 10.2 related to general capital expenditures related to hosting operations, compared
to MUSD 10.4 in 2012. R&D expenditures amounted to MUSD 14.4, up from MUSD 3.4 in 2012 primarily
driven by higher activity in software development and the development of new software features and solutions.
Acquisition expenditures incurred during the year were MUSD 62.7, compared to MUSD 44.2 in 2012. MUSD
35.9 was related to the acquisition of Skyfire Labs, MUSD 4.4 was related to an immaterial transaction, while
the remaining was related to earn-outs for historical acquisitions. A detailed description of the investment
activity is presented in section 13.9.2.
Cash flow from financing
Cash flow from financing activities was MUSD 151.9 in 2013 compared to MUSD -0.6 in 2012. Opera’s cash
balance in 2013, versus 2012, was impacted positively primarily by proceeds from an equity Share issue of
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MUSD 87.2 compared to 0 in 2012. Proceeds from the share incentive program had a positive effect of MUSD
9.9 in 2013, compared to MUSD 3.4 in 2012. Cash flow was negatively affected by a dividend payment of
MUSD 4.4, compared to MUSD 4 in 2012. As of 31 December 2013, the Company had a cash balance of
MUSD 163.4 (2012: MUSD 57.2) and MUSD 60 (2012: 0) in interest-bearing debt.
13.3

Cash flow – 2012 compared to 2011

Cash flow from operations
Net cash flow from operating activities in 2012 totaled MUSD 37.6, compared to MUSD 36.7 in 2011. Cash
flow from operations was positively affected by higher pre-tax profit driven by strong revenue growth and stable
margins. Cash flow from operations was negatively affected by an increase in accounts receivables of MUSD
24.3m, derived from higher operational activity.
Cash flow from investments
Cash flow from investment activities totaled MUSD -62.9 in 2012, compared to MUSD -25.1 in 2011. Capital
expenditures for 2012 were MUSD 10.4, compared to MUSD 10.6 in 2011, primarily related to hosting services.
Capitalized R&D expenditures were MUSD 3.4, compared to USD 0 in 2012. Acquisition expenditures incurred
during the year amounted to MUSD 44.2, compared to MUSD 12.1 in 2011. The expenditures are related to the
acquisition of 4th Screen Advertising, Netview Technology, investments in nHorizon and earn-outs from
previous acquisitions. A detailed description of the investment activity is presented in section 13.9.2.
Cash flow from financing
Cash flow from financing activities totaled MUSD -0.6 in 2012, compared to MUSD -14.4 in 2011. Opera’s cash
balance in 2012, versus 2011, was impacted positively by proceeds from the exercise of stock options of MUSD
3.4, compared to MUSD 5.9 in 2011. Cash flow from financing was negatively impacted by payment of MUSD
4.0 in dividend, compared to MUSD 4 in 2011. The company did not acquire own Shares in 2012, compared to
2011 when the company acquired MUSD 16.3 in own Shares. As of 31 December 2012, the Company had a
cash balance of MUSD 57.2 (2011: MUSD 83.1) and no interest-bearing debt.
13.4

Liquidity management and exchange risk

The Company reports in USD, with a significant amount of both revenue and expenses being in USD. To reduce
the exchange risk, the company strives to have a minimum amount of cash in other currencies. Cash
management is based on cash-pooling, where currencies are netted and controlled by Company headquarters.
Each department has access to a smaller amount upon request.
The company has no hedging activities.
13.5

Working capital statement

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company is of the opinion that the Group’s working capital is sufficient for
its present requirements and, in particular, is sufficient for at least the next twelve months from the date of this
Prospectus.
13.5.1

Key ratios

The table below sets forth some consolidated key ratios for the Group as of 31 March 2014 and 2013, and 31
December 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Key ratios

Q1 2013

2013

2012

2011

Working capital ratio20 ................................................
1.3x
1.6x

1.3x

1.11

0.84

20

Q1 2014

Current assets/current liabilities (provisions as interest-bearing debt)
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Debt to equity ratio21 ...................................................
0.23
0.58

0.24

0.18

0.01

Solidity22 ........................................................................
0.63
0.42

0.59

0.16

0.70

13.6

Funding structure and restrictions on the use of capital

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as of 31 March 2014 amounted to MUSD 143. The Group has revolving
credit facility with DNB Bank ASA, of which MUSD 60.0 has been drawn as of the end of Q1 2014. The group
has no other interest-bearing debt.
Of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, MUSD 4.9 was restricted assets as of 31 March 2014. As of the date
of this Prospectus, the Company is not aware of any other restrictions on transfer of funds from its subsidiaries,
other than general requirements and restrictions related to dividend capacity and distributions under Norwegian
company law.
13.7

Capitalization and indebtedness

The following tables set forth the capitalization and indebtedness of the Group as of 31 March 2014, on a
consolidated basis. The information should be read in conjunction with the information included elsewhere in
this Prospectus, including section 10 of this Prospectus, and the combined financial statements included in
Appendix 2. On 24 June 2014, the Company announced the acquisition of AdColony (described in section 7.13
of this Prospectus) and a subsequent Private Placement (described in section 13.10 of this Prospectus). With the
exception of the acquisition and the Private Placement, there has been no material change in the Group’s
financial or trading position since 31 March 2014 to the date of this Prospectus.

31 March 2014
(Unaudited)

Figures in MUSD
SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Other equity
Total equity (A)

0.4
187.9
20.0
111.2
319.5

INDEBTEDNESS
Current debt
Provisions
Guaranteed
Secured
Unguaranteed / Unsecured
Total current debt

23.0
0.0
0.0
23.0
23.0

Non-current debt
Other long-term liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current debt
Guaranteed
Secured
Unguaranteed / Unsecured
Total indebtedness (B)

60.1
12.7
72.8
0.0
60.1
12.7
95.8

Total capitalization (A+B)

415.3

The table below sets forth the Group’s net indebtedness, as of 31 March 2014
21

Total interest bearing debt/total equity (provisions as interest-bearing debt)

22

Equity/total capital
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Figures in USDm
A. Cash
B. Cash equivalents
C. Trading securities
D. Liquidity (A+B+C)

143.0
0.0
0.0
143.0
0.0

E. Current financial receivables
F. Current bank debt
G. Current portion of non-current debt
H. Other current financial debt
I. Current financial debt (F+G+H)

0.0
0.0
23.0
23.0

J. Net current financial indebtedness (I-E-D)

(120.0)

K. Non-current bank loans
L. Bonds issued
M. Other non-current loans
N Non-current financial indebtedness (K+L+M)

60.1
0.0
12.7
72.8

O. Net financial indebtedness (J+N)

(47.2)

Part of the provisions is a result of the earn-out agreement and senior management incentive plan. The
consideration is revalued each quarter, and MUSD 9.8 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD
22.6 as a current provision, as of 31 March 2014.
The secured long-term debt is a revolving credit facility with DNB Bank ASA, as described in section 13.8 of
this Prospectus.
The provisions are related to the contingent earn-out payments for past acquisitions. A detailed description can
be found in section 13.9.3 of this Prospectus. The Company has no other contingent liabilities.
For the acquisition of AdColony and the financing of this transaction, see description in section 7.13 of this
Prospectus.
The only material change to the balance sheet from 31 March 2014 to 30 June 2014 is the impact of a private
placement announced 27th June 2014 with net proceeds of approximately MUSD 125.9. In 2Q 2014 Opera also
increased the debt facility to MUSD 150 (from MUSD 100). Opera has not yet drawn down of the increased
facility (still MUSD 60 is drawn up). Please see 7.13 and 13.8 for more information about the increase in the
debt facility.
13.8

Borrowings

Opera Software has, in June 2014, signed a new MUSD 150 secured revolving credit facility with DNB Bank
ASA. The facility will primarily be secured through a share pledge in Opera Software International AS, as well
as floating charges over accounts receivable in Opera Software ASA and certain of its U.K. and U.S.
subsidiaries. The loan agreement has the following covenants: a) a Gearing Ratio to be below 1.50:1 and B) an
Equity Ratio to hold the minimum level of 35%. The facility has a term of 3 years and bears an interest rate of
LIBOR + 1.75% p.a. (plus a utilization fee varying with the amount drawn). On the undrawn portion of the
facility, a commitment fee of 0.61% p.a. will be paid. Opera Software intends to use the financing for general
corporate purposes and potential acquisitions. The Group has no other interest-bearing debt.
The Company does not pursue a targeted capital structure and has an opportunistic approach to funding, from
both the equity and debt capital markets. Due to covenants in relation to the DNB facility, there are some
restrictions to the level of indebtedness.
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13.9

Investments

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment
losses (see accounting policy regarding impairment). Where parts of property, plant, and equipment have
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant, and equipment.
Expenses related to research activities, which are expected to lead to scientific or technological knowledge and
understanding, are recognized as costs in the statement of comprehensive income in the period they are incurred.
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of
goodwill at initial recognition, see above. Goodwill is stated at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units and is no longer amortized but is tested annually for impairment
(see accounting policy regarding impairment).
Leases, where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance
leases. The Group has only operational lease contracts as of 31 December 2013. Expenses concerning the
upgrading of leased premises have been capitalized and are amortized over the remaining term of the contract.
The most significant agreements relate to the rental of premises in United States, Norway, the United Kingdom,
Sweden, and Poland. In 2012, the Company entered into a new lease for the rental of its Norwegian offices at
Gjerdrums vei 19. The new lease will run through November 2019. The lease agreement, according to IAS 17, is
considered an operating lease.
13.9.1 Principal investments
The following table describes the Company’s property, plant, and equipment as of 31 March 2014.
31 March 2014
(Unaudited)

Figures in MUSD
Office machinery, equipment etc.
Total property, plant, and equipment

14.8
14.8

For further information please see note 7 in the Company’s 2013 annual report that is incorporated hereto by
reference, see section 1 .2 “Incorporated by reference”.
13.9.2 Historical investments
The table below provides an overview of the Group’s investment activities for the financial years 2013, 2012,
and 2011. The figures for Q1 2014 are based on IAS 34 unaudited interim report. Accounting principles and
more details for the historical investments can be found in section 7.5 of this Prospectus.

Figures in MUSD
Capital expenditures
Investment in R&D
Acquisitions
Other investments
Total

3 months ended 31
March
(IAS 34 unaudited)
2014
2013
1.6
3.1
29.9
2.6
37.2

2.5
2.4
62.2
0.0
67.2

Year ended 31 December
(IFRS audited)
2013

2012

2011

10.2
14.4
62.7
7.9
95.2

10.4
3.4
44.2
4.9
62.9

10.6
0.0
12.1
2.4
25.1

YTD 2014 Investments in Q1 2014 amounted to MUSD 37.2, compared to MUSD 67.2 in Q1 2013. Capital
expenditures, which are primarily related to Opera’s hosting operations of servers and cloud-based services,
were MUSD 1.6. In 1Q 2014, a cash payment of MUSD 2.5, for an immaterial transaction, was included in
acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. At the same time, a second payment of MUSD 2.5 was set in escrow
and is to be released if certain financial targets are achieved. Net cash of MUSD 0.6, existing on the day of
acquisition, has been netted in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. Acquisitions include earn-out payment
related to the Mobile Theory acquisition deal of MUSD 31.3, where MUSD 7.0 had no cash effect in Q1 2014.
Other earn-out payments during the period include MUSD 4.8 related to the 4th Screen Advertising acquisition
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deal and MUSD 1.4 related to an immaterial acquisition. During the period, acquisitions were positively affected
by the repayment of MUSD 5 from escrow, as Skyfire Labs did not meet performance targets.
In Q1 2014, MUSD 3.1 (YTD: 3.1) of Opera's investment in product development was capitalized in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Investments in R&D are related to building new software features,
improvements in the core technological platform, and general research activities. Other investments include
MUSD 2.3, which Opera granted to nHorizon as a loan together with a minor loan to a third party of MUSD 0.3.
In Q2 2014, the Company paid the 2013 earn out of MUSD 2.0 related to an individually immaterial business
combination. The earn out payment had no impact on cash flow in Q2 2014, since the amount was paid to the
escrow agent in 2013.
In June 2014, the Company announced the acquisition of AdColony (described in section 7.13 of this
Prospectus) and a subsequent Private Placement (described in section 5 of this Prospectus). With the exception
of the acquisition and the Private Placement, there has been no material change in the Group’s financial or
trading position since 31 March 2014 to the date of this Prospectus.
2013
Investments in 2013 amounted to MUSD 95.2, compared to MUSD 62.9 in 2012. Capital expenditures, which
are primarily related to Opera’s hosting operations of servers and cloud-based services, were MUSD 10.2. The
increase in investments can be explained by the acquisition of 100% of the shares and voting rights in the
privately held company Skyfire Labs Inc. for a cash payment of MUSD 35.9 and a second payment of MUSD
25.7 set in escrow. Net cash of MUSD 8.2 in Skyfire Labs Inc. existing on the day of the acquisition has been
netted in acquisitions in the statement of cash flow. During the period, Opera has paid earn-out of MUSD 0.5
related to the Mobile Theory acquisition. MUSD 1.9 related to the 4th Screen Advertising acquisition and
MUSD 0.6 related to the Handster acquisition. In Q1, a cash payment of MUSD 4.4 for an immaterial
transaction has been included in the acquisitions in the cash flow statement. Net cash of MUSD 1.9, existing on
the day of acquisition, was netted in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. Opera also invested MUSD 5.7
in nHorizon Innovation, of which MUSD 2.8 was payable in 4Q 2013.
Investments in R&D amounted to MUSD 14.4 in 2013, compared to MUSD 3.4 in 2012. Investments in R&D
are related to building new software features, improvements in the core technological platform and general
research activities.
2012
Investments in 2012 amounted to MUSD 62.9, compared to MUSD 25.1 in 2011. Capital expenditures, which
are primarily related to Opera’s hosting operations of servers and cloud-based services, were MUSD 10.4. The
increase in investments is explained by higher acquisition activity. In February, Opera acquired Mobile Theory
Inc. The acquisition comprised an initial payment of MUSD 3.9 for the shares acquired and an escrow payment
of MUSD 13.0 for future earn-outs. Mobile Theory’s net cash of MUSD 0.3 on the day of acquisition has been
netted in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. In 4Q 2012, Opera prepaid the 2012 earn-out payment of
MUSD 17.8 (of which MUSD 11.8 had a cash flow effect in 4Q 2012). In February Opera also acquired 4th
Screen Advertising Ltd. for an initial payment of MUSD 5.1 for the shares acquired and an escrow payment of
MUSD 3.0 for future earn-outs. 4th Screen’s net cash of MUSD 0. on the day of acquisition has been netted in
acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. In 2Q 2012, Opera paid a subsequent payment of MUSD 0.2 for the
shares and voting interests. Opera also acquired Netview Technology for a payment of MUSD 0.8. Finally Opera
also invested MUSD 2.4 in both Q2 and A4 in nHorizon Innovation.
Opera also paid MUSD 0.9 in earn-out for the 2010 acquisition of the FastMail Partnership and a final earn-out
of MUSD 6.5 related to the AdMarvel acquisition deal.
Investments in R&D amounted to MUSD 3.4 in 2012 compared to MUSD 0.0 in 2011. Investments in R&D are
related to building new software features, improvements in the core technological platform, and general research
activities.
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2011
On April 30, 2010, Opera entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with the FastMail Partnership. The earn-out
paid in 1Q 2011 of MUSD 0.5 and 4Q 2011 of MUSD 0.5 was also related to this deal and is included in
acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. In 2Q 2011, Opera paid the earn-out of MUSD 5 as related to the
AdMarvel acquisition deal. On September 9, 2011, Opera Software International AS acquired 100% of the
shares and voting interest of the privately held company Handster, Inc., following a payment of MUSD 6.3 for
the shares acquired. In 4Q 2011, Opera paid MUSD 2.4 as capital contribution to nHorizon Innovation (Beijing)
Software Ltd. Capital expenditures for the period, which are primarily related to Opera’s hosting operations of
servers and cloud-based services, were MUSD 10.6.
Opera did not capitalize any R&D expenses in 2011.
13.9.3

Future commitments

From previous acquisitions, Opera has future commitments related to earn-out payments.
Skyfire Labs – Earn-out agreement and senior management incentive plan
Opera has estimated the total earn-out value before discounting to be MUSD 57.2, at the acquisition date. Opera
used a WACC of 25% and foreign exchange rate of NOK/USD 5.721423, when calculating the earn-out. Based
on these assumptions and the earn-out valuation performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair
value and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 40.5 in the financial statements. The FY 2013, FY 2014,
and FY 2015 earn-out targets are both based on revenue and EBIT targets. The maximum possible payment for
both FY 2013, FY 2014 and FY 2015 is MUSD 94.7. At the acquisition date, Opera calculated the earn-out
value before discounting to be MUSD 26.7 in FY 2013, MUSD 30.5 in FY 2014, and MUSD 0.0 in FY 2015.
Earn-out payments for 2013 were paid out in 2013, as described in section 13.2 of this Prospectus.
The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and MUSD 0.0 has been booked as a non-current
provision and MUSD 0.4 as a current provision as of 31 March 2014. For 1Q 2014, Opera booked MUSD 0.2
(YTD 0.2) as an interest expense, MUSD 0.0 (YTD 0.0) as an FX expense and MUSD 0.0 (YTD 0.0) as change
in likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to change +/-10%. Please also see note 9 for more
details. In 3Q 2013, Opera paid portions of the 2013 earn-out payment of MUSD 11.7. The payment had no
impact on cash flow in 3Q 2013, since the amount was paid to the escrow agent in 1Q 2013.
In 1Q 2014, the escrow agent repaid MUSD 5.0 of the indemnity escrow fund to Opera, as Skyfire Labs did not
meet the performance targets related to the escrow. Further, it has been agreed that up to the first MUSD 10.0 of
any 2015 total earn-out payments that become payable pursuant to the merger agreement, are to be part of an
incentive payment to certain senior management employees. The valuation of the contingent consideration is
based on the same principles as described above. The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and
MUSD 3.0 has been booked as a non-current provision as of 31 March, 2014. For 1Q 2014, Opera booked
MUSD 0.2 (YTD: 0.2) as an interest expense and MSUD 0.0 (YTD 0.0) as change in likelihood.
Individually immaterial business combinations – Earn-out agreements
Opera has estimated the total earn-out values before discounting to be MUSD 30.4, at the acquisition date. Opera
used a WACC between 17% and 25%, when calculating the earn-out. Based on these assumptions and the earnout valuation performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked a contingent
consideration of MUSD 19.8 in the financial statements. At the acquisition date, Opera calculated the earn-out
value before discounting to be MUSD 8.7 in FY 2013, MUSD 9.6 in FY 2014, and MUSD 12.1 in FY 2015. The
contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and MUSD 9.8 has been booked as a non-current provision
and MUSD 22.6 as a current provision as of March 31, 2014. For 1Q 2014, Opera booked MUSD 1.5 (YTD:
1.5) as an interest expense, MUSD 0.0 (YTD: 0.0) as an FX income and MUSD 4.6 (YTD: 4.6) as change in
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likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to change +/-10%. In 1Q 2014, Opera paid the 2013
earn-out of MUSD 1.4.
Mobile Theory – Earn-out agreement
In 1Q 2014, Opera booked MUSD 1.5 (YTD 1.5) as an interest expense, MUSD -0.7 (YTD -0.7) as an FX
expense, MSUD -0.1 (YTD -0.1) as change in likelihood, and paid the 2013 earn-out payment of MUSD 31.3.
MUSD 7.0 of the 2013 earn-out payment had no cash effect in 1Q 2014.
In 1Q 2014, Opera booked MUSD 0.2 (YTD 0.2) as an interest expense, MUSD -0.1 (YTD -0.1) as an FX
expense, MSUD 0.3 (YTD 0.3) as change in likelihood, and paid the 2013 earn-out payment of MUSD 4.8 and
an escrow release payment of MUSD 1.0. The escrow release payment had no cash effect in 1Q 2014.
As of the date of this Prospectus, Opera has a cash balance of USD 143m and interest bearing debt of USD 40m.
Opera has USD 379.5m in equity, with an equity ratio of 77%, as of Q1 2014. The company has a revolving
credit facility with DNB, with an undrawn amount of MUSD 40.
Future earn-out obligations will be funded through a combination of the Private Placement, the revolving credit
facility of MUSD 150, subsequently cash flow from operations or other alternative funding sources.
Opera has an average CAPEX over the last three years of MUSD ~10, mainly related to hosting services. The
nature of the business is not capital intensive, and CAPEX has historically been financed through operating cash
flow. CAPEX is low compared to operating cash flow and the cash balance of MUSD 143 and undrawn credit
facilities of MUSD 40 as of Q1, and the future CAPEX commitments will be funded through operating cash
flow. On 24 June 2014, Opera Software announced the acquisition of AdColony, cf. section 7.13 of this
Prospectus.
13.9.4

Goodwill

Goodwill

MUSD

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Hern Labs AB

1.3

Accumulated depreciation as of 12/31/04

1.1

Net book value as of 12/31/04

0.3

Reversed depreciation 2004

0.3

Net book value as of 1/1/04 and 12/31/08

0.5

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Opera Software Poland Sp. Z o. o

2.2

Net book value as of 12/31/09

2.8

Goodwill at acquisition cost for AdMarvel

13.2

Goodwill at acquisition cost for FastMail

4.0

Net book value as of 12/31/10

20.0

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Handster

7.2

FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

0.0

Net book value as of 12/31/11

27.2

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Mobile Theory

34.4

Goodwill at acquisition cost for 4th Screen Advertising

11.3

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Netview Technology

0.3

Impairment of FastMail goodwill

-3.0
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FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

0.1

Net book value as of 12/31/12

70.3

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Skyfire Labs, Inc.

65.8

Sale of FastMail

-1.0

Goodwill at acquisition cost for immaterial transactions

14.4

FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

-0.1

Net book value as of 12/31/13

149.5

Goodwill at acquisition cost for immaterial transactions

5.6

FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

0.0

Net book value as of 3/31/14

155.2

The Group has performed a complete impairment test as of 31 December 2013 according to IAS 36. The Group
considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill.
13.10

Significant events after the end of the financial year

Other than set out below, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group
since 31 December 2013:


On 27 June 2014, Opera completed a Private Placement where 10 million Placement Shares were subscribed
at a subscription price of NOK 80, raising gross proceeds of MNOK 800 (for details see Chapter 5 “The
Private Placement and the Listing” of this Prospectus).

13.11

Trend information and other factors that may affect the operations of the Company

The Company has not experienced any significant trends that are significant to the Company after 31 December
2013.
On 24 June 2014, the Company announced the acquisition of AdColony as further described in section 7.13 in
this Prospectus. See section 2 “Risk factors” for further particulars regarding uncertainties inherent in the
business and operations that may affect the Company’s business. The Company is not aware of any
governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies, or factors that may material effect the operations
of the Company, other than those described in section 2 “Risk factors”.
Please see section “Market Overview”, section 11 “Operating and Financial Overview” and section 13 “Shares
and Share Capital” for more information about significant historic trends in the Company’s business and relevant
markets.
Besides that, the Company is not aware of any trend, commitment, event, or uncertainty that is reasonably
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s business for the current financial year.
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14

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL

14.1

Current Shares

The number of issued Shares of the Company as of the date of this Prospectus is 142,627,238, Shares of one
class only, with a par value of NOK 0.02 each, and issued in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited
Liability Companies Act. The Company’s Shares are fully paid up. The Shares are registered in VPS with ISIN
NO0010040611 and are freely transferable. The registrar for the Shares is DnB Bank ASA.
The Company has since 11 March 2004 been listed on Oslo Børs with the ticker–code “OPERA”.
14.2

Equity instruments and other arrangements affecting equity

14.2.1

Warrants

The Company has not issued any warrants.
14.2.2

Options

Stock Incentive Program
The annual general meeting held on 14 June 2011 approved a program authorizing the grant of options
exercisable into a maximum of up to 11,950,000 Shares of the Company to executive officers and other
employees of the Company for a the period ending 31 December 2014 (“Stock Incentive Program”). This
represents less than 10% of the registered share capital of the Company. Options cannot be granted if the
aggregate of all issued, un-exercised, and not-terminated options represents more than 10% of the then-registered
share capital of the Company. Options have been granted under this program with a strike price equal to the
applicable market price at the time of grant, cf. see details in the below tables.
Each option gives the right to subscribe for one Share in the Company.
Restricted stock unit program
The Annual general meeting held 3 June 2014 approved a program for the grant of equity compensation in the
form of restricted stock unit (“RSU”) awards to executive officers and other employees of the Company, as
described in section 9.5.2 of this Prospectus. As at the date of this Prospectus, 1,882,885 RSUs have been
granted under the approved program. The granted RSU’s as at the date of this Prospectus expire within the range
from 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2018.
As at the date of this Prospectus the following share options are issued under the Stock Incentive Program:
Outstanding options
Exercise price
(in thousands
of options)

Outstanding
Options per
20 June
2014

0.00 - 10.00

-

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual
life
-

10.00 - 12.30

87,500

12.30 - 15.00

Vested options

Weighted average
exercise price

Vested
options
20 June 2014

Weighted average
exercise price

-

-

-

0.45

11.99

87,500

11,99

-

-

-

-

-

15.00 - 20.00

711,900

1.18

19.10

711,900

19.10

20.00 – 25.00

1,158,350

3.68

21.32

278,350

21.71

25.00 - 30.00

2,158,006

4.11

27.34

258,000

27.45

30.00 – 35.00

965,000

5.82

34.47

57,500

32.10

35.00 - 40.00

1,511,171

5.45

37.84

0

0.00

40.00 - 45.00

30,000

5.67

44.18

0

0.00

45.00 -

900,000

7.25

76.25

0

0.00

Total

7,521,927

4.60

34.40

1,393,250

21.26
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Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise price are as
follows:
Weighted
average
exercise price
(NOK)

List of outstanding options (in
2014
thousands of options)

Outstanding on 1 January 2014
Terminated (employee terminations)

7,109

34.91

-190

40.46

Forfeited during the period

-

Expired during the period

-

-

Exercised during the period

-298

28.91

Granted during the period

900

76.25

Outstanding on 31 March 2014

7,522

39.49

Exercisable on 31 March 2014

1,393

28.37

As of 31 March 2014 there were a total of 7,522 options issued under the Stock Incentive Program, of which
1,393 are exercisable, with an exercise price of NOK 28.37. The granted options expire within the range from 1
September 2014 to 20 March 2022.
Outstanding share options to executives, management, and senior employees as of the date of the Prospectus are
as follows:
Lars Boilesen, CEO, holds 120 000 restricted share units of which 25% will vest each year in 2015, 2016, 2017,
and 2018, 700,000 options and 10,000 shares in Opera.
Mahi de Silva, CEO, Opera Mediaworks, holds 115,000 restricted share units of which 25% will vest each year
in 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018 and 43,751 options in Opera.
Erik Harrell, CFO/CSO, holds 20,000 restricted share units of which 25% will vest each year in 2015, 2016,
2017, and 2018, 612,500 options and 77,000 shares in Opera.
Andreas Thome, CCO, holds 20,000 restricted share units of which 25% will vest each year in 2015, 2016, 2017,
and 2018, 752,500 options and 10,000 shares in Opera.
Tove Selnes, CHRO, holds 20,000 restricted share units of which 25% will vest each year in 2015, 2016, 2017,
and 2018, 157,500 options and 9,111 shares in Opera.
Rikard Gillemyr, EVP, Consumer Browser, holds 10,000 restricted share units which 25% will vest each year in
2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018, 662,500 options and 360,000 shares in Opera.
Shares and options owned by members of the Board and the executive management as of December 31 2013 are
as follows:
Name
(in thousands of Shares and
options)

Arve Johansen
Kari Stautland*
Audun Wickstrand Iversen**
Marianne Blystad***
Christian Uribe ****
Krystian Kolondra ****
Erik Möller ****

Commission

Chairman
Board member
Board member
Board member
Board member
Board member
Board member

Shares

70
9,512
90
100
0
0
0
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Options

80
30
30
30
5
130

Weighted
average
strike price
(NOK)
30.58
32.10
22.14
23.90
21.20
30.18

Total

150
9,542
120
130
5
130
0

Lars Boilesen
Erik C. Harrell

CEO
CFO/CSO
EVP
Product
Development
EVP Consumer
Mobile
EVP
Human
Resources
EVP Operator
Solutions
EVP
Commercial and
Operations

Rikard Gillemyr
Mahi De Silva
Tove Selnes
Jeffrey S. Glueck
Andreas Thome

10
77

700
613

19.14
32.86

710
690

360

663

27.05

1,023

0

88

28.40

88

9

158

27.75

166

10

10

10

753

31.88

763

*Kari Stautland owns 100% of Arepo AS, which owned 9,512,120 Shares.
**Audun Wickstrand Iversen holds 90,000 Shares through Naben, 100% owned by Iversen.
***Marianne Blystad holds 0 Shares and, with family, owns 100% of the Shares in the investment company
Spenser Trading, which holds 100,000 Shares.
****Employee representative.
Shares and options (including RSUs) owned by members of the Board and the executive management as of 29
July 2014 are as follows:
Name
(in
thousands
of
Shares
and
options)
Sverre
Munck
Kari
Stautland
Audun
Wickstrand
Iversen
Marianne
Blystad
Andre
Christensen
Christian
Mauricio
Uribe
Espinoza *
Krystian
Kolondra *
Erik Möller
*
Lars
Boilesen
Erik C.
Harrell

Commission

Shares

Options
outstanding
per
29.07.2014

RSUs

Weighted
average
strike
price
(NOK)

Options
granted

Weighted
average
strike
price
(NOK)

Options
vested per
29.07.2014

Weighted
average
strike
price
(NOK)

Options
exercised

Weighted
average
strike
price
(NOK)

Total

1524

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15

Board
member

8,187.1225

-

30

37.28

-

-

13

37.28

-

-

8,217.12

Board
member

2526

-

17,5

28.56

-

-

30

28.56

-

-

42,5

Board
member

10027

-

30

30.1

-

-

30

30.1

-

-

130

Board
member

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Board
member

0,248

-

25

66.55

20

76.25

-

-

-

-

25.248

-

-

180

46.53

50

76.25

-

-

-

-

100

0,312

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0,312

10

120

700

25.93

-

-

700

25.93

-

-

830

100.7

20

612.5

37.95

-

-

-

-

-

-

733.2

360

10

662.5

34.53

-

-

200

29.72

-

-

1032.5

20

115

43.751

28.4

-

-

-

-

44

28,4

178.751

Chairman

Board
member
Board
member
CEO
CFO/CSO

Rikard
Gillemyr

EVP Product
Development

Mahi De
Silva

EVP
Consumer
Mobile

24

Indirect ownership through Libras AS
Indirect ownership through AREPO AS
26
Indirect ownership through Naben AS
27
Indirect ownership through Spencer Trading Inc.
25
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Tove Selnes

EVP Human
Resources

Andreas
Thome

EVP
Commercial
and
Operations

9.359

20

157.5

33.47

-

-

-

-

-

-

186.859

10

20

752.5

37.1

-

-

120

33.17

-

-

782.5

*Employee representative
Except for the options described above and in section “Employee incentive schemes”, the Company has not
issued any options, convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities with warrants. Furthermore, it has
not and will not be paid any consideration for any of the options or the RSUs.
14.3

Share capital development

The following table sets forth the development of the Company’s share capital for the period covered by the
historical financial information.

Date
12/31/2010
12/31/2011
12/31/2012
03/22/2013
03/23/2013
06/27/2013
09/09/2013
11/08/2013
12/10/2013
12/31/2013
01/07/2014
03/14/2014
03/31/2014

Description
of
issuance
Closing balance 2010
Closing balance 2011
Closing balance 2012
Share issue
Employee’s
option
exercise
Employee’s
option
exercise
Employee’s
option
exercise
Private placement
Employee’s
option
exercise
Closing balance 2013
Employee’s
option
exercise
Employee’s
option
exercise
Closing balance 31
March 2014

Change in
share
capital

Par
value
per
Share

40,958.12

0.02

1,812.88

35.21

Share
capital after
change
2,391,495.64
2,391,495.64
2,391,495.64
2,432,453.76

No. of
Shares after
change
119,574,782
119,574,782
119,574,782
121,622,688

0.02

20.28

2,434,266.64

121,713,332

10,224

0.02

20.3178

2,444,490.64

122,224,532

24,560

0.02

18.81

2,469,050.64

123,452,532

160,000

0.02

68.50

2,629,050.64

131,452,532

16,714

0.02

19.0483319

2,645,764.64

132,288,232

2,645,764.64

132,288,232

Issue price

5,000.12

0.02

24.40

2,650,764.76

132,538,238

957

0.02

25.8669

2,651,721.76

132,586,088

2,651,721.76

132,586,088

Note: NOK, except for number of Shares.

14.4

Board authorizations

Authorization to acquire own Shares
The Board of Directors is authorized to acquire Shares in the Company. The Shares are to be acquired at market
terms in or in connection with a regulated market where the Shares are traded. The maximum face value of the
Shares that the Company may acquire pursuant to this authorization is in total NOK 265,172. The minimum
amount that may be paid for each Share is NOK 20, and the maximum amount is NOK 200. The authorization is
valid from registration with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises until and including 30 June 2015.
Authorization to increase the share capital by issuance of new Shares
The Board of Directors was granted an authorization to increase the share capital in the Company by issuance of
new Shares. The authorization is split into two, one relating to the fulfilment of an incentive program (except for
Board Directors‘ options granted on or after 15 June 2010) and one which can be utilized in connection with
acquisitions, cf. below for further details. The authorization cannot be used if the Company in the period of 3
June 2014 to 30 June 2015 pursuant to board authorizations has issued new Shares in the Company representing
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more than 10% of the Company’s share capital. The authorization is valid from registration with the Norwegian
Register of Business Enterprises until and including 30 June 2015.
Authorization to issue Shares – in connection with incentive program:
The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to NOK
265,172, by one or several Share issues of up to a total of 13,258,600 Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK
0.02. The subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors. The authorization
may only be used for issuing of new Shares in relation to the Company’s incentive schemes existing at any time
in the Group. The authorization cannot be used in connection with options that may be granted to directors on or
after 15 June 2010.
Authorization to issue Shares – In connection with acquisitions of businesses or companies:
The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to NOK
265,172, by one or several Share issues of up to a total of 13,258,600 Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK
0.02. The subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors. The authorization
may only be used in connection with acquisitions of businesses or companies, including mergers, within the
business areas operated by the Group, or which relates thereto.
The authorization is sufficient for the possible Share issue in relation to the first MUSD 30 of earn-out payments,
cf. section 7.13 of this Prospectus.
14.5

Own Shares

The Company does not hold any Shares.
14.6

Shareholder structure

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company had a total of 3,983 registered Shareholders, of which 57,2%
were held in Norwegian-based accounts and 42.8 were held in non-Norwegian accounts. An overview of the
Company’s 30 largest Shareholders as of 11 August 2014 is set out in the table below:
Shareholder

Shareholding

Folketrygdfondet
Ludvig Lorentzen AS
Arepo AS
Ferd AS Invest
Sundt AS
Clearstream Banking
J.P. Morgan Luxembou
Verdipapirfondet DNB
Aviva Life and Pensi
The Bank of New York
SED Enskilda Securit
State Street Bank &
State Street Bank an
J.P. Morgan Chase Ba
Statoil Pensjon
Ilmarinen Mutual Pen
Odin Norge
Skandinaviska Enskil
Citibank, N.A.
Pactum AS
Fondsfinans AS
Storebrand Norge I
KLP Aksje Norge VPF
Lazard Freres Banque
Extellus AS
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank
KLP Aksje Norge Inde
KAS Bank NV
Kapitalforeningen UN

12,265,987
10,731,349
8,187,120
6,264,873
6,150,393
3,869,200
2,960,092
2,529,401
2,288,170
2,226,562
1,798,526
1,742,221
1,722,955
1,702,191
1,625,633
1,625,000
1,502,499
1,396,916
1,300,000
1,250,000
1,250,000
1,242,821
1,220,380
1,211,641
1,200,000
1,150,000
1,121,299
1,091,939
1,061,742
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% of total
8.60
7.52
5.74
4.39
4.31
2.71
2.08923641
1.77
1.60
1.56
1.26
1.22
1.21
1.19
1.14
1.14
1.05
0,98
0.91
0.88
0.88
0.87
0.86
0.85
0.84
0.81
0.79
0.77
0.74

Verdipapirfondet DNB

999,681

0.70

All the Shares are equal in all respect and the Shareholders have equal rights, including rights to dividends and
voting rights. Each Share carries one vote and none of the Shareholders have different voting rights. Please refer
to section 14.10 to 14.14 and section 15 below for a further review of rights attached to the Shares.
To the Company's knowledge, there are no arrangements that may at a subsequent date result in a change of
control of the Company.
The Company is not aware that the Company is controlled or owned, directly or indirectly, by any Shareholder
or related Shareholders.
In accordance with the disclosure obligations under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, shareholders
acquiring ownership to or control over more than 5% of the share capital of a company listed on Oslo Børs must
notify the stock exchange immediately. The following registered Shareholders/nominees currently own more
than 5% of the issued share capital in the Company:
Shareholder

Shareholding

Folketrygdfondet
Ludvig Lorentzen AS
Arepo AS

14.7

% of total

12,265,987
10,731,349
8,187,120

9.24847
8.09136
5.739

Shareholder agreement

The Company is not aware of any existing Shareholders agreement relating to the Shares.
14.8

Share price development

The figure below sets forth the price and trading volume of the Shares traded on Oslo Børs from March to March
2014.
Share price development since listing on Oslo Børs
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14.9

Articles of association

The Company's Articles of Association as at the date of this Prospectus are available for inspection at Opera’s
homepage and Opera’s offices, as further described in section 18.1 of this Prospectus. The following is a
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summary of certain provisions of the Articles of Association, some of which have not been addressed in the
preceding sections.
Objective of the Company
Pursuant to § 3 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company’s business shall be to develop, produce
and sell software and associated services and all activities related hereto, including participation in other
companies and other activities with similar purposes.
Registered Office
The Company’s business office is located in Oslo municipality.
Board of Directors
The Company’s Board of Directors shall consist of 5 to 10 members as determined by the general meeting.
Board members are elected to a two-year period unless the general meeting decides upon a shorter term.
Restriction on transfer of Shares
The Articles of Association do not provide for any right of first refusal for the Company’s Shareholders or any
other restrictions on the transfer of Shares. Share transfers are not subject to Board approval. Rights, preferences
and restrictions attaching to shares are set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Articles of
Association do not set forth additional conditions with regard to changing the rights of Shareholders than
required by the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.
Nomination committee
The Company shall have a nomination committee. The nominations committee shall give proposals on the
election of Shareholder elected board members and deputy members and their remuneration to the general
meeting. The nomination committee cannot propose own committee members as candidates for the Company’s
Board of Directors. The nomination committee shall also propose members for the nomination committee. The
nomination committee shall consist of 3 to 5 members who shall be Shareholders or representatives of
Shareholders. In addition, 3 to 5 personally elected deputy members may be elected. The members and the
deputy members of the nomination committee are elected by the general meeting for a period of 2 years at a
time.
Signatory rights
The right of signature lies with the chairman alone or by the chief executive officer alone.
Restrictions on transfer of Shares
The Article of Association do not provide for any right of refusal for the Company’s Shareholders or any other
restrictions on the transfer of Shares. Share transfers are not subject to Board approval.
Rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to shares are set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies
Act. The Articles of Association do not set forth additional conditions with regard to changing the rights of
Shareholders than required by the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.
14.10

Dividend policy

The Company’s dividend policy is to maintain a high equity ratio in order to achieve its ambitious long-term
growth objectives. The Company believes its needs for growth can be met while also allowing for a dividend
distribution as long as the Company is reaching its targeted growth and cash generation levels. The Company
will consider continuing to pay dividends over the next years. Dividend payments will be subject to approval by
the Shareholders at the Annual general meetings.
See the Company’s corporate governance guidelines included in the 2013 annual report for further information
on dividend policy.
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NOK 0.24 per Share was paid as a dividend for 2013, constituting an aggregate dividend payment of NOK
31,749,176. NOK 0.22 per Share was paid as a dividend for 2012, constituting an aggregate dividend payment of
NOK 26,776,933. NOK 0.20 per Share was paid as a dividend for 2011, constituting an aggregate dividend
payment of NOK 23,914,956.
14.11

General meetings

The Articles of Association do not set forth additional conditions with regard to changing the rights of the
Shareholders than as required by the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.
Through the general meeting, the Company’s Shareholders exercise the supreme authority in the Company,
subject to the limitations provided by Norwegian law. All Shareholders in the Company are entitled to attend and
vote at general meetings, either in person or by proxy. Under the circumstances described in the Company’s
Articles of Association § 9, the Board of Directors may also decide that the Shareholders shall be able to
participate in the general meeting by use of electronic aids, including that they may exercise their rights as
Shareholders electronically. See “Voting rights” with regard to certain restrictions on voting right applying for
nominee registered Shares, etc. General meetings are convened by the Company’s Board of Directors. A notice
of a general meeting shall be sent at the latest 21 days before the date of the meeting, and shall include a
proposal for an agenda for the meeting. A Shareholder is entitled to submit proposals to be discussed at general
meetings provided such proposals are submitted in writing to the Board of Directors within seven days prior to
the time limit for the notice to the general meeting, along with a proposal to a draft resolution or an explanation
as to why the matter has been put on the agenda. The Company’s Articles of Association contain notice
requirements for attending a general meeting; see “Articles of Association” with regard to further instructions.
The ordinary general meeting shall be held within six months from the end of each financial year. The ordinary
general meeting shall deal with and decide on the approval of the annual financial statement and directors’
report, including the distribution of any dividend, the election of the Board of Directors, and such other matters
as may be set out in the notice of the meeting.
Extraordinary general meetings can be called by the Board of Directors. In addition, the Board of Directors shall
call an extraordinary general meeting whenever so demanded in writing by the auditor or Shareholders
representing at least 5% of the share capital, in order to deal with a specific subject.
14.12

Voting rights

The Articles of Association do not set forth additional conditions with regard to changing the rights of
Shareholders other than as required by the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act.
Each Share in the Company carries one vote.
As a general rule, resolutions that shareholders are entitled to make pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited
Liabilities Companies’ Act or the Company's Articles of Association require a simple majority of the votes cast.
In the case of elections, the persons who obtain the greatest number of votes cast are elected. However, as
required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, including resolutions to waive preferential rights in connection
with any share issue, to approve a merger or de-merger, to amend the Company's Articles of Association or to
authorize an increase or reduction in the share capital, must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the
aggregated number of votes cast as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a shareholders'
meeting. Norwegian law further requires that certain decisions, which have the effect of substantially altering the
rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval of the holders of such shares or class
of shares as well as the majority required for amendments to the Company's Articles of Association. Decisions
that (i) would reduce any shareholder's right in respect of dividend payments or other rights to the assets of the
Company or (ii) restrict the transferability of the shares, require a majority vote of at least 90% of the share
capital represented at the general meeting in question, as well as the majority required for amendments to the
Company's Articles of Association. Certain types of changes in the rights of shareholders require the consent of
all shareholders affected thereby, as well as the majority required for amendments to the Company's Articles of
Association. Changes to or exemptions from the Articles of Association of the Company regarding the
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distribution of the maximum allowed dividend requires the support of at least nine tenths of the votes cast and of
the share capital represented at the general meeting.
In general, in order to be entitled to vote, a Shareholder must be registered as the beneficial owner of Shares in
the share register kept by the VPS. Beneficial owners of Shares that are registered in the name of a nominee are
generally not entitled to vote under Norwegian law, nor are any persons who are designated in the register as
holding such Shares as nominees.
Normally, information regarding the right to vote for Shares registered through a custodian will be included in
the summons for the annual general meeting. An owner with Shares registered through a custodian approved
pursuant to section 4-10 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act has voting rights equivalent to the
number of Shares, which are covered by the custodian arrangement, provided that the owner of the Shares prior
to the general meeting provide the Company with his/her name and address together with a confirmation from
the custodian to the effect that he/she is the beneficial owner of the Shares held in custody, and provided further
that the Board does not disapprove such beneficial ownership after receipt of such notification.
14.13

Dividends

Procedure for declaration of dividend
Under Norwegian law, interim dividends may only be paid in respect of a financial period as to which audited
financial statements have not been approved by the annual general meeting of shareholders, if the dividend
payments are based on an audited interim balance presented by the Board and approved by the general meeting
of Shareholders. The interim balance may not be dated any later than six months prior to the day the resolution
of paying dividends is resolved. Any proposal to pay dividends must be recommended or accepted by the Board
and approved by the Shareholders at a general meeting or resolved by the Board in accordance with an
authorization from the general meeting. The Shareholders at the annual general meeting may vote to reduce (but
not, unless accepted by the Board, to increase) the dividends proposed by the Board.
Legal constraints on the distribution of dividend
The Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act provides several constraints on the distribution of
dividends in cash or in kind:


Dividends are payable only out of distributable equity. Pursuant to section 8-1 of the Norwegian Public
Limited Liability Companies Act, the Company may only distribute dividends provided that, following
such distribution, it retains net assets that provide coverage for the Company’s share capital and other
non-distributable equity pursuant to sections 3-2 and 3-3 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act. The calculation shall be made on the basis of the balance sheet in the Company’s last
approved annual accounts, however, so that it is the registered share capital at the time the resolution is
adopted that forms the basis for the calculation. A deduction shall be made for the total nominal value
of own Shares the Company has acquired for ownership or as security prior to the balance-sheet date. A
deduction shall also be made for credit and security, etc., furnished pursuant to sections 8–7 to 8–10,
prior to the balance-sheet date, which, pursuant to these provisions, shall be within the limits of the
assets the Company may distribute as dividend. A deduction shall nonetheless not be made for credit
and furnished security, etc., that has been repaid or cancelled before the resolution is adopted, or for
credit furnished to a Shareholder insofar as the credit is cancelled by being offset against the dividend.



In connection with the calculation above, a deduction shall be made for other transactions after the
balance-sheet date that, pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, shall be
within the limits of the assets the Company may utilize for the distribution of dividends.



The Company may only distribute dividends provided that it has sound equity and liquidity following
such distribution, cf. section 3–4.

All Shareholders who are Shareholders at the time the general meeting passes a resolution to distribute dividends
are entitled to such dividends. According to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, there is no time limit
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after which entitlement to dividends lapses. Further, there are no dividend restrictions or specific procedures for
non-Norwegian resident Shareholders in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. Please see section
16.2.1 of this Prospectus for a description of withholding tax on dividends that is applicable to non-Norwegian
residents.
14.14

Certain aspects of Norwegian law

Additional issuances and preferential rights
If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus Share issues (involving the issuance of new Shares by a
transfer from the Company's Share premium reserve or distributable equity to share capital), the Company's
Articles of Association must be amended, which requires a two-thirds majority of the aggregate number of votes
cast at the general meeting, as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting.
In connection with an increase in the Company's share capital by a subscription for Shares against cash
contributions, Norwegian law provides the Company's Shareholders with a preferential right to subscribe for the
new Shares on a pro rata basis in accordance with their current shareholdings in the Company. The preferential
rights may be waived by the general meeting by the majority vote as required for amendments to the Company's
Articles of Association.
The general meeting may, with a majority vote as described above, authorize the Board to issue new Shares.
Such authorization may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the nominal value of the Shares to be
issued may not exceed 50% of the share capital at the time the authorization is registered with the Norwegian
Register of Business Enterprises. The preferential right to subscribe for Shares against consideration in cash may
be set aside by the Board of Directors only if the authorization includes such possibility for the Board of
Directors.
Under Norwegian law, bonus shares may be issued, subject to Shareholder approval and provided that, amongst
other requirements, the Company does not have an uncovered loss from a previous accounting year, by transfer
from the Company's distributable equity or from the Company's Share premium reserve. Any bonus issues may
be affected either by issuing Shares or by increasing the nominal value of the Shares outstanding. If the increase
in share capital is to take place by new Shares being issued, these new Shares must be allocated to the
Shareholders of the Company in proportion to their current shareholdings in the Company.
Minority rights
Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority Shareholders of the Company, including but not
limited to those described in this paragraph and the description of general meetings as set out above. Any of the
Company’s Shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to have a decision of the Board of Directors or the
Company’s Shareholders made at the general meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favors
certain Shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other Shareholders or the Company itself. The
Company’s Shareholders may also petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a result of such decisions to
the extent particularly strong reasons are considered by the court to make necessary dissolution of the Company.
Minority Shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company’s share capital have a right to demand in writing that
the Board of Directors convene an extraordinary general meeting to discuss or resolve specific matters. In
addition, any of the Company’s Shareholders may in writing demand that the Company place an item on the
agenda for any general meeting as long as the Company is notified within seven days prior to the time limit for
the notice to the general meeting, along with a proposal to a draft resolution or an explanation as to why the
matter has been put on the agenda. If the notice has been issued when such a written demand is presented, a
renewed notice must be issued if the deadline for issuing notice of the general meeting has not expired.
Liability of directors
Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its Shareholders. Such fiduciary duty requires that the
Directors act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their functions and exercise a general duty of
loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the interests of the Company.
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Each Director may be held liable by the Company for any damage he/she negligently or wilfully cause the
Company. Norwegian law permits the general meeting to exempt any such person from liability towards the
Company, but the exemption is not binding if substantially correct and complete information was not provided at
the general meeting when the decision was made. If a resolution to grant such exemption from liability or not to
pursue claims against such a person has been passed by a general meeting with a majority below that required to
amend the Company's Articles of Association, Shareholders representing more than 10% of the share capital or,
if there are more than 100 Shareholders, more than 10% of the Shareholders may pursue the claim on the
Company's behalf and in its name. The cost of any such action is not the Company's responsibility, but it can be
recovered from any proceeds that the Company receives as a result of the action. If the decision to grant an
exemption from liability or not to pursue claims is made by a majority required to amend the Articles of
Association, the minority Shareholders cannot pursue the claim in the Company's name.
Indemnification of directors
Neither Norwegian law nor the Articles of Association contain any provision concerning indemnification by the
Company of the Board of Directors. The members of the Board of Directors are, as part of an insurance coverage
covered against certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as such.
Distribution of assets on liquidation
Under Norwegian law, a company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's Shareholders in a general
meeting passed by the same majority as required to amend the Articles of Association. After completion of the
Private Placement, the new Shares and the existing Shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital by the
Company upon a winding-up or otherwise.
Rights of redemption and repurchase of Shares
The share capital may be reduced by decreasing the nominal value of the Shares or by redemption of issued
Shares. Such a decision requires the same majority as required to amend the Articles of Association. Redemption
of individual Shares requires the consent of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed.
A Norwegian company may purchase its own shares if an authorization for the Board of Directors of the
Company to this effect has been given by a general meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the
aggregate number of votes cast and Shares represented at the meeting. The aggregate nominal value of treasury
shares so acquired and held by the company must not exceed 10% of the company's share capital, and treasury
shares may only be acquired if the company's distributable equity, according to the latest adopted balance sheet,
exceeds the consideration to be paid for the shares. The authorization by the general meeting cannot be given for
a period exceeding two years.
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15

SECURITIES TRADING IN NORWAY

The following is a summary of certain information in respect of trading and settlement of shares on Oslo
Børs/Oslo Axess, securities registration in Norway and certain provisions of applicable Norwegian securities
law, including the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, in effect as at the date of this Prospectus. This summary
does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by Norwegian law.
15.1

Trading and settlement

Trading of equities on Oslo Børs/Oslo Axess is carried out in the electronic trading system Millennium
Exchange. This trading system is in use by all markets operated by the London Stock Exchange as well as by the
Borsa Italiana and the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. Official trading on Oslo Børs/Oslo Axess takes place
between 09:00. CET and 16:20. CET each trading day, with a pre-trade period between 08:15. CET and 09:00.
CET, a closing auction between 16:20. CET and 16:25. CET and a post-trade period from 16:25. CET to 17:30.
CET. The settlement period for trading on Oslo Børs/Oslo Axess is three trading days (T+3).
Investment services in Norway may only be provided by Norwegian investment firms holding a license under
the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, branches of investment firms from a member state of the European
Economic Area (the “EEA”), or investment firms from outside the EEA that have been licensed to operate in
Norway. Investment firms in an EEA member state may also provide cross-border investment services into
Norway.
It is possible for investment firms to undertake market-making activities in shares listed in Norway if they have a
license to this under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, or, in the case of investment firms in an EEA
member state, a license to carry out market-making activities in their home jurisdiction. Such market-making
activities will be governed by the regulations of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act relating to brokers’
trading for their own account. Such market-making activities do not as such require notification to the
Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority or Oslo Børs, except for the general obligation of investment firms
that are members of Oslo Børs to report all trades in stock exchange listed securities.
15.2

Information, control, and surveillance

Under Norwegian law, Oslo Børs is required to perform a number of surveillance and control functions. The
Surveillance and Corporate Control unit of Oslo Børs monitors all market activity on a continuous basis. Market
surveillance systems are largely automated, promptly warning department personnel of abnormal market
developments.
Under Norwegian law, implementing the EU Market Abuse Directive, a company that is listed on a Norwegian
regulated market, or that is subject to the application for listing on such market, must promptly release any inside
information (i.e., precise information about financial instruments, the issuer thereof, or other matters that are
likely to have a significant effect on the price of the relevant financial instruments or related financial
instruments, and that are not publicly available or commonly known in the market). A company may, however,
delay the release of such information in order not to prejudice its legitimate interests, provided that it is able to
ensure the confidentiality of the information and that the delayed release would not be likely to mislead the
public. Oslo Børs may levy fines on companies violating these requirements.
15.3

The VPS and transfer of Shares

The Company’s Shareholder register is operated through the VPS. The VPS is the Norwegian paperless
centralized securities register. It is a computerized bookkeeping system in which the ownership of, and all
transactions relating to, Norwegian listed shares must be recorded. The VPS and Oslo Børs are both wholly
owned by Oslo Børs VPS Holding ASA.
All transactions relating to securities registered with the VPS are made through computerized book entries. No
physical share certificates are, or may be, issued. The VPS confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the
registered shareholder irrespective of any beneficial ownership. To give effect to such entries, the individual
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shareholder must establish a share account with a Norwegian account agent. Norwegian banks, Norges Bank
(that is, Norway’s central bank), authorized securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit
institutions established within the EEA are allowed to act as account agents.
The entry of a transaction in the VPS is prima facie evidence in determining the legal rights of parties as against
the issuing company or any third party claiming an interest in the given security. A transferee or assignee of
shares may not exercise the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares unless such transferee or assignee
has registered such shareholding or has reported and shown evidence of such share acquisition, and the
acquisition is not prevented by law, by the relevant company’s general meeting, or otherwise.
The VPS is liable for any loss suffered as a result of faulty registration or an amendment to, or deletion of, rights
in respect of registered securities unless the error is caused by matters outside the VPS’s control, of which the
VPS could not reasonably be expected to avoid or overcome the consequences. Damages payable by the VPS
may, however, be reduced in the event of contributory negligence by the aggrieved party.
The VPS must provide information to the Norwegian FSA on an on-going basis, as well as any information that
the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority requests. Further, Norwegian tax authorities may require certain
information from the VPS regarding any individual’s holdings of securities, including information about
dividends and interest payments.
15.4

Shareholder register

Under Norwegian law, shares are registered in the name of the beneficial owner of the shares. As a general rule,
there are no arrangements for nominee registration, and Norwegian shareholders are not allowed to register their
shares in VPS through a nominee. However, foreign shareholders may register their shares in the VPS in the
name of a nominee (bank or other nominee) approved by the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority. An
approved and registered nominee has a duty to provide information on demand about beneficial shareholders to
the company and to the Norwegian authorities. In case of registration by nominees, the registration in the VPS
must show that the registered owner is a nominee. A registered nominee has the right to receive dividends and
other distributions but cannot vote in general meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners.
15.5

Foreign investment in Norwegian shares

Foreign investors may trade shares listed on Oslo Børs/Oslo Axess through any broker who is a member of Oslo
Børs, whether Norwegian or foreign.
15.6

Insider trading

Pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, subscription for, purchase, sale or exchange of financial
instruments that are listed, or subject to the application for listing, on a Norwegian regulated market, or
incitement to such dispositions, must not be undertaken by anyone who has inside information, as defined in
section 3-2 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The same applies to the entry into, purchase, sale, or
exchange of options or futures/forward contracts or equivalent rights whose value is connected to such financial
instruments or incitement to such dispositions.
15.7

Disclosure obligations

Pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a person, entity, or group acting in concert that acquires or
disposes shares or rights to shares (i.e., convertible loans, subscription rights, options for shares or other similar
rights to shares) which results in beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, reaching or
exceeding or falling below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 1/3, 50%, 2/3, and 90% of the
share capital or a corresponding portion of the votes in a company whose shares are listed on Oslo Børs or Oslo
Axess is obligated to notify the Stock Exchange and the company (issuer) immediately.
Certain voting rights are counted on equal basis as shares and rights to shares. A change in ownership level due
to other circumstances (i.e., other than acquisition or disposal) can also trigger the notification obligations when
the said thresholds are passed, e.g., changes in the company’s share capital.
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15.8

Mandatory offer requirement

Pursuant to the Securities Trading Act, any person, entity, or group acting in concert that acquires shares
representing more than 1/3 (with a repeated obligation at 40% and at 50%) of the voting rights of a Norwegian
company whose shares are listed on Oslo Børs or Oslo Axess is obliged to make an unconditional general offer
for the purchase of the remaining shares in the company within four weeks or, within the same period, dispose of
a number of voting shares which brings the percentage of voting rights down to or below 1/3.
The shareholder must, immediately upon reaching any of the said thresholds, notify the Company and Oslo Børs
accordingly and of whether it will make a mandatory offer or perform a sell-down. A notice informing about a
disposal can be altered to a notice of making an offer within the four week period, while a notice stating that the
shareholder will make an offer cannot be amended and is thus binding. The mandatory offer obligation ceases to
apply if the person, entity, or consolidated group notifies the Company and Oslo Børs of its decision to sell down
and then sells the portion of the shares that exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks of the date on which
the mandatory offer obligation was triggered.
An offer is subject to approval by Oslo Børs before submission of the offer to the shareholders or made public.
The offer price per share must be at least as high as the highest price paid or agreed to be paid by the offeror in
the six-month period prior to the date the 1/3 threshold was exceeded, but at least equal to the market price, if it
is clear that the market price was higher when the mandatory offer obligation was triggered. If the acquirer
acquires or agrees to acquire additional shares at a higher price prior to the expiration of the mandatory offer
period, the acquirer is obliged to restate its offer at such higher price. A mandatory offer must be unconditional
and in cash (NOK), but it may contain a consideration alternative at least equivalent to the cash consideration
offered. Until an offer has been made or a disposal completed, the shareholder will have no voting rights or other
rights relating to the shares exceeding the offer threshold, apart from the right to receive dividends and preemption rights in the event of a share capital increase. In case of the failure to make a mandatory offer or to sell
the portion of the shares that exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks, the Oslo Børs may force the
acquirer to sell the shares exceeding the threshold by public auction.
Any person, entity, or consolidated group that has passed any of the above mentioned thresholds in such a way
as not to trigger the mandatory bid obligation, and that has therefore not previously made an offer for the
remaining shares in the company in accordance with the mandatory offer rules is, as a main rule, obliged to make
a mandatory offer in the event of a subsequent acquisition of shares in the company.
The Company has not received any takeover bids or bids to acquire controlling interest during the last 12
months.
15.9

Compulsory acquisition

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act and the Securities Trading Act, a shareholder who,
directly or through subsidiaries, acquires shares representing 90% or more of the total number of issued shares in
a Norwegian public limited liability company, as well as 90% or more of the total voting rights, has a right, and
each remaining minority shareholder of the company has a right to require such majority shareholder, to effect a
compulsory acquisition for cash of the shares not already owned by such majority shareholder. Through such
compulsory acquisition, the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the remaining shares with immediate
effect.
A majority shareholder who effects a compulsory acquisition is required to offer the minority shareholders a
specific price per share, the determination of which is at the discretion of the majority shareholder. Should any
minority shareholder not accept the offered price, such a minority shareholder may, within a specified deadline
not to be of less than two months’ duration, request that the price be set by the Norwegian courts. Absent such
request or other objection to the price being offered, the minority shareholders would be deemed to have
accepted the offered price after the expiry of the two-month deadline. The cost of such court procedures would,
as a general rule, be for the account of the majority shareholder, and the courts would have full discretion in
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respect of the valuation of the Shares as per the effectuation of the compulsory acquisition within the scope of
the real value of the Shares.
In event a shareholder, directly or through subsidiaries, exceeds the 90% threshold by way of a mandatory offer
in accordance with the Securities Trading Act, and a compulsory acquisition is resolved within three months,
then the share price in the compulsory acquisition shall be equal to the price in the mandatory offer if no special
circumstances call for a different price. Further, if the 90% threshold is exceeded by way of a voluntary offer, the
compulsory acquisition may, subject to the following conditions, be carried out without such shareholder being
obliged to make a mandatory offer: (i) the compulsory acquisition is commenced no later than four weeks after
the acquisition of shares through the voluntary offer, (ii) the price offered per share is equal to or higher than
what the offer price would have been in a mandatory offer, and (iii) the settlement is guaranteed by a financial
institution according to the rules for mandatory offers.
15.10

Foreign exchange controls

There are currently no foreign exchange control restrictions in Norway that would potentially restrict the
payment of dividends to a shareholder outside Norway, and there are currently no restrictions that would affect
the right of shareholders of a Norwegian company who are not residents in Norway to dispose of their shares and
receive the proceeds from a disposal outside Norway. There is no maximum transferable amount either to or
from Norway, although transferring banks are required to submit reports on foreign currency exchange
transactions into and out of Norway into a central data register maintained by the Norwegian customs and excise
authorities. The Norwegian police, tax authorities, customs and excise authorities, the National Insurance
Administration and the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority have electronic access to the data in this
register.
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16

TAXATION

Set out below is a summary of certain Norwegian tax matters related to the holding of subscription rights and
Shares in the Company. The summary is based on Norwegian laws, rules, and regulations applicable as of the
date of this Prospectus, and it may be subject to changes in law occurring after such date. Such changes may be
made on a retroactive basis. The summary does not address foreign tax laws.
The summary is of a general nature and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the
Norwegian tax considerations that may be relevant for a decision to acquire, own or dispose of Shares.
Shareholders who wish to clarify their own tax situation should consult with and rely upon their own tax
advisers. Shareholders resident in jurisdictions other than Norway and shareholders who cease to be resident in
Norway for tax purposes (because of domestic tax law or tax treaty) should consult with and rely upon their own
tax advisers with respect to the tax position in their country of residence and the tax consequences related to
ceasing to be resident in Norway for tax purposes.
Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, a reference to a Norwegian or foreign shareholder refers
to the tax residency rather than the nationality of the shareholder.
16.1
16.1.1

Norwegian shareholders
Taxation of dividends

Norwegian Individual Shareholders
Dividends received by shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes (“Norwegian
Individual Shareholders”) are taxable as ordinary income for such shareholders at a flat rate of currently 27% to
the extent the dividends exceed a tax-free allowance, provided that the dividends are lawful pursuant to
accounting and company law. Otherwise, no allowance will be granted.
The allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis. The allowance for each share is equal to the cost price of
the share multiplied by a determined risk-free interest rate based on the effective rate after tax of interest on
treasury bills (Norwegian: “statskasseveksler”) with three months’ maturity. For 2013, the risk-free interest rate
is set at 1.1%. The allowance is calculated for each calendar year, and it is allocated solely to Norwegian
Individual Shareholders holding shares as of 31 December of the relevant income year. Norwegian Individual
Shareholders who transfer shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated allowance related to the year
of transfer. Any part of the calculated allowance in one year exceeding the dividend distributed on the share
(“excess allowance”) may be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on, or gains upon
realization of, the same share. Any excess allowance will also be included in the basis for calculating the
allowance on the same share in the following years.
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders
Dividends received by shareholders that are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities) resident in
Norway for tax purposes (“Norwegian Corporate Shareholders”) are in principle taxable as ordinary income for
such shareholder. However, only 3% of dividends on shares qualifying for the participation exemption method
should be included in the calculation of ordinary income, provided that the dividends are lawful pursuant to
accounting and company law. Otherwise, the dividend is taxed in full as ordinary income. Ordinary income is
subject to tax at a flat rate of currently 27%, implying that dividends from shares qualifying under the
participation exemption method are effectively taxed at a rate of 0.81%. The participation exemption for
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders applies regardless of the number of shares held in the Company.
Shares owned through partnerships
Partnerships are, as a general rule, transparent for Norwegian tax purposes. Taxation occurs at the level of
Norwegian taxable partners, and each Norwegian partner is taxed on a current basis for its proportional share of
the net income generated by the partnership at a rate of currently 27%, regardless of whether such income is
distributed to the partners or not. However, only 3% of dividends received by the partnership from shares
qualifying under the participation exemption method shall be entered as ordinary income and taxed at the normal
tax rate on the hands of the Norwegian partners, cf. the description of tax issues related to corporate shareholders
above.
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For partners who are Norwegian individuals, further taxation occurs when the dividends received are distributed
from the partnership to such partners. Such distributions will be taxed as ordinary income at a rate of currently
27%. The Norwegian individual partners will be entitled to deduct a calculated allowance when calculating their
taxable income. For partners who are Norwegian companies etc., 3 % of the distributions are taxed as ordinary
income.
16.1.2 Capital gains tax
Norwegian Individual Shareholders
Sale, non-proportionate redemption, or other types of disposal of shares is considered as realization for
Norwegian tax purposes. A capital gain or loss generated by a Norwegian Individual Shareholder through
realization of shares is taxable or tax deductible in Norway. Such capital gain or loss is included in or deducted
from the shareholder’s ordinary income in the year of disposal. Ordinary income is taxable at a rate of currently
27%. The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per share, as the difference between the consideration for the
share and the Norwegian Individual Shareholder’s cost price of the share, including any costs incurred in relation
to the acquisition or realization of the share. From this capital gain, Norwegian Individual Shareholders are
entitled to deduct a calculated allowance, provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce at
taxable dividend income. See “Norwegian Individual Shareholders” under section 16.1.1 “Taxation of
dividends” of this Prospectus above for a description of the calculation of the allowance. The allowance may
only be deducted in order to reduce a taxable gain, and cannot increase or produce a deductible loss, i.e., any
unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the realization of a share will be annulled.
If the Norwegian Individual Shareholder owns shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were
acquired first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis.
Norwegian corporate shareholders
Sale, non-proportionate redemption or other types of disposal of shares is considered realization for Norwegian
tax purposes. Capital gains derived from the realization of shares qualifying for the participation exemption
method are exempted from taxation. Losses and related costs incurred upon realization of such shares are not
deductible.
Shares owned through partnerships
Partnerships are, as a general rule, transparent for Norwegian tax purposes, and taxation occurs at partner level
on a current basis. Due to the participation exemption method, capital gains on qualifying shares, etc., derived by
the partnership are not taxed on a current basis.
For partners who are Norwegian individuals, taxation occurs when the capital gains received by the partnership
are distributed from the partnership to such partners. Such distributions will be taxed as general income at a rate
of currently 27%. The Norwegian individual partners will be entitled to deduct a calculated allowance when
calculating their taxable income. For partners who are Norwegian companies, etc., 3% of the distributions are
taxed as ordinary income.
16.1.3

Net wealth tax

The value of shares and subscription rights is included in the basis for the computation of wealth tax imposed on
Norwegian Individual Shareholders. Currently, the marginal wealth tax rate is 1% of the value assessed. The
value for assessment purposes of shares and subscription rights listed on the Oslo Børs is the listed value as of 1
January in the year of assessment.
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are in general not subject to wealth tax.
16.2
Foreign shareholders
16.2.1 Taxation of dividends
Foreign Individual Shareholders
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Dividends distributed to shareholders who are individuals not resident in Norway for tax purposes (“Foreign
Individual Shareholders”) are, as a general rule, subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The withholding tax
rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which the shareholder
is resident. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends.
Foreign Individual Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes may apply individually to Norwegian
tax authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the calculated tax-free allowance in respect of each
individual share (see above), provided that the dividends are lawful pursuant to accounting and company law.
Foreign Individual Shareholders who have been subject to a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable
tax treaty may apply individually to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax
withheld.
Foreign Corporate Shareholders
Dividends distributed to shareholders that are limited liability companies not resident in Norway for tax purposes
(“Foreign Corporate Shareholders”) are, as a general rule, subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The
withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which
the shareholder is resident.
Dividends distributed to Foreign Corporate Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes are exempt
from Norwegian tax provided that the shareholder is the owner of the shares for tax purposes and that the
shareholder is genuinely established and performs genuine economic business activities within the relevant EEA
jurisdiction.
If the Foreign Corporate Shareholder holds the shares in connection with business activities in Norway, taxation
will be as described for Norwegian Corporate Shareholders in section 16.1 “Norwegian shareholders” above.
Foreign Corporate Shareholders who have been subject to a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable
tax treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax withheld. The
same applies to Foreign Corporate Shareholders within the EEA that are exempt from Norwegian tax on
dividends, pursuant to the participation exemption rules.
Nominee registered shares will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25% unless the nominee has obtained
approval from the Norwegian Directorate of Taxes for the dividend to be subject to a lower withholding tax rate.
The withholding obligation in respect of dividends distributed to Foreign Corporate Shareholders and on
nominee registered shares lies with the company distributing the dividends.
16.2.2 Capital gains tax
Foreign Individual Shareholders
Gains from the sale or other type of disposal of shares in the Company by a Foreign Individual Shareholder will
not be subject to taxation in Norway unless the Foreign Individual Shareholder holds the shares in connection
with business activities carried out in or managed from Norway.
Foreign Corporate Shareholders
Capital gains derived from the sale or other type of realization of shares in the Company by Foreign Corporate
Shareholders are not subject to taxation in Norway.
16.2.3

Net wealth tax

Shareholders not resident in Norway for tax purposes are generally not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax.
Foreign Individual Shareholders may, however, be taxable if the shareholding is effectively connected to the
conduct of trade or business in Norway.
16.2.4

Inheritance tax

Effective 1 January 2014, there is no inheritance tax in Norway.
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16.3

Duties on the transfer of shares

No stamp or similar duties are currently imposed in Norway on the transfer or issuance of shares in Norwegian
companies.
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LEGAL MATTERS

None of the companies in the Group are, or have been, during the 12 months preceding the date of this
Prospectus, party to, or the subject of, any legal or arbitration proceedings including any such proceedings that
are pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware that may have, or have had in the recent past, significant
effects on the Company and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability. None of the companies in the
Group is aware of any such legal or arbitration proceedings being threatened.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

18.1

Documents on display

For the life of this Prospectus, the following documents (or copies thereof) are referred to and available for
inspection at Opera’s homepage at www.opera.com and Opera’ offices at Gjerdrums vei 19, N-0484 OSLO,
Norway, telephone number: (+47) 23 69 24 00:

18.2



The memorandum of incorporation and Articles of Association of the Company,



All reports, letters, valuations, and other documents and statements prepared by any expert at
Company’s request any part of which is included or referred to in the Prospectus, and



The historical financial information of the Company and its main subsidiary undertakings for each of
the three financial years preceding the publication of this Prospectus and the Company’s quarterly
report for Q1 2014.
Incorporation by reference

The information incorporated by reference in this Prospectus shall be read in connection with the cross-reference
list set out in the table below. Except as provided in this section, no information is incorporated by reference in
this Prospectus.
All the relevant information can be found on the Company’s webpage at www.opera.com.
Reference

Section in
Prospectu
s
10, 11, 12

Incorporated
by reference

Website

The
consolidated
financial
information in
the Company’s
annual report
for 2013

http://www.operasoftware.com/content/download/5
088/187882/version/2/file/annual-report.pdf

The Company’s
audited annual report
for 2012, including an
overview of the
Company’s accounting
policy, explanatory
notes, report on
corporate governance,
and auditor’s report

10, 11, 12

The
consolidated
financial
information in
the Company’s
annual report
for 2012

http://www.operasoftware.com/content/download/3
855/65856/version/3/file/annual-report.pdf

The Company’s
audited annual report
for 2011 including an
overview of the
Company’s accounting
policy, explanatory
notes, report on
corporate governance,
and auditor’s report

10, 11, 12

The
consolidated
financial
information in
the Company’s
annual report
for 2011

http://www.operasoftware.com/content/download/3
247/56062/version/1/file/annual-report.pdf

The Company’s
unaudited first quarter
report for 2014

10, 11, 12

The
consolidated
financial

http://www.operasoftware.com/content/download/5
167/188292/version/2/file/1Q14.pdf

The Company’s
audited annual report
for 2013, including an
overview of the
Company’s accounting
policy, explanatory
notes, report on
corporate governance,
and auditor’s report
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information in
the Company’s
quarterly report
for Q1 2014

18.3

Third-party information

In certain sections of the Prospectus, information sourced from third parties has been reproduced. In such cases,
the source of the information is always identified. Such third-party information has been accurately reproduced.
As far as the Company is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by the relevant third party,
no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS

AGM

Annual general meeting

Anti-Corruption Laws

The Norwegian Criminal Act, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
and other local laws

ARPU

Average revenue per user

Articles or Articles of Association

The articles of association of Opera Software ASA, as amended and
restated from time to time

Board or Board of Directors

The board of directors of the Company, as constituted from time to
time

BREW

Binary Runtime Environment for Wireless

CAGR

Compound annual growth rate

CAPEX

Capital expenditures

CET

Central European Time (GMT+0100)

Code

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance

Co-lead Managers

DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA, and Goldman Sachs
International

Company

Opera Software ASA, a Norwegian public limited company

CSS

Cascading style sheets

DSP

Demand-side platforms

EBITDA

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization

EBIT

Earnings before interest and tax

EICT

The European
Technologies

EMEA

Europe, Middle East, and Africa

EU/EEA

European Union/European Economic Area

Excess allowance

Calculated allowance in one year, exceeding the dividend distributed
on a share

Executive Team

Opera’s chief operating decision makers

EUR

Euro, the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of the
Economic and Monetary Union to the Treaty establishing the
European Economic Community, as amended by the Treaty on the
European Union

Foreign Corporate Shareholders

Shareholders who are limited liability companies not resident in
Norway for tax purposes

Foreign Individual Shareholders

Shareholders who are individuals not residents in Norway for tax
purposes
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Center

for

information

and

Communication

Forward-looking statements

Statements relating to, without limitation, projections and
expectations regarding the Company’s future financial position,
business strategy, plans and objectives

FY

Financial year

GBP

The currency of the United Kingdom, (British Pound Sterling)

Group

Opera Software ASA together with Hern Labs AB, Opera Distribution
AS, Netview Technology AS and Opera Software International AS
(which, in turn, includes the subsidiaries Opera Software Korea Ltd,
Opera Software Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd, Opera Software
Poland Sp. z o.o, Opera Software Singapore PTE. LTD., AdMarvel,
Inc., LLC Opera Software (Russia), LLC Opera Software Ukraine,
Opera Software Iceland ehf, Opera Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd,
Handster, Inc., Mobile Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising Ltd, 4th
Screen Advertising Holdings Ltd, Skyfire Labs, Inc., Opera Software
Inter-national US, Inc., Opera Mediaworks, LLC., Opera Mediawork
Performance, LLC, OM¬WMSG, LLC, Opera Holdings Ireland
Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ireland Limited, Opera Software Ireland
Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ad Exchange, Inc., Opera Software
Netherland BV, Opera Software Americas, LLC., Opera Commerce,
LLC., Huntmads SA, Foriades Park SA, Hunt Mobile Ads SA de CV,
Hunt Mobile Ads aplicativos para internet Ltda, Hunt Mobile Ads
Panamá Corp., and the limited company Beijing Yuege Software
Technology Service Co., Ltd. (of which Opera have full control)

HbbTV

Hybrid broadcast broadband TV

HTML

Hypertext markup language

IAS

International accounting standards

IFRIC

IFRS Interpretations Committee

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU

ISIN

Securities number in the Norwegian Registry of Securities (VPS)

IT

Information Technology

Joint Bookrunners

Responsible for running the books through the book building period;
ABG Sundal Collier Norge ASA, Morgan Stanley & Co. International
plc, DNB Markets and Goldman Sachs International

Joint Global Coordinators

Lead managers of the global offering; ABG Sundal Collier Norge
ASA and Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc

LIBOR

The London Interbank Offered Rate; the reference interest rate quoted
between banks in London

Listing

The listing of the Shares of Opera Software ASA on Oslo Børs

MP&A Bonus

Bonus related to revenues from Opera’s mobile publisher and
advertiser (Opera publisher partner members) business

NOK

The Norwegian kroner, the lawful currency of the Kingdom of
Norway (Norwegian: “krone”)

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders

Shareholders that are limited liability companies (and certain similar
entities) resident in Norway for tax purposes
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Norwegian Individual Shareholders

Shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes

Norwegian Securities Trading Act

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75

ODM

Original device manufacturer

OEM

Original equipment manufacturer

OIPF

Open IPTV Forum

O&O Bonus

Bonus related to revenues from Opera’s owned and operated mobile
properties

Opera

Opera Software ASA

the Opera Platform

Browser solution directed towards mobile operators

Oslo Børs

Oslo Stock Exchange, owned and operated by Oslo Børs VPS
Holding ASA (see www.oslobors.no)

PC

Personal Computer

Placement Shares

New ordinary Shares in the Company with a par value of NOK 0.02
issued in connection with a private placement

Private Placement

A private placement of 10 million completed 27 June 2014

Prospectus

This Prospectus prepared in connection with the Listing of the
Placement Shares on Oslo Børs

QIBs

Qualified Institutional buyers, as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S.
Securities Act

Registrar / VPS Registrar

DNB Bank ASA

R&D

Research and development services

RSU

Restricted stock units

SDK

Software developer kit

Shareholders

Person or legal entity registered in the VPS Register as holder of a
Share

Shares

A share of par value NOK 0.02 in the capital of the Company

Skyfire

Skyfire Labs, Inc.

Stock Incentive Program

The program to grant options to executive officers and other
employees as approved by the annual general meeting of 2011

TNMM

Transactional net margin method

U.S.

The United States

USD

The United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of
America

US GAAP

The Generally Accepted Accounting Principles of United States of
America

U.S. Securities Act

The U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended
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VPS account

An account held with the VPS Register to register ownership of
securities

VPS/VPS Register

Oslo Børs VPS Holding ASA, the Norwegian Central Securities
Depository

YoY

Year over year

YTD

Year to date
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VEDTEKTER
FOR
OPERA SOFTWARE ASA
(sist endret 4. juli 2014)

§ 1. Selskapets navn skal være OPERA SOFTWARE ASA. Selskapet er et
allmennaksjeselskap.
§ 2. Selskapets forretningskontor er i Oslo kommune.
§ 3. Selskapets virksomhet skal være å utvikle, produsere og selge programvare og tilhørende
tjenester, samt hva hermed står i forbindelse, herunder å delta i andre selskaper og annen
virksomhet med tilsvarende formål.
§ 4. Selskapets aksjekapital er NOK 2.852.544.76 fordelt på 142.627.238 aksjer à NOK 0,02.
Selskapets aksjer er registrert i Verdipapirsentralen.
§ 5. Selskapets styre skal bestå av 5 til 10 medlemmer, etter generalforsamlingens nærmere
beslutning. Medlemmene velges for en periode på to år, med mindre generalforsamlingen
beslutter en kortere periode.
§ 6. Den ordinære generalforsamling skal behandle:
1. Godkjennelse av årsregnskapet og årsberetningen
2. Anvendelsen av overskudd eller dekning av underskudd i henhold til den fastsatte
balanse, samt utdeling av utbytte
3. Valg av styre
4. Andre saker som i henhold til lov hører under generalforsamlingen
Innkallingen til generalforsamlingen skal være sendt 21 dager før møtet skal holdes.
Generalforsamlingen kan med flertall som for vedtektsendring og med virkning frem til den
neste ordinære generalforsamlingen beslutte at innkalling til ekstraordinær generalforsamling
skal være sendt senest to uker før møtet skal holdes.
§ 7. Selskapets aksjer er fritt omsettelige.
§ 8. Selskapet skal ha en valgkomité. Valgkomiteens oppgave skal være å avgi innstilling til
generalforsamlingen om valg av aksjonærvalgte medlemmer og varamedlemmer til styret og
om honorar til styrets medlemmer. Valgkomiteen kan ikke foreslå egne komitemedlemmer
som kandidater til Selskapets styre. Valgkomiteen skal videre foreslå medlemmer til
Valgkomiteen. Valgkomiteen skal bestå av tre til fem medlemmer som skal være aksjeeiere
eller representanter for aksjeeiere. I tillegg kan det velges inntil tre til fem personlige
varamedlemmer.
Valgkomiteens
medlemmer
og
varamedlemmer
velges
av
generalforsamlingen for perioder på to år av gangen.

§ 9. Styret kan beslutte at aksjeeierne skal kunne delta på generalforsamlingen ved bruk av
elektroniske hjelpemidler, herunder at de kan utøve sine rettigheter som aksjeeiere
elektronisk.
Styret kan bare treffe beslutning om adgang til elektronisk deltagelse på generalforsamlingen
etter første ledd dersom det sørger for forsvarlig avholdelse av generalforsamlingen og at det
foreligger systemer som sikrer at lovens krav til generalforsamling er oppfylt. Systemene må
sikre at deltagelsen og stemmegivningen kan kontrolleres på en betryggende måte, og det må
benyttes en betryggende metode for å autentisere avsenderen.
§ 10. Når dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal behandles på generalforsamlingen er gjort
tilgjengelige for aksjeeierne på selskapets internettsider, gjelder ikke lovens krav om at
dokumentene skal sendes til aksjeeierne. Dette gjelder også dokumenter som etter lov skal
inntas i eller vedlegges innkallingen til generalforsamlingen. En aksjeeier kan likevel kreve å
få tilsendt dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal behandles på generalforsamlingen.
Selskapet kan ikke kreve noen form for godtgjøring for å sende dokumentene til aksjeeierne.
Innkallingen til generalforsamling skal opplyse om internettadressen og annen informasjon
aksjeeierne må ha for å få tilgang til dokumentene på selskapets internettsider, samt
informasjon om hvor aksjeeierne kan henvende seg for å få tilsendt dokumentene.
§ 11. For øvrig henvises til den enhver tid gjeldende aksjelovgivning.
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CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

Note

2013

2012

1, 2, 5

300.1

216.0

300.1

216.0

1, 2, 5

58.2

24.9

Payroll and related expenses

3, 5

108.6

94.7

Depreciation expenses

5, 7

20.8

9.7

3, 4, 5, 7, 14

50.8

36.4

238.3

165.8

61.8

50.2

2.5

12.8

59.3

37.4
1.3

Numbers in MUSD
Revenue
Total operating revenue
Cost of goods sold

Other operating expenses

Consolidated group
annual accounts report 2013
Opera Software ASA
The consolidated group annual accounts report for Opera Software ASA contains the following documents:
•
•
•
•
•

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of financial position
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated notes to the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements, which have been drawn up by the Board and management, should be read in
relation to the Annual Report and the independent auditor’s opinion.

Total operating expenses
Results from operating activities (“EBIT”),
excl. restructuring costs
Costs for restructuring the business

12

Results from operating activities (“EBIT”)
Interest income

5

2.2

Other financial income

5

15.9

1.8

Interest expenses

5

-4.2

-0.1

Interest expense related to contingent consideration

11

-17.0

-7.7

FX gains/losses related to contingent consideration, net

11

-6.3

1.4

Revaluation of contingent consideration

11

28.8

0.2

Other financial expenses

5

-7.8

-5.1

Share of the profit/loss of associates accounted for using the
equity method

8

-3.3

-3.7

67.5

25.6

7.2

8.6

60.3

17.0

Foreign currency translation differences
for foreign operations

-0.2

4.4

Total comprehensive income for the period

60.1

21.4

Owners of the Company

60.3

17.0

Non-controlling interest

0.0

0.0

60.3

17.0

Owners of the Company

60.1

21.4

Non-controlling interest

0.0

0.0

60.1

21.4

Profit before income tax
Income tax on ordinary result

6

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income may be
reclassified to profit and loss:

Profit attributable to:

Profit for the period
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Total comprehensive income for the period
Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share (USD)

15

0.490

0.143

Diluted earnings per share (USD)

15

0.479

0.140
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CONSOLIDATED GROUP

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Consolidated statement of financial position

Numbers in MUSD

Note

Consolidated statement of financial position

12/31/2013

12/31/2012

Assets

Goodwill

7, 8

149.5

70.3

Other intangible assets

7, 8

46.6

12.5

Total intangible assets

196.2

82.8

7

Total property, plant and equipment

15.4

15.8

15.4

15.8

Financial assets and deferred tax assets

Other investments and deposits

6

23.6

3.8

8, 10

0.1

2.1

4, 8, 10

4.9

3.6

28.6

9.4

240.1

108.0

Total financial assets and deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets

0.4

0.4

Share premium

184.2

81.9

Other reserves

18.9

17.0

203.6

99.3

Other equity

110.4

44.4

Total retained earnings

110.4

44.4

Total equity

314.0

143.8

Share capital

Retained earnings

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

5, 10

60.1

0.0

10, 11

14.8

26.1

74.9

26.1

10

22.2

19.6

6

20.2

7.7

9.8

5.9

Deferred revenue

5

17.9

11.2

Option liability

3

0.0

0.1

5, 10

29.1

22.4

10, 11

44.9

2.7

Total current liabilities

144.1

69.7

Total liabilities

219.0

95.8

Total equity and liabilities

533.0

239.5

Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

Trade and other receivables
Accounts receivable

9

Paid in capital

Total paid in capital

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in other shares

12/31/2012

Equity

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

12/31/2013

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities

Non-current assets

Office machinery, equipment, etc.

Note

Numbers in MUSD

Current liabilities

5, 10

61.5

35.2

Unbilled revenue

10

32.4

26.7

Taxes payable

Other receivables

6

35.6

12.4

Social security, VAT and other taxation payable

Total trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

5

129.5

74.3

163.4

57.2

Total current assets

292.9

131.5

Total assets

533.0

239.5

Accounts payable

Other short-term liabilities
Provisions

Oslo, April 10, 2014

Arve Johansen
Chairman

Audun Wickstrand Iversen

Kari Stautland

Marianne Blystad

Gregory Gerard Coleman

Erik Möller
Employee Representative

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza
Employee Representative

Krystian Kolondra
Employee Representative

Lars Boilesen
CEO
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CONSOLIDATED GROUP

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Consolidated statement of cash flows
1/1 - 12/31

1/1 - 12/31

Note

2013

2012

67.5

25.6

Taxes paid

6

-13.0

-9.2

Depreciation expenses

7

20.8

9.7

-0.0

0.1

0.0

3.0

-29.5

-24.3

-1.1

5.4

2.9

4.9

7.3

4.6

3

3.4

3.6

8, 11

-5.5

6.0

Conversion discrepancy

-3.1

8.1

Net cash flow from operating activities

49.5

37.6

Numbers in MUSD
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/loss before taxes

Profit/loss from sales of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of intangible assets

7, 12

Changes in accounts receivable **
Changes in accounts payable
Changes in other liabilities and receivables, net
Equity method accounting for associate companies
Share-based remuneration
Interest and FX related to contingent payment */***

8

Cash flow from investment activities
Capital expenditures

7

-10.2

-10.4

4, 7

-14.4

-3.4

Acquisitions ***

8

-62.7

-44.2

Other investments*****

8

-7.9

-4.9

-95.2

-62.9

Investment in R&D ****

Net cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of own shares (incentive program)

9

1.5

3.4

Proceeds of share issues, net (incentive program)

9

8.4

0.0

Proceeds of share issues, net (equity increase)

9

87.2

0.0

Proceeds from sale of shares

8

0.7

0.0

Proceeds from loans and borrowings

5

60.0

0.0

Payments of loans and borrowings

5

-1.6

0.0

Dividends paid

9

-4.4

-4.0

Purchase of own shares

9

0.0

0.0

Net cash flow from financing activities

151.9

-0.6

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

106.2

-25.9

57.2

83.1

163.4

57.2

Cash and cash equivalents (beginning of period)
Cash and cash equivalents ******

*Interest income and interest expenses are included in
the profit and loss. Interest paid and interest received
are recognized in the same year that interest income and
interest expenses are recognized in the profit and loss,
with the exception of interest related to re-evaluation of
the contingent payment related to acquisitions. Conversion differences and interest related to re-valuation of the
contingent payment are booked on a separate line as net
cash flow from operating activities.

tion deal. The payment has been included in acquisitions
in the statement of cash flows. Please see note 11 for
more information.

**Changes in unbilled revenue are included in changes in
accounts receivables in the statement of cash flows.

In 1Q 2013, a cash payment of MUSD 4.4, for an immaterial transaction, has been included in acquisitions in the
statement of cash flows. At the same time, a second payment of MUSD 3.0 was set in escrow and is to be released
if certain financial targets are achieved. Net cash of MUSD
1.9, existing on the day of acquisition, has been netted in
acquisitions in the statement of cash flows.

***On March 14, 2013, Opera Software ASA acquired
100% of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held company Skyfire Labs, Inc., following a payment
equivalent to MUSD 49.1 comprising MUSD 35.9 in cash
and MUSD 13.2 in shares (no cash-flow effect) of Opera
Software ASA. At the same time, a second payment of
MUSD 25.7 was set in escrow and is to be released if
certain financial targets are achieved. Net cash of MUSD
8.2 in Skyfire Labs, Inc., existing on the day of acquisition, has been netted in acquisitions in the statement of
cash flows.
In 2Q 2013, Opera paid the final part of the FY 2012 earnout payment of MUSD 0.5 related to the Mobile Theory
acquisition deal. The payment has been included in acquisitions in the statement of cash flows. Please see note 11
for more information.
In 1Q 2013, Opera paid the FY 2012 earnout payment of
MUSD 1.9 related to the 4th Screen Advertising acquisi-

In 1Q 2013, Opera paid the FY 2012 earnout payment
of MUSD 0.6 related to the Handster acquisition deal.
The payment has been included in acquisitions in
the statement of cash flows. Please see note 11 for
more information.

****In 2013, MUSD 14.4 (2012: 3.4) of Opera’s investment
in product development was capitalized in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
*****In 3Q 2013, Opera invested MUSD 5.7 in nHorizon
Innovation, of which MUSD 2.8 was payable in 4Q 2013.
This investment comes in addition to a loan of MUSD
2.3 granted in 4Q 2013. Please see note 8 for more for
more information.
******As of December 31, 2013, the conversion discrepancy profit booked on cash and cash equivalents was
MUSD -1.0, and the comparative number as of December
31, 2012, was MUSD 1.3.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Numbers in MUSD
Balance as of 12/31/2012

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Number
of shares

Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Reserve
for own
shares

Translation
reserve

Other
equity

Total
equity

Numbers in MUSD

119.2

0.4

77.3

17.6

-0.0

2.0

46.4

143.7

Balance as of 12/31/2011

Comprehensive income
for the period
60.3

60.3

Other comprehensive
income
-0.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-0.2

-0.2

60.3

60.1

Contributions by and
distributions to owners
-4.4
2.0

0.0

13.2

-4.4
13.2

Issue of ordinary shares
related to the incentive
program

2.7

0.0

8.4

8.4

Issue of ordinary shares
related to equity increase

8.0

0.0

87.2

87.2

Own shares acquired

0.0
0.3

0.0

Tax deduction on
equity bookings

0.9

Share-based
payment transactions
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

Translation
reserve

Other
equity

Total
equity

117.9

0.4

77.4

12.8

0.0

-2.4

29.4

117.5

17.0

17.0

Foreign currency
translation differences
Total comprehensive
income for the period

4.4
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.4

13.1

0.0

109.7

3.4

0.0

0.0

4.4
17.0

21.4

-4.0

-4.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

1.3

0.0

3.4

3.4

Tax deduction loss
own shares

0.7

0.7

Issue expenses

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4.8

0.1

4.9

0.0

0.0

Tax deduction on
equity bookings

3.4

Other equity changes

-2.9

110.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

132.3

0.4

186.9

20.9

0.0

1.8

103.8

314.0

Translation reserve
The translation reserve consists of all foreign currency
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.
Other equity
Other equity consists of all other transactions, including
but not limited to, total recognized income and expense
for the current period and excess value of the Company’s
own shares.

0.0

Share-based
payment transactions
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners

0.0

Reserve for own shares
The reserve for the Group’s own shares comprises the face
value cost of the Company’s shares held by the Company.

0.0

Own shares sold

0.9

0.0

Other reserves
Other reserves consist of option costs booked according
to the equity settled method and issued shares registered
in the period after the current financial year.

Own shares acquired

0.0

0.0

Face value of the shares
The face value of the shares is NOK 0.02.

Dividend to equity holders

1.5

3.4

Other changes

Balance as of 12/31/2013

Reserve
for own
shares

Profit for the period

1.5

Other equity changes
Total other
equity changes

Other
reserves

Contributions by and
distributions to owners

Dividend to equity holders

Own shares sold

Share
premium

Other comprehensive
income

Foreign currency
translation differences

Issue of ordinary shares
related to business combinations

Share
capital

Comprehensive income
for the period

Profit for the period

Total comprehensive
income for the period

Number
of shares

4.8
1.3

0.0

Other changes
Total other
equity changes
Balance as of 12/31/2012

0.0

4.8

0.0

0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

119.2

0.4

77.3

17.6

-0.0

2.0

46.4

143.8

86

87

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Note 1. Accounting principles
Opera Software ASA (the“Company”) is a company domiciled in Norway. The consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013,
comprise the Company, its subsidiaries Hern Labs AB,
Opera Distribution AS, Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software International AS (which, in turn, include the
subsidiaries Opera Software Korea Ltd, Opera Software
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd, Opera Software Poland Sp.
z o.o, Opera Software Singapore PTE. LTD., AdMarvel,
Inc., LLC Opera Software (Russia), LLC Opera Software
Ukraine, Opera Software Iceland ehf, Opera Web Technologies Pvt. Ltd, Handster, Inc., Mobile Theory, Inc., 4th
Screen Advertising Ltd, 4th Screen Advertising Holdings
Ltd, Skyfire Labs, Inc., Opera Software International US,
Inc., Opera Mediaworks, LLC., Opera Mediawork Performance, LLC, OMWMSG, LLC, Opera Holdings Ireland
Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ireland Limited, Opera Software Ireland Limited, Opera Mediaworks Ad Exchange,
Inc, Opera Software Netherland BV, Opera Software
Americas, LLC., Opera Commerce, LLC.), and the limited
company Beijing Yuege Software Technology Service Co.,
Ltd. (of which Opera had full control) together referred to
as the “Group”. In 2013, Opera Software International AS
had branches in Japan, Poland and Taiwan.
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the EU and the interpretations
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). The consolidated financial statements have also
been prepared according to applicable regulations and
paragraphs in the Norwegian Accounting Act and the relevant paragraph in the Securities Trading Act.
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
USD, rounded to the nearest million. They are prepared
on a historical cost basis.
Except for liabilities for derivative financial instruments,
cash-settled, share-based payment arrangements and
contingent considerations obtained in business combinations, no other assets or liabilities are stated at their fair
value. Assets and liabilities in the business combinations
are valued at fair value at the acquisition date according to
IFRS 13. No subsequent changes in fair value are recognized except for impairment losses. Receivables and debts
are assumed to have a market value equal to book value.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in
conformity with IFRS, requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form

the basis of making the judgments about carrying values
of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS,
which have a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements and estimates, with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year, are discussed in note 13.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently by
Group entities.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has not changed its accounting policies during
FY 2013 except for implementing IFRS 13. IFRS 13 is applicable from 2013. The new standard did not have significant effect for the group. Opera’s assets and liabilities to
be valued according to fair value are primarily level 3 valuations. Note 5 includes disclosures according to IFRS 13.
Opera does not have defined benefit plans for pensions. Hence, the amended IAS 19 has had no effect for
the company.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
Business combinations
From January 1, 2010, the Group has applied IFRS 3
Business Combinations (2008) in accounting for business
combinations. The change in accounting policy has been
applied prospectively and has had no material impact on
earnings per share.
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control
is the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable.
Acquisitions on or after January 1, 2010
For acquisitions on or after January 1, 2010, the Group
measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
• The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• The recognized amount of any non-controlling interests

in the acquiree, plus if the business combination is
achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity
interest in the acquire; less
• The net recognized amount (generally, fair value) of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is
recognized immediately in the profit or loss. The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the
settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts
are generally recognized in the profit or loss.
Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the
Group incurs in connection with a business combination
are expensed as incurred. Any contingent consideration
payable is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not
premeasured, and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognized in the profit or loss.
When share-based payment awards (replacement
awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by
the acquiree’s employees (acquirer’s awards) and relate to
past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the
acquiree’s replacement awards is included in measuring
the consideration transferred in the business combination.
This determination is based on the market-based value of
the replacement awards compared with the market-based
value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the
replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.
Acquisitions between January 1, 2004,
and January 1, 2010
For acquisitions between January 1, 2004, and January
1, 2010, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the recognized
amount (generally, fair value) of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When
the excess was negative, a bargain purchase gain was
recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Group incurred in
connection with business combinations, were capitalized
as part of the cost of the acquisition.
Acquisitions prior to January 1, 2004
(date of transition to IFRS)
As part of its transition to IFRS, the Group elected to restate only those business combinations that occurred on
or after January 1, 2004. A portion of the goodwill relates
to the purchase of Hern Labs AB. As the goodwill existed before January 1, 2004, the goodwill is based on the
amount recognized according to NGAAP. Goodwill from
the purchase of Hern Labs AB booked on December 31,
2010, has the same value as goodwill on January 1, 2004.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, potential voting rights that presently
are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which control ceases.
Loss of control
Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling
interests, and the other components of equity related to
the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss
of control is recognized in the profit or loss. If the Group
retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such
interest is measured at fair value at the date that control
is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.
Investments in associates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to
exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of
the voting power of another entity.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are recognized initially at cost. The cost of the investment includes
transaction costs.
The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income, after adjustments, to align the accounting policies
with those of the Group from the date that significant
influence or joint control commences until the date that
significant influence or joint control ceases.
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of that
interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced
to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation
or has made payments on behalf of the investee.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, any unrealized gains and losses, or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains,
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for
as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners,
and, therefore, no goodwill is recognized as a result of
such transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling
interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net
assets of the subsidiary.

of property, plant and equipment, the cost of replacing
part of such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is
probable that the future economic benefits embodied with
the item will flow to the Group, and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognized
in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense
as incurred.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to
functional currency at the foreign exchange rate prevailing
on that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on
translation are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rate prevailing on the
date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are translated to USD at foreign exchange rates
prevailing on the date the fair value was determined.
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from consolidation, are translated to USD at foreign exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to USD using
the approximate foreign exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction date. Foreign exchange differences arising
from re-translation are recognized directly in a separate
component of equity.			
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less
accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment
losses (see accounting policy regarding impairment).
Where parts of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
of property, plant and equipment.
Leased assets
Leases, where the Group assumes substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance
leases. The Group has only operational lease contracts
as of December 31, 2013. Expenses concerning the upgrading of leased premises have been capitalized and are
amortized over the remaining term of the contract.
Subsequent costs
The Group recognizes, in the carrying amount of an item

• Leasehold improvements
• Machinery and equipment
• Fixtures and fittings

Up to 6 years
Up to 10 years
Up to 5 years

The residual value, if not insignificant, is reassessed annually.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries
is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of
goodwill at initial recognition, see above.
Goodwill is stated at cost, less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units and is no longer amortized but is tested annually for
impairment (see accounting policy regarding impairment).
			
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognized
directly in the profit or loss.
Research and development
Expenses related to research activities, which are expected to lead to scientific or technological knowledge and
understanding, are recognized as costs in the statement
of comprehensive income in the period they are incurred.
The Company develops specifically designed browsers for
use in its customers’ products. A fee is paid to the Company for this service, and this fee should cover the costs
related to the development of these custom-made browsers. As the customer’s payment covers the development
costs, these costs are not reported in the statement of
financial position.
Cost of building new features, together with significant and
pervasive improvements of the core platform, provided
that the significant and pervasive improvements of parts or
main components of the core platform will generate probable future economic benefits, are capitalized as development costs and amortized on a straight-line, 3-year basis.
A significant portion of the work that engineering performs
(beyond specifically designed browsers) is related to the

implementation of the ongoing updates that are required
to maintain the browser’s functionality. Examples of updates include “bug fixes”, updates made to comply with
changes in laws and regulations, and updates made to
keep pace with the latest web trends. These costs are
expensed as maintenance costs.
Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, excluding deferred tax assets
(see accounting policy regarding income tax) that are acquired by the Group, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortization (see below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy regarding impairment).
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible assets
is capitalized only when it increases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.
All other expenditures are expensed as incurred.
Amortization
Amortization is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of intangible assets, unless such lives are
indefinite. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are systematically tested for impairment at
each balance sheet date.
			
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.
Non-derivative financial instruments are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those
non-derivative financial instruments classified as at fair
value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at
fair value without transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.
Derivative financial instruments
From time to time, the Group holds derivative financial
instruments to hedge its foreign currency exposures. Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; associated
transaction costs are recognized in the profit or loss when
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives
are measured at fair value, and changes in fair value are
recognized in the profit or loss. No hedge accounting has
been applied.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost
less impairment losses (see accounting policy
regarding impairment).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and
call deposits. Deposits in money market funds are included in cash and cash equivalents, as the funds can be
withdrawn from the money market fund at will.
IMPAIRMENT
Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows
of that asset.
Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated (see below).
For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. The cash-generating unit is considered to be the acquired companies except for Hern Labs
AB, Netview Technology AS and Opera Software Poland
Sp. z o.o. Please see note 8. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group
of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale
financial asset has been recognized directly in equity,
and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
the cumulative loss that had been recognized directly in
equity is recognized in the profit or loss even though the
financial asset has not been derecognized. The amount of
the cumulative loss that is recognized in the profit or loss
is the difference between the acquisition cost and current
fair value less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognized in the profit or loss.
Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the Group’s assets is the
greater of their fair value less cost of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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For an asset that does not generate largely independent
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
With respect to other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying
amount do not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on
their listed market price, if available. If a listed market price is
not available, then fair value is estimated by discounting the
difference between the contractual forward price and the
current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract
using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).
DIVIDENDS
Dividends on shares are recognized as a liability in the
period in which they are declared.
DISTRIBUTIONS OF NON-CASH ASSETS TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The Group book a liability to distribute non-cash assets
as a dividend to the owners of the Company at the fair
value. The carrying amount of the dividend is re-measured
at each reporting date and at the settlement date, with
any changes recognized directly in equity as adjustments
to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of the
transaction, the Group recognizes the difference, if any,
between the carrying amounts of the assets distributed
and the carrying amount of the liability in the profit or loss.
TREASURY SHARES
The purchase and sale of treasury shares have been recognized directly in equity.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS —
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit
plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized
as an employee benefit expense in the profit or loss in the
periods during which services are rendered by employees.
Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions to a defined contribution
plan that are due more than 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the service are
discounted to their present value.
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Restructuring
A provision for restructuring costs is recognized when the
Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring
plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has
been announced publicly. Further, operating losses are
not provided for.
TERMINATION BENEFITS
Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Group recognizes costs for a restructuring.
If benefits are not expected to be settled within 12 months
of the end of the reporting period, then they are discounted.
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
The share option program allows Group employees to
acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options
granted is recognized as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date and spread over the period during which the
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.
The fair value of the options granted is measured using
the Black & Scholes model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest, except
where forfeiture is only due to share prices not achieving
the threshold for vesting. For options granted between
March 2007 and June 15, 2010, 20% of the options vest
after one year, another 20% after two years, 25% after
three years and the last 35% after four years. For options
granted from June 16, 2010, 50% of the options vest after three years and the last 50% after four years. Option
costs related to the options granted in 2007-2013 are accrued according to the principle of graded vesting. Those
employees, who were granted options in 2007-2013, are
responsible for the social security taxes. Opera pays the
social security taxes but is reimbursed by the employee.
The employees can exercise the options until three years
after they have vested. This condition is included in the
calculation of the fair value of the options.
PROVISIONS
A provision is recognized in the statement of financial
position when the Group has a current existing legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
The fair value of a contingent consideration is calculated using the income approach based on the expected payment
amounts and their associated probabilities (i.e., probability-weighted). Since a part of the contingent consideration
is long-term in nature, it is discounted to present value.

WARRANTIES
A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based
on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.
ONEROUS CONTRACTS
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the
expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its
obligations under the contract.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Company has the following
of revenue:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

primary

sources

Licenses/royalties
Development fees
Maintenance, support and hosting
Search
Advertising
Application and content
Payment
Subscription

Opera’s main revenue recognition principles are as follows: Opera only recognizes revenues when: (i) persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists (signed agreement), (ii)
delivery of the product and/or service has occurred, (iii)
revenue is fixed and determinable, and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably and (iv) collection is
reasonably assured.
Licenses/royalties
Customer device agreements typically involve multiple
sources of revenue, including license/royalty income, development fees and maintenance and support. For customer contracts where development and customization
have already been completed, or, if no development or
customization is required, Opera typically recognizes license/royalty revenue in the same period as the customer
ships the devices with Opera preinstalled. In cases where
Opera is not preinstalled, Opera recognizes license/royalty income when the customer or customer’s customer
downloads the Opera browser to its device.
In some contracts, the customer prepays for a minimum
number of copies of the customized browser. Opera receives this license/royalty fee irrespective of whether the
customer actually uses or ships the number of minimum
licenses. Where there is significant customization of the
browser or significant engineering is required to port
the browser to the operating system, the prepaid minimum license/royalty fees are recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis along with the development fee

revenue. Where there is no customization, no significant
customization of the browser is required, or, if there is no
porting or no significant engineering is required to port the
browser to the operating system, the prepaid minimum
license/royalty fees are typically recognized when the
master copy of the product is delivered to the customer.
For certain agreements, a customer commits on contract
signature to pay, on an installment basis, for a fixed or unlimited number of licenses over an extended time period.
In these cases, provided that Opera has no substantive
customization obligations attached to these committed
licenses, Opera recognizes revenues on these licenses in
the accounting period in which the installment payment
is due from the customer, as these contracts include extended payment terms.
Opera also enters into customer agreements for a customer-branded or joint customer/Opera “co-branded”
version of our Opera Mini product offering (typically with
operators), where license/royalty income is generated
over a defined period predicated on the number of active
users of the browser in that period (where an active user
is generally defined as a user who uses the Opera Mini
browser to access the internet at least once in that period).
Opera also enters into agreements with operators where a
portion of revenue generated by the operator from data
services and content is shared with Opera. For these revenue-share agreements, Opera typically hosts the Opera
Mini solution and recognizes the revenue according to
revenue-share reports provided by the operator. For the
active user agreements, Opera typically hosts the Opera
Mini solution and recognizes the revenue based on the
active user information the Company has available from
its own computer servers. Opera also enters into customer agreements where the customer pays for delivery of
an unlimited number of copies of active user licenses in
a limited time frame with no future obligations for Opera.
These revenues are recognized on an installment basis, as
these contracts include extended payment terms. Some
customers also pay a fee that covers the set-up of the
co-branded Opera Mini product and the right to use the
co-branded product technology, links, trademarks, etc.,
as specified in the agreements. These revenues are typically recognized ratably over the term of the agreements.
Development fees
Development fees are recognized in the month the service
is provided. Development fees, or non-recurring engineering, where the Company customizes the browser for
its customers and/or ports the browser to an operating
system, typically spans a number of accounting periods.
Consequently, a portion of the revenue is taken each
period using the percentage of completion method. This
calculation is made by taking the total number of hours
delivered during an accounting period divided by the total
estimated hours to fulfill the terms of the contract. The
total estimated hours to fulfill the contract are constantly monitored by the Company and updated periodically
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where appropriate. The portion of income not yet invoiced
to the customer is presented as unbilled revenue. Percentage of completion calculations are made using the
contract currency and converted to USD.
Maintenance, support and hosting
Maintenance, support and hosting revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance, support
and hosting agreements with the customer.
Search
Search revenue is generated when an Opera user conducts a qualified search using an Opera search partner
(such as Google and Yandex) through the built-in combined address and search bar provided in Opera’s desktop and mobile browsers.
Advertising
Opera recognizes revenue based on the activity of mobile
users viewing ads through Opera-owned properties, developer applications and mobile websites. Our revenue
is recognized when our advertising services are delivered
based on the specific terms of the advertising contract,
which are commonly based on the number of ads delivered, or views, clicks or actions by users on mobile advertisements. At that time, our services have been provided,
the fees charged are fixed or determinable, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, and collectability is
reasonably assured.
Opera sells advertising on several bases: CPM (cost per
thousand), where Opera charges advertisers and recognizes revenue based on when an ad is delivered to a
consumer; CPC (cost per click), where Opera charges
advertisers and recognizes revenue for each ad clicked on
by a consumer; and CPA (cost per action), where Opera
charges advertisers and recognizes revenue each time a
consumer takes a specified action, such as downloading
an application. The vast majority of our revenue today
is earned on a CPM basis, although Opera expects advertising revenue delivered on a CPC and CPA basis to
increase in the future.
For the revenue generated through Opera-owned properties, revenue is reported on a gross basis, as Opera is
the principal in our transactions with advertisers. Opera is
responsible for identifying and contracting with third-party
advertisers, establishing the selling prices of the advertisements sold, and performing all billing and collection
activities, including retaining credit risk, as well as bearing
sole responsibility for fulfillment of the advertising. Accordingly, Opera acts as the principal in these arrangements
and, therefore, reports revenue earned and costs incurred
related to these transactions on a gross basis.
In the normal course of business, Opera acts as an intermediary in executing transactions with third parties. The
determination of whether revenue should be reported on a
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gross or net basis is based on an assessment of whether
Opera is acting as the principal or an agent in our transactions with advertisers. The determination of whether Opera
is acting as a principal or an agent in a transaction involves
judgment and is based on an evaluation of the terms of
each arrangement. While none of the factors individually
are considered presumptive or determinative, in reaching
our conclusions on gross versus net revenue recognition,
Opera places the most weight on the analysis of whether
Opera is the primary obligor in the arrangement. For
agreements where Opera has a contractual relationship
with both the publisher and the associated advertisement
supplier, Opera is responsible for identifying and contracting with third-party advertisers, establishing the selling
prices of the advertisements sold and performing all billing
and collection activities, including retaining credit risk, as
well as bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment of the advertising. Accordingly, Opera acts as the principal in these
arrangements and, therefore, reports revenue earned and
costs incurred related to these transactions on a gross
basis. For agreements where the publisher has a direct
contractual relationship with the advertiser, revenue is recognized on a net basis, as Opera is not the primary obligor
and does not assume the fulfillment and credit risk.
Opera also offers additional services to assist in both forecasting and/or transmission of information between publishers and advertisers. Opera recognizes revenue once
our services have been provided, the fees charged are
fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and collectability is reasonably assured.
Application and content
Content revenue is generated when a user purchases
a premium application from the Opera-branded Opera
Mobile Store (OMS) or a white-label, operator-controlled
version of the mobile store. When a transaction occurs in
OMS, Opera collects the payment and shares a percentage of the revenue with the developer. When a transaction occurs in an operator-controlled version of the mobile
store, two payment methods will exist. The user may pay
using the Opera Payment Exchange, in which case Opera
would collect and share a percentage of the revenue with
both the operator and the developer, or the user may use
a form of carrier billing, where the operator would collect
the payment and share a portion of the revenue with Opera, who would in turn share a percentage of revenue with
the developer. The revenue will occur on a transaction
basis, and the sales are booked as income in the period in
which the transaction occurs.
Payment
Payment revenue is generated through the Opera Payment Exchange (OPX), when a user completes a transaction using a payment service that was made available
via OPX. Opera generally receives a percentage of the
transaction value, and the income is booked in the period
in which the transaction occurs.

Subscription
Subscription revenue was generated by our FastMail
email service. FastMail was sold in 2013. FastMail provided both a paid premium subscription based email
service and a free email service. For FastMail’s paid
premium, subscription-based email service, the company offers subscription based options to customers
for a range of periods, generally one year, all of which
require payment in advance. Revenue is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the period in which the subscription relates. That portion of revenue recorded as
received in advance is carried on the balance sheet as
deferred income.
Bundled agreements
Some agreements are bundled agreements, where Opera receives a fee that covers development, licenses,
maintenance, and other services. The total fee is allocated to the different elements, if measurable, and the
allocated fee is recognized according to the principles
described above.
COST OF GOODS SOLD
Cost of goods sold comprises publisher costs and the
cost of licenses purchased from third-party suppliers.
Publisher costs consist of the agreed-upon payments
Opera makes to publishers for their advertising space, in
which we deliver mobile ads. These payments are typically determined in advance as either a fixed percentage of the advertising revenue we earn from mobile ads
placed on the publisher’s application or website or as a
fixed fee for that ad space. Opera recognizes publisher
cost at the same time we recognize the associated revenue. License costs are the costs of licenses purchased
from third-party suppliers.
OTHER INCOME (COSTS)
Material income and costs, which are not related to the
normal course of business, are classified as other operating income (cost).
EXPENSES
Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received
are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income
as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Dividend income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on the date upon which the entity’s
right to receive payments is established.
INCOME TAX
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises
current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity,
in which case it is recognized in equity.
			
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The following temporary differences are not
provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting or taxable profit, nor differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of
realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
			
A deferred tax asset is only recognized to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realized.				
Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognized at the same time as the liability
to pay the related dividend.
Taxes paid abroad for the parent company will be deducted in Norwegian taxes if the Company has taxes payable
in Norway. If Opera has no Norwegian taxes payable, the
taxes paid abroad will be carried forward as a deductible
in future taxes payable.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Net financing costs
Other finance income and costs comprise foreign exchange
gains and losses and contingent consideration, which are
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use
of financial instruments:

Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, using the effective
interest method.

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

94

95

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk
and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.
The Group’s risk management policies have been established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor
risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and the Group’s activities.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that exists due to the
potential failure of a customer or counterparty meeting
their contractual obligations. Credit risk arises principally
from the Group’s customer receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is primarily influenced
by the characteristics of each customer. The majority of
the Group’s customers are large global companies. Each
new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness, and large customers are arranged by region and
monitored by the account executive responsible for that
region. The guidelines for extending credit to customers
are determined by management and the credit risk exposure is evaluated continuously.
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that
represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
trade and other receivables. The main components of this
allowance are a specific loss component that relates to
individual exposures. The provision for bad debt is determined case by case upon evaluation of each customer in
addition to a collective loss component. The collective
loss allowance is determined based on historical data of
payment statistics for similar financial assets.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be
able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as
much as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
abnormal circumstances, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Board has instructed management to invest surplus
cash in instruments with low credit and liquidity risk. Investments are only made in funds operated by institutions
rated by S&P or Moody’s, with a minimum rating of BBB
or Baa2, respectively.
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such
as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices,
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings
of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures
within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
The majority of the financial risk that the Group carries,
as a result of its subsidiaries, relates to foreign exchange
fluctuations. The Group is exposed to currency risk on
both sales and purchases.
Capital management
In order to achieve the Company’s aggressive, long-term
objectives, the policy has been to maintain a solid equity-to-asset ratio and to maintain a strong capital base so
as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business.
The Company has issued options to its employees in
accordance with its objective that employees shall hold
company shares.
From time to time, the Group purchases its own shares
on the market, as determined by the Board of Directors,
if mandated by the General Assembly. These shares are
primarily intended to be used for issuing shares under the
Group’s share option program.
EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which include share
options granted to employees.
SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of the Group that
engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s
other components. Opera’s chief operating decision makers are members of the Executive Team. The Executive
Team meets regularly to review the period’s assets, liabilities, revenues and costs for the Group, as well as to make
decisions about how resources are to be allocated based
on this information.
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations are not yet effective for the year end-

ing December 31, 2013, and have not been applied in
preparing these consolidated financial statements.
The most significant new standards are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

IFRS 9 Financial instruments
IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of interest in other entities
IAS 27 Separate financial (amendments not yet adopted)
IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures
(amendments not yet adopted)

None of these is expected to have a significant effect on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Note 2. Revenue, cost of goods sold and segment information
The Group’s business activities stem from browser-related sales (i.e., revenue generated from Opera’s
owned-and-operated properties, such as license, search,
and advertising revenue) and advertising revenue generated from the Opera Advertising Network (i.e., non-Opera-owned-and-operated properties) primarily from
Opera’s AdMarvel, Mobile Theory, 4th Screen Advertising
and Opera Mediaworks subsidiaries.
Opera’s chief operating decision makers are members of
the Executive Team. The Executive Team meets regular-

ly to review the period’s assets, liabilities, revenues and
costs for the Group as a whole, as well as to make decisions about how resources are to be allocated based on
this information.

Cost of goods sold [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Publisher cost

58.1

24.9

0.0

0.0

Members of the Executive Team are specified in note 3.

Total

58.2

24.9

Based on the above, Opera has determined that it has
one segment. Please see note 1 for a definition of products andservices for each reportable segment.

Revenue by region [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

EMEA

104.0

78.1

Americas

166.3

107.0

29.9

31.0

300.1

216.0

Asia Pacific
Total

The geographical revenue breakdown reflects revenues
from external customers attributed to the entity’s country
of domicile. Consequently, the revenue breakdown reflects
the location of Opera’s customers and partners. Because
the products of Opera’s customers and partners are distributed globally, the breakdown above does not accurately
reflect where Opera’s derivative products are actually used.
In 2013, Opera had sales to one customer that account-

2012

Non-current assets located in Norway

25.3

17.8

Non-current assets located in foreign countries

191.2

86.4

Total

216.5

104.3

167.2 (2012: 70.6) of the total non-current assets.The
vast majority of the value is related to the acquisitions
described in more details in note 8.
A more detailed overview of the assets domiciled in Norway is provided in the “Statement of financial position” for
the parent company.

License cost is cost from the purchase of licenses from
third-party suppliers.

2013

2012

Licenses/royalties

84.2

67.3

Development fees

7.6

10.8

Maintenance, support and hosting

7.7

6.7

55.3

62.6

Revenues attributed to Norway for 2013 were MUSD 0.1
(2012: 0.2), and revenue attributed to all foreign countries
in total were MUSD 300.1 (2012: 215.9).
2012

that ad space. We recognize publisher cost at the same
time we recognize the associated revenue.

Revenue type [Numbers in MUSD]

ed for more than 10% of total Group revenues. The
customer’s FY 2013 revenue ranged between MUSD 35
and MUSD 40 in total. Revenue attributed to customers
domiciled in the United States amounted to MUSD 161.7
(2012: 104.0).

2013

Assets located in the United States account for MUSD

Publisher cost consists of the agreed-upon payments
we make to publishers for their advertising space in which
we deliver mobile ads. These payments are typically determined in advance as either a fixed percentage of the
advertising revenue we earn from mobile ads placed on
the publisher’s application or website or as a fixed fee for

Search

Non-current assets [Numbers in MUSD]

The breakdown above reflects non-current assets (other
than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets, and rights arising under insurance contracts) located in Norway and located in all
foreign countries.

License cost

Advertising

142.7

63.1

Application and content

1.6

4.3

Subscription

1.1

1.2

Other revenue

0.0

0.1

Total

300.1

216.0

Revenue customer type [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Mobile Operators

62.1

41.7

Mobile Consumers

37.9

19.5

119.1

54.1

Desktop Consumers

60.9

67.5

Device OEMs

18.3

28.2

Other

1.7

4.9

Total

300.1

216.0

Mobile Publishers and Advertisers

Mobile Operators: Opera is a trusted partner for operators globally. The Company currently offers four major
cloud-based solutions and services to Operators worldwide: (i) Operator/co-branded versions of Opera Mini,
whereby Operators are able to offer their mass-market
subscribers content compression, fast internet download
speeds, convenient access to operator portal services in
order to drive incremental revenue and lower-priced data
plans and data packages, capitalizing on the up to 90%
data compression that Opera’s cloud services enable;
(ii) the Rocket Optimizer™ solution, which allows mobile

operators to leverage cloud computing to optimize and
compress video and other multimedia traffic on crowded
mobile towers, including 3G and 4G LTE networks, enabling operators to both boost the capacity of their networks by up to 60% and offer better network performance
and quality to their subscribers; (iii) the Horizon™ solution,
a mobile browser extension and toolbar platform that allows users to personalize their smartphone browser and
operators to gain new monetization opportunities, such as
advertising; and (iv) Opera Web Pass, which allows users
to easily buy time-based or content-based mobile data
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Note 3. Wage costs/ Number of employees/Remuneration
packages through a simple, one-click purchase, similar
to how users buy apps today, enabling operators to both
offer a broad array of personalized data package alternatives for their subscribers and increase average revenue
generated per subscriber.
Mobile
Consumers
(Opera-owned-and-operated
properties): Opera has around 270 million mobile users of consumer products on a monthly basis. Opera
is placing a significant emphasis on developing and expanding its owned-and-operated properties and capitalizing on its extensive mobile consumer user base. These
owned-and-operated properties include the Speed Dial
page, the Smart Page, the Opera Mobile Store and the
Discover feature. These Opera-owned-and-operated
properties are expected to be monetized primarily via mobile advertising, mobile search and mobile applications.
Mobile Publishers and Advertisers (Opera Network
Members): Opera’s goal is to power the mobile advertising ecosystem through innovative and differentiated mobile advertising services and technology solutions, targeting premium and performance advertisers, ad agencies,
publishers and developers. Opera’s ultimate mission is
both to help publishers increase revenue from their mobile
properties and content and advertisers reach and acquire
potential customers.

Desktop Consumers: Since the first public release in
1995, Opera has continuously delivered browser innovation to desktop PCs. Opera’s desktop browser provides
its users with a safe, efficient and enjoyable browsing
experience. Today, the vast majority of Opera’s desktop
users are in the Russia/CIS region and in the emerging
markets. Opera is particularly focused on gaining users in
regions where it already has a strong base of users, such
as Russia.
Global Device Original Equipment Manufacturers (Device OEMs): With the Opera Devices Software Developer
Kit (SDK), device manufacturers are able to offer not only
web browsing capabilities and full internet access to their
operator and consumer end customers, but also customized web applications that are accessible from the home
screen of the device. Moreover, with the Opera Devices
SDK, device manufacturers are able to use their own
(and third-party) developers to enable full web browsing,
create user interfaces, widgets and menu systems using
web technologies, such as HTML5 and CSS, HbbTV and
OIPF, while accelerating time to market for new consumer
electronic devices.

Wage costs [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Salaries/bonuses

74.9

70.2

Social security cost

10.4

9.4

Pension cost

2.9

2.9

Share-based remuneration including social security cost

4.0

3.6

Other payments

9.5

6.0

Consultancy fees for technical development

7.0

2.5

108.6

94.7

985

854

Total
Average number of employees

The company has incorporated the requirements with regards to Obligatorisk Tjeneste Pensjon (OTP).

to the CEO, the Chairman of the Board or their related
parties.

Fees to the CEO and Chairman of the Board
In January 2010, Opera appointed Mr. Lars Boilesen as the
new Chief Executive Officer. He has waived his rights under
Section 15-16 of the Norwegian 2005 Act related to employees’ protection, etc. As compensation, Mr. Boilesen is
entitled to a termination amount of two years’ base salary if
the employment is terminated by the Company.

A bonus program exists for the senior Executive Team at
Opera. For each individual executive, there is a limited
amount of bonus that can be achieved. The size of the
bonus payment is dependent on actual company performance compared to a set of predefined targets.

As of December 31, 2013, there was no existing severance
agreement between Opera and the Chairman of the Board.
The Group has not given any loans or security deposits

Audit fees [Numbers in MUSD]

All 2013 bonuses for senior executives have been accrued
for in the accounts. Bonuses will be paid in 2014.
Independent auditors
The total fees billed by independent auditors during 2013
was MUSD 0.5 (2012: 0.5). This is broken down as follows:

2013

2012

Statutory audit

0.3

0.4

Assurance services

0.0

0.0

Tax advisory fee

0.0

0.0

Other services

0.1

0.1

Total

0.5

0.5

Other services include services from KPMG Law.
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Employee Stock Option Plan
The Company has established a stock option program for
eligible employees.
Modification to the option program in June 2013
The strike price of non-vested options was adjusted for
the dividend of NOK 0.22 that was paid out following the
resolution of the Annual General Meeting.
Options to Executives
On June 5, 2012, the Board of Directors granted 400,000
options each to executives Erik Harrell and Andreas
Thome. Rikard Gillemyr was granted 250,000 options. In
all, 200,000 of the options granted to Erik Harrell and Andreas Thome, and 50,000 of the options granted to Rikard
Gillemyr, were subject to approval from the AGM. The
vesting period started from June 6, 2012, and the options
are originally booked as an option liability and are included in total current liabilities. These options were approved
by the AGM in June 2013.
Approval of maximum number of options
The Annual General Meeting held on June 14, 2011,
passed the following resolutions:
a) The maximum number of options to be granted during
2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 is 11,950,000. This represents
slightly less than 10% of the registered share capital of
the Company. However, options cannot be granted if the
aggregate of all issued, un-exercised and not-terminated
options represents more than 10% of the then-registered
share capital of the Company.
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b) No employee can be granted options annually that in
value exceed 200% of that employee’s base salary. The
value is to be based on valuation principles for options as
applied under IFRS and in accordance with Opera Software’s financial statements.
c) The options are to be granted in accordance with the
Company’s standard option agreement as approved by
the Ordinary General Meeting in 2010, which means that
the vesting structure is 50% after 3 years and 50% after 4
years, with a strike price equal to the market price at grant.
d) No changes are made to the already approved standard
option agreement. The proposal does not constitute any
authority for the Board to change the terms in the standard agreement, including strike price and time of vesting,
for the options that may be granted, and does not include
the possibility to grant options to Board members.
After June 14, 2011, and up to December 31, 2013,
4,548,850 options have been granted under the program.
Own shares and capital increase
On June 4, 2013, the General Meeting decided to give the
Board of Directors the authority to increase the share capital.
Please see note 9 for more information.
On June 4, 2013, the General Meeting decided to authorize the Board of Directors to buy back Opera shares.
Please see note 9 for more information.

Weighted average exercise price
The number and weighted average exercise price of share options are as follows:

Weighted average exercise
price 2013
(NOK)

Outstanding at the beginning
of the period
Terminated (employee terminations)

[In thousands of options]

Number of
options 2013

Weighted average exercise
price 2012
(NOK)

Number of
options 2012

26.68

9 577

23.24

9 391

34.64

314

25.10

156
0

Forfeited during the period

0

0

0

Expired during the period

26.00

3

0

0

Exercised during the period

24.79

3 035

18.05

1 552

Granted during the period

35.05

885

37.97

1 894

Outstanding at the end of the period

7 109

9 577

Exercisable at the end of the period

1 226

2 210

The fair value of services received in return for stock options granted is measured by using the Black & Scholes
option pricing model.
The expected volatility is based on historic volatility (calculated using the weighted average remaining life of the
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information.
Share options are granted under service conditions, not
market-based conditions. Such conditions are not taken
intoaccount in the grant date fair-value measurement.
There are no market conditions associated with the share
option grants. For both 2013 and 2012, an annual average

attrition rate of 15% is used. This average attrition rate,
and the employees responsibility for paying the Company’s contributions related to the options, are taken into
consideration when estimating the cost of the options in
accordance with IFRS 2. Given that employees have the
right to exercise their options one or three years after
the vesting date (depending on when the options were
granted), the estimate is based on an assumption that the
employees, on average, are exercising their options 18
months after the vesting date.
The total number of options granted in 2013 was
1,335,000 (2012: 1,893,850).

Fair value of share options and assumptions [Numbers in NOK]

2013

2012

Fair value at measurement date (average per option)

12.72

13.66

Expected volatility (weighted average)

45.00

45.00

Option life (adjusted for expectations of early exercise)

5.00

4.62

Expected dividends

0.00

0.00

Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds)

1.90

1.40

Options that have not yet vested shall be adjusted for any dividend paid out during the vesting period.
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The table below shows the number of options issued to employees at various strike prices and exercise dates.

Compensation to executive management
The Group has an Executive Team consisting of senior executive managers hired by Opera Software ASA.

Salary

Bonus

Other
compensation

Lars Boilesen,
Chief Executive Officer

0.61

0.49

0.05

0.10

5.53

6.79

Erik C. Harrell, Chief Financial
Officer/Chief Strategy Officer

0.40

0.36

0.09

0.04

2.61

3.50

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

0.31

0.19

0.00

0.03

1.05

1.58

Tove Selnes,
EVP Human Resources

0.27

0.11

0.04

0.03

0.38

0.83

Andreas Thome,
EVP Commercial and Operations

0.31

0.29

0.00

0.03

1.22

1.86

Mahi de Silva,
EVP Consumer Mobile

0.27

0.31

0.00

0.04

0.62

Exercise price = strike price

Jeffrey S. Glueck,
EVP Operator Solutions,
director from March 14, 2013

0.23

The table below shows the date, number and achieved selling price of options exercised.

The Board of Directors

Total outstanding options

Vested options

Outstanding
options per
12/31/2013

Weighted
average
remaining
lifetime

Weighted
average
exercise
price (NOK)

Vested options
12/31/2013

Weighted average exercise
price (NOK)

10.00 - 12.30

87.50

0.92

11.99

87.50

11.99

12.30 - 15.00

-

-

-

-

-

15.00 - 20.00

711.90

1.65

19.10

711.90

19.10

20.00 - 25.00

1 174.20

4.17

21.32

272.20

21.55

25.00 - 30.00

2 479.51

4.11

27.45

134.50

27.47

30.00 - 35.00

965.00

6.29

34.47

20.00

32.10

35.00 - 40.00

1 661.17

5.92

37.81

-

-

40.00 - 45.00

30.00

6.14

44.18

-

-

Total

7 109

4.56

28.86

1 226

20.27

Exercise price
[In thousands of options]

Compensation to executive
management 2013
[Numbers in MUSD]

Remuneration

Benefit
exercised
options

Total
compensation

Executives

0.23

Arve Johansen, Chairman

0.10

Gregory Gerard Coleman,
Board Member

0.05

0.09

Kari Stautland, Board Member

0.05

0.13

0.18

0.03

0.08

Number of exercised
options

Achieved selling price
(NOK)

1/11/2013

206

34.10

3/13/2013

224

38.37

Audun Wickstrand Iversen, Board
Member

0.05

6/17/2013

30

45.00

Marianne Blystad, Board Member

0.04

6/18/2013

511

45.18

9/10/2013

1 228

57.31

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza,
Employee Representative

0.01

0.14

12/6/2013

836

78.05

Krystian Kolondra,
Employee Representative
from February 1, 2013

0.02

0.12

0.00

Erik Möller, Employee Representative from February 1, 2013

0.02

0.09

0.01

Date of exercise [In thousands of options]

Pension
compensation

0.15
0.09

0.04
0.00

0.01

0.00

0.04

0.20

0.08

0.21
0.12

The Nomination Committee
Jakob Iqbal, Chairman

0.01

0.01

Michael Tetzschner, Member

0.01

0.01

Nils Foldal, Member

0.01

0.01

Total

0.39

2.75

Presented above are the actual bonuses paid out in 2013, which
are based on the 2012 results. Bonuses earned, but unpaid in
2013, have been excluded from the table.
Other remuneration mentioned in the Norwegian Accounting Act §
7-31b has no relevance for the Company.
The Executive Team is included in the Company’s employee pension scheme, which is a defined contribution plan.
There has been no compensation or other economic benefit provided to any member of the Executive Team or Board of Directors

1.76

0.19

0.25

11.18

16.52

from the Company or any business owned by the Company, except that mentioned above.
There has been no significant additional compensation given to
directors with regard to special services performed outside of their
normal function.
Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza was re-elected as the Company’s
Employee Representative in 2012. Effective from February 1, 2013,
Stig Halvorsen and Karl Anders Øygard have stepped down as
Employee Representatives, while Erik Möller and Krystian Kolondra
have joined the Board of Directors as Employee Representatives.
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Compensation to Executive Management 2012

There has been no significant additional compensation
given to directors with regard to special services performed outside of their normal function.

0.57

0.46

0.05

0.01

0.70

1.79

Erik C. Harrell, Chief Financial
Officer/Chief Strategy Officer

0.29

0.28

0.00

0.01

0.90

1.48

Options to executive management 2013
There are no existing agreements regarding the dispensation of loans or security deposits to key personnel, members of
the board or their related parties.

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

0.27

0.12

0.00

0.01

0.24

0.64

The following table shows the number of options held by executive management.

Tove Selnes,
EVP Human Resources

0.24

0.07

0.04

0.01

0.02

0.38

Andreas Thome,
EVP Sales & Marketing

0.28

0.28

0.00

0.01

0.05

0.62

Mahi de Silva,
EVP Consumer Mobile

0.24

0.22

Tom Christian Gotschalksen,
EVP Mobile Services
from June 1, 2012

0.13

0.02

The Board of Directors
Arve Johansen, Chairman

0.10

0.00

0.10

Alberto Torres, Board Member
until November 13, 2012

0.10

0.00

0.10

700

19.14

1.63

6.4

0.4

923

311

14.9

613

32.86

5.58

4.4

0.4

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

785

123

11.7

663

27.05

4.54

5.1

0.4

Mahi de Silva,
EVP Consumer Mobile

131

43

28.6

88

28.40

0.51

0.8

0.1

179

72

22.2

158

27.75

5.51

1.3

0.1

150

37.58

5.93

1.0

0.1

753

31.88

5.33

5.5

0.5

24.6

1.8

Executives
Lars Boilesen,
Chief Executive Officer

Gregory Gerard Coleman,
Board Member from
November 14, 2012

0.02

Kari Stautland, Board Member

0.05

0.00

0.05

Audun Wickstrand Iversen, Board
Member

0.05

0.02

0.07

Marianne Blystad, Board Member

0.04

0.02

0.06

Tove Selnes,
EVP Human Resources

0.02

Stig Halvorsen,
Employee Representative

0.01

0.14

0.00

0.01

0.01

0.16

Karl Anders Øygard,
Employee Representative

Jeffrey S. Glueck,
EVP Operator Solutions

0.01

0.14

0.00

0.01

0.04

0.20

Tom Christian Gotschalksen,
EVP Mobile Services

150

Andreas Thome, EVP Commercial and Operations

972

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza,
Employee Representative from
June 6, 2012

0.00

0.13

0.00

0.01

0.01

0.15

Charles McCathieNevile, Employee Representative to June 5, 2012

0.00

0.08

0.00

0.00

0.01

0.09

The Nomination Committee
Jakob Iqbal, Chairman

0.01

0.01

Michael Tetzschner, Member

0.01

0.01

Nils Foldal, Member

0.01

0.01

Total

0.40

2.49

1.44

0.12

0.08

2.02

6.56

Presented above are the actual bonuses paid out in 2012, which are based on the 2011 results. Bonuses earned, but
unpaid in 2012, have been excluded from the table.

IFRS 2 cost for the
period (MUSD)

18.2

Value of outstanding
options (MUSD)

800

[In thousands of options]

Closing balance

0.17

Average exercise price
— A (NOK)

0.01

Executed options

0.02

Terminated options

1 500

Erik C. Harrell, Chief Financial
Officer/Chief Strategy Officer

0.46

Issued options

Weighted average
lifetime — C

Lars Boilesen,
Chief Executive Officer

Executives

Weighted average exercise price — B (NOK)

Bonus

Opening balance

Total
compensation

The Executive Team is included in the Company’s employee pension scheme, which is a defined contribution plan.
There has been no compensation or other economic
benefit provided to any member of the Executive Team

Salary

[Numbers in MUSD]

Benefit
exercised
options

or Board of Directors from the Company or any business
owned by the Company, except that mentioned above.

Other
compensation

Remuneration

Pension
compensation

Other remuneration mentioned in the Norwegian Accounting Act § 7-31b has no relevance for the Company.

Total

4 640

50

220
50

-

1 567

24.0

3 123

A — average exercise price for options executed in the financial year
B — average exercise price for the number of options held by the end of the financial year
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IFRS 2 cost for the
period (MUSD)

Value of outstanding
options (MUSD)

Executives
Lars Boilesen,
Chief Executive Officer

1 750

250

17.0

1 500

19.34

2.50

3.0

0.4

400

250

11.7

923

27.20

5.17

1.2

0.2

250

70

12.1

785

25.14

4.80

0.1

0.2

175

44

28.6

131

28.62

1.01

0.1

0.1

187

8

24.4

179

24.10

4.87

0.2

0.1

150

37.80

6.93

0.0

0.0

972

30.56

5.65

0.6

0.3

5.2

1.3

Erik C. Harrell, Chief Financial
Officer/Chief Strategy Officer

773

Rikard Gillemyr,
EVP Product Development

605

Mahi de Silva,
EVP Consumer Mobile
Tove Selnes,
EVP Human Resources
Tom Christian Gotschalksen,
EVP Mobile Services
Andreas Thome, EVP Sales &
Marketing
Total

150
591

400

4 081

1 200

19
-

641

15.4

4 640

A — average exercise price for options executed in the financial year
B — average exercise price for the number of options held by the end of the financial year

Commission

Shares

Options

Weighted
average
strike price
(NOK)

Chairman

70

80

30.58

150

Kari Stautland *

Board Member

9 512

30

32.10

9 542

Alberto Torres

Board Member

0

30

32.10

30

Audun Wickstrand Iversen**

Board Member

90

30

22.14

120

Marianne Blystad***

Board Member

100

30

23.90

130

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza ****

Board Member

0

5

21.20

5

Krystian Kolondra ****

Board Member

0

130

30.18

130

Erik Möller ****

Board Member

0

Lars Boilesen

Chief Executive
Officer

10

700

9 782

1 035

Arve Johansen
Weighted average
lifetime — C

Weighted average exercise price — B (NOK)

Closing balance

Average exercise price
— A (NOK)

[In thousands of options]

Executed options

Name
[In thousands of shares and options]

Terminated options

The following table shows the number of options held by executive management.

Issued options

Shares and options owned by members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer as of December 31, 2013

Opening balance

Options to executive management 2012
There are no existing agreements regarding the dispensation of loans or security deposits to key personnel, members of
the board or their related parties.

Total

0
19.14

710
10 817

* Kari Stautland owns 100% of Arepo AS, which owns 9,512,120 shares in Opera Software ASA.
**Audun Wickstrand Iversen holds 90,000 shares in the company through Naben, 100% owned by Iversen.
*** Marianne Blystad holds a total of 0 shares in Opera Software and, with family, owns 100% of the shares in the investment company Spencer Trading, which holds 100,000 shares in the company.
**** Employee Representative

Shares and options owned by other leading employees as of December 31, 2013

Name
[In thousands of shares and options]
Erik C. Harrell

Title
Chief Financial Officer/Chief Strategy
Officer

Shares

Options

Weighted
average
strike price
(NOK)

77

613

32.86

690

Total

Rikard Gillemyr

EVP Product
Development

360

663

27.05

1 023

Mahi De Silva

EVP Consumer
Mobile

0

88

28.40

88

Tove Selnes

EVP Human
Resources

9

158

27.75

166

Jeffrey S. Glueck

EVP Operator
Solutions

Tom Christian Gotschalksen

EVP Mobile Services

150

37.58

150

Andreas Thome

EVP Commercial and
Operations

10

753

31.88

466

2 423

10
0

10

763
2 888
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Note 4. Other expenses
Shares and options owned by members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer as of December 31, 2012

Name
[In thousands of shares and options]

Commission

Arve Johansen

Chairman

Kari Stautland *

Shares

Options

Weighted
average
strike price
(NOK)

Other expenses [Numbers in MUSD]

Total

70

100

30.50

170

Board Member

11 012

50

32.32

11 062

Alberto Torres

Board Member

0

50

32.32

50

Audun Wickstrand Iversen****

Board Member

90

40

22.90

130

Marianne Blystad

Board Member

10

30

24.66

40

Stig Halvorsen ***

Board Member

3

4

16.60

7

Christian Mauricio Uribe Espinoza ****

Board Member

0

15

20.01

15

Karl Anders Øygard ** , ***

Board Member

754

74

24.48

828

Lars Boilesen

Chief Executive
Officer

10

1 500

19.34

1 510

11 949

1 862

13 811

* Kari Stautland owns 100% of Arepo AS, which owns 11,012,120 shares in Opera Software ASA.
** Karl Anders Øygard holds 753,931 shares in Opera Software through Villemhaugen Invest AS, which is 100% owned
by Øygard. In addition, Karl Anders Øygard holds 200 shares in the Company.
*** Employee Representative
****Audun Wickstrand Iversen holds 90,000 shares in the company through Naben, 100% owned by Iversen.

Shares and options owned by other leading employees as of December 31, 2012

Name
[In thousands of shares and options]
Erik C. Harrell

Title
Chief Financial Officer/Chief Strategy
Officer

Shares

Options

Weighted
average
strike price
(NOK)

Total

77

923

27.20

1 000

Rikard Gillemyr

EVP Product
Development

360

785

25.14

1 145

Mahi De Silva

EVP Consumer
Mobile

0

131

28.62

131

Tove Selnes

EVP Human
Resources

9

179

24.10

188

Tom Christian Gotschalksen

EVP Mobile Services

0

150

37.80

150

Andreas Thome

EVP Sales &
Marketing

10

972

30.56

982

456

3 140

3 596

2013

2012

Rent and other office expenses

9.0

6.1

Equipment

3.5

2.4

Audit, legal and other advisory services

6.4

4.6

Marketing expenses

7.6

4.7

Travel expenses

7.1

5.9

10.5

8.4

6.7

4.2

50.8

36.4

Hosting expenses, excl. depreciation cost
Other expenses
Total
Research
Engineering salaries are the primary expense incurred
in terms of costs related to source code research, development, and maintenance. For FY 2013, engineering
salaries, expensed in the financial statement, were MUSD
39.3 (2012: 45.9). Development costs capitalized in FY
2013 were MUSD 14.4 (2012: 3.4). For additional information, please see notes 7 and 13.

Other investments and deposits
Rental deposits in various countries comprise the majority
of other non-current investments and deposits together
with a loan to nHorizon Innovation of MUSD 2.3. Please
see note 8 for more information.

Note 5. Financial risk
The majority of the financial risk carried by the Group, as
a result of its subsidiaries, relates to foreign exchange
fluctuations. Both sales and expenses are exposed to
currency risk.
Most of the Company’s foreign exchange risk relates to
sales and is the result of revenue contracts signed in EUR
and other currencies.
For FY 2013, approximately 76% (2012: 71%) of revenues
were in USD, 13% (2012: 22%) in EUR, 5% (2012: 4%)
in GBP, 4% (2012: 1%) in CNY, and 2% (2012: 2%) in
other currencies.
The majority of the Company’s purchases are made in the
following denominations: NOK, USD, SEK, PLN, GBP, JPY,
CNY, KRW, TWD, AUD, UAH, ISK, SGD, EUR and INR.
Exchange rate fluctuations in these currencies do impact

Opera’s income statement. For FY 2013 approximately
54% (2012: 36%) was in USD, 20% (2012: 30%) in NOK,
6% (2012: 7%) in SEK, 6% (2012: 5%) in GBP, 5% (2012:
7%) in PLN, 2% (2012: 3%) in CNY, and 6% (2012: 12%)
in other currencies.
For FY 2013, Opera had a foreign exchange gain of
MUSD 1.8 that was comprised of MUSD 5.5 realized foreign exchange gain and MUSD 3.7 net unrealized foreign
exchange loss. Opera has not entered into any foreign
exchange contracts as of December 31, 2013.
For FY 2012, Opera had a foreign exchange loss of MUSD
1.9 that was comprised of MUSD 4.3 realized foreign
exchange gain and MUSD 6.2 net unrealized foreign exchange loss. Opera has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2012.
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Currency risk
As the majority of the Groups’s income is earned in USD and EUR, changes in exchange rates have an immediate effect
on the Group’s revenue.
2013

[Numbers in MUSD]

2012

MUSD

%

MUSD

%

NOK

0.3

0.12

0.2

0.11

USD

229.6

76.50

152.4

70.54

GBP

15.8

5.26

9.6

4.45

JPY

0.5

0.16

0.8

CAD

0.0

0.00

CHF

0.2

0.05

PLN

0.0

CNY
BYR
SEK

Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2013, are converted using the following exchange rates: EUR 1.3787,
JPY 0.0095, NOK 0.1646, GBP 1.6521, PLN 0.3321, CNY
0.1637 and INR 0.0162.
The receivables, as of December 31, are distributed
as follows:
2013

2012

USD

45.1

22.2

EUR

9.4

9.1

0.39

JPY

0.8

3.5

0.0

0.01

NOK

0.7

0.1

0.0

0.00

GBP

3.9

2.2

0.01

0.0

0.02

PLN

0.1

0.0

12.7

4.22

2.6

1.20

CAD

0.0

0.0

1.4

0.47

1.8

0.83

SEK

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.00

0.0

0.00

CNY

7.0

2.9

2.1

0.0

EUR

38.6

12.87

47.3

21.88

ISK

SGD

0.0

0.01

0.1

0.04

INR

0.1

0.0

INR

0.0

0.00

0.0

0.00

CZK

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

AUD

1.0

0.33

1.2

0.54

TWD

Total

300.1

100.00

216.0

100.00

AUD

0.0

0.0

SGD

0.0

0.0

Conversion of the Group’s revenues from foreign currencies into USD yields the following average exchange rates:
2013

2012

NOK

0.1708

0.1733

GBP

1.5805

JPY
CAD
CHF

1.0931

PLN

0.3160

CNY
BYR
SEK

0.1536

EUR

1.3314

1.2933

SGD

0.8075

0.8008

INR

0.0172

AUD

0.9705

A 10% increase in the average exchange rate would
have the following positive effect on the Group’s revenue
(MUSD):
2013

2012

NOK

0.0

0.0

1.5918

GBP

1.6

1.0

0.0103

0.0124

JPY

0.0

0.1

0.9609

1.0015

CAD

0.0

0.0

CHF

0.0

0.0

0.3053

PLN

0.0

0.0

0.1617

0.1585

CNY

1.3

0.3

0.0001

0.0001

BYR

0.1

0.2

SEK

0.0

0.0

EUR

3.9

4.7

SGD

0.0

0.0

INR

0.0

0.0

AUD

0.1

0.1

1.0338

Conversely, a 10% decrease in the average exchange rate
would have a similar negative effect on the Group’s revenue as shown above (MUSD).

The numbers above are presented in local currencies.

Credit risk
Opera conducts most of its business with large global
companies. Throughout last year, the Group conducted
business with a number of its customers without suffering
significant credit-related losses.
The customers have not committed any collateral or other
means to secure their outstanding debt.
Credit risk regarding accounts receivable may be specified per region as follows (MUSD):
2013

2012

EMEA

19.0

8.9

Americas

40.1

19.5

7.9

10.0

66.9

38.3

Asia Pacific
Total
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Accounts receivable, as of December 31, by age, are as follows (MUSD):
2013

Liquidity risk
The Group had the following liquidity reserve and credit facility as of December 31, 2013:

2012

Gross receivables

Provision
for bad debt

Gross receivables

Provision
for bad debt

Liquidity reserve [Numbers in MUSD]

12/31/2013

12/31/2012

17.5

0.2

17.0

0.0

Cash and cash equivalents

Past due 0-30 days

9.7

0.0

10.0

0.2

Cash in hand and on deposit

163.4

57.2

Past due 31-60 days

14.7

0.1

2.7

0.1

—of which restricted funds *

76.3

1.8

Past due 61-90 days

14.0

1.2

2.9

0.1

Unrestricted cash

87.1

55.4

More than 90 days

11.0

3.9

5.8

2.6

Unutilized credit facilities

40.0

0.0

Total

66.9

5.4

38.3

3.1

0.0

0.0

40.0

0.0

Not past due

The majority of the 2013 receivables that are more than 90 days outstanding have been paid in 2014 or booked against
deferred income in the “Statement of financial position”.

Changes in the provision for bad debt may be specified as follows (MUSD):

Provision as of January 1

2013

2012

3.1

1.8

Change in the provision for bad debt recognized
in the “Statement of comprehensive income”

2.6

0.7

Change in the provision for bad debt not recognized
in the “Statement of comprehensive income”*

0.1

0.5

Change in the provision for bad debt not recognized
in the “Statement of comprehensive income” **

0.0

0.1

-0.4

0.0

Provision as of December 31

5.4

3.1

Realized losses, recognized directly
in the “Statement of comprehensive income”

1.3

0.2

Received from previously written-down bad debts

0.0

0.0

Currency adjustment

* Opening balance acquisitions 2013.
** Currency adjustment provision as of January 1

Short-term overdraft facility
Liquidity reserve
*Cash and cash equivalents of MUSD 76.3 were restricted assets as of December 31, 2013, and cash and cash
equivalents of MUSD 1.8 were restricted assets as of December 31, 2012. MUSD 68.7 of the restricted cash as of

Credit facility [Numbers in MUSD]

December 31, 2013, was released on January 20, 2014,
as it was used as part of a share capital increase in Opera
Software International AS.

12/31/2013

12/31/2012

100.0

0.0

60.0

0.0

Short-term overdraft facility

0.0

0.0

— of which utilized

0.0

0.0

Long-term cash credit
— of which utilized

Opera Software has, in February 2013, signed a MUSD
100.0 secured revolving credit facility with DNB Bank
ASA. The facility will primarily be secured through a share
pledge in Opera Software International AS, as well as
floating charges over accounts receivable in Opera Software ASA and certain of its U.K. and U.S. subsidiaries.
The loan agreement has the following covenants: a) a
Gearing Ratio to be below 1.50:1 and B) an Equity Ratio
to hold the minimum level of 35%. The facility has a term
of 3 years and bears an interest rate of LIBOR + 1.75%
p.a. (plus a utilization fee varying with the amount drawn).
On the undrawn portion of the facility, a commitment fee
of 0.61% p.a. will be paid. Opera Software intends to use
the financing for general corporate purposes and potential
acquisitions.
Foreign exchange contracts
During FY 2013 and FY 2012, the Group did not use forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, and
Opera had not entered into any foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2013.
Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue consists of prepaid license/royalty
payments, prepaid maintenance and support, prepaid

development fees and prepaid campaigns. Of the Group’s
total current liabilities, MUSD 17.9 (2012: 11.2) relates to
deferred revenue, and MUSD 13.3 (2012: 10.8) relates to
deferred revenue that has no future cash payments.
Capital management
In order to achieve the Group’s ambitious, long-term
objectives, the policy has been to maintain a high equity-to-asset ratio and to maintain a solid capital base so as
to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustain future development of the business. The Group
still possesses a business model that anticipates considerable cash flow in the future.
The Company has issued options to the Group’s employees in accordance with its objective that employees shall
hold company shares.
The Board of Directors has as of December 31, 2013, not
used its authorization to buy the Company’s own shares.
Please see note 9 for more information.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Note 6. Tax
Tax expense [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Current tax

23.5

9.7

Deferred tax

-15.3

-4.3

0.1

0.0

-5.0

0.0

Taxes on capital raising costs

0.0

0.0

Tax payable abroad

4.0

3.2

Too much/little tax booked previous year

0.0

0.0

Derivatives

Tax expense related to change in tax rate
Deferred tax assets from previously unrecognized tax losses

Total

Tax payable [Numbers in MUSD]
Current tax

7.2

8.6

2013

2012

24.5

9.7

Tax payable abroad

3.9

2.9

Too much/little tax booked previous year

0.1

0.2

Tax settlement previous year

0.0

0.0

-3.5

-1.4

0.0

0.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign country

-3.9

-2.9

Tax effect on losses from sales of own shares*

-0.9

-0.7

0.0

0.0

20.2

7.7

Prepaid tax subsidiaries/branches
Taxes on capital raising costs

Withholding tax utilized
Total
*Booked against equity

Prepaid tax [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Prepaid tax subsidiaries/branches

0.0

1.0

Withholding tax paid to a foreign country

0.0

0.0

Sum other receivables

0.0

1.0

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

NET

2013

2012

2013

2012

Inventory, office machinery, etc.

-1.5

-1.0

1.6

4.6

0.1

3.6

Accounts receivables

-1.5

-0.7

0.0

0.0

-1.5

-0.7

[Numbers in MUSD]

Other liabilities
Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized
Deferred taxes/ (tax assets)
Set-off of tax
Net deferred taxes / (tax assets)

2013

2012

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-13.2

-3.1

0.9

0.9

-12.4

-2.2

-9.9

-4.5

0.0

0.0

-9.9

-4.5

-26.1

-9.3

2.5

5.5

-23.6

-3.8

2.5

5.5

-2.5

-5.5

0.0

0.0

-23.6

-3.8

0.0

0.0

-23.6

-3.8

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Movement in temporary differences during the year
Balance
1/1/12

Posted to
P/L

Posted
directly to
the equity

Acquired in
business
combinations
(note 8)

2.1

0.3

1.4

0.0

3.8

Accounts receivables

-0.6

-0.1

0.0

0.0

-0.7

Liabilities

-1.1

-1.1

-0.2

0.0

-2.4

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

-1.2

-3.4

-0.1

0.2

-4.5

Deferred taxes / (tax assets)

-0.8

-4.3

1.1

0.2

-3.8

Balance
12/31/13
0.1

[Numbers in MUSD]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

[Numbers in MUSD]
Inventory, office machinery, etc.

Balance
1/1/13

Posted to
P/L

Posted
directly to
the equity

Acquired in
business
combinations
(note 8)

3.8

-12.8

-0.3

9.4

Balance
12/31/12

Accounts receivables

-0.7

-0.7

0.0

0.0

-1.5

Liabilities

-2.4

-16.8

-2.9

9.8

-12.4

Tax value of loss carry-forwards utilized

-4.5

10.0

3.7

-19.1

-9.9

Deferred taxes / (tax assets)

-3.8

-20.3

0.5

0.0

-23.6

It is Opera’s opinion that the deferred tax asset can be utilized in future periods. Its measure is based on the expected
and estimated future income. Consequently, Opera has capitalized the deferred tax asset.
All the U.S. entities are included in a U.S. consolidated tax group.
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Note 7. Property, plant and equipment

Change in deferred tax asset directly posted against the equity capital [Numbers in MUSD]

Cost
rented
premises

Machinery and
equipment

Fixtures
and
fittings

Goodwill

Development

Other intangible
assets

2013
Total

2012
Total

2013

2012

Changes due to foreign currency changes

0.5

1.1

Acquisition cost

Capital raising costs and losses from sales of own shares

0.0

0.0

Total deferred taxes posted directly against the equity

0.5

1.1

Acquisition cost
as of 1/1/13

1.0

30.4

1.3

74.1

3.4

13.6

123.8

59.9

Acquisitions through
business combinations

0.0

0.6

0.0

80.3

4.2

26.8

111.9

53.3

Other acquisitions

0.5

7.4

0.3

0.0

14.4

2.0

24.6

13.8

Disposal

0.0

-3.7

-0.1

-4.0

-8.0

6.5

-9.4

-3.7

-0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

-0.5

-0.2

-0.8

0.6

1.4

34.7

1.4

150.3

13.5

48.8

250.1

123.8

Depreciation and
impairment losses
as of 1/1/13

0.2

16.4

0.3

3.8

0.0

4.6

25.2

15.1

Acquisitions through
business combinations

0.0

0.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.2

Disposal

0.0

-3.5

-0.1

-4.0

-1.4

0.8

-8.2

-3.2

Currency differences

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.9

-0.1

-0.1

0.7

0.3

Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment losses
as of 12/31/13

0.3

21.4

0.4

0.8

3.1

12.7

38.7

25.2

Net book value
as of 12/31/13

1.1

13.3

1.0

149.5

10.4

36.1

211.4

98.6

Depreciation for
the year

0.2

8.2

0.2

0.1

4.6

7.4

20.8

9.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

3.0

Up to 6
years

Up to 10
years

Up to 5
years

Undetermined

Up to 4
years

Up to 5
years

Linear

Linear

No deLinear preciation

Linear

Linear

Reconciliation of effective tax rate [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Profit before tax

67.5

25.6

Income tax using the domestic corporate tax rate

28.0 %

18.9

28.0 %

7.2

Overbooked taxes, previous year

-0.1 %

-0.1

3.3 %

0.8

Tax paid to a foreign country

1.4 %

1.0

-0.8 %

-0.2

Effect of different tax rates between countries

2.0 %

1.4

1.2 %

0.3

Taxes on other permanent differences

-13.2 %

-8.9

2.1 %

0.5

Deferred tax assets from previously unrecognized tax losses

-7.5 %

-5.0

0.0 %

0.0

Total tax expense for the year

10.7 %

7.2

33.7 %

8.6

Permanent differences
Permanent differences include non-deductable costs and share-based remuneration.

[Numbers in MUSD]

Currency differences
Acquisition cost
as of 12/31/13
Depreciation and
impairment losses

Impairment losses for
the year (see note 12)

Useful life
Depreciation plan

Goodwill relates to the acquisition of Hern Labs AB,
Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o., AdMarvel, Inc., Handster, Inc., Mobile Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising, Ltd.,
Netview Tehnology AS, FastMail, Moolah Media, Inc., and
Skyfire Labs, Inc. See note 8.

Please see note 8 for asset additions related to business
combinations.

Development is internally developed intangeble assets.

Operating leases
The most significant agreements relate to the rental of
premises in United States, Norway, the United Kingdom,
Sweden and Poland.

Other intangible assets relate to the acquisition of Opera Distribution AS, AdMarvel, Inc., Handster, Inc., Mobile Theory, Inc., 4th Screen Advertising, Ltd., FastMail,
Moolah Media, Incl, and Skyfire Labs, Inc. See note 8.

In 2012, the Company entered into a new lease for the
rental of its Norwegian offices at Gjerdrums vei 19. The new
lease will run through November 2019. The lease agreement, according to IAS 17, is considered an operating lease.
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[Numbers in MUSD]
Leasing costs expensed
Duration of the lease contract

Non-terminable operating leases due in: [Numbers in MUSD]
Less than one year
Between one to five years
More than five years
Total

2013

2012

6.2

5.6

11/30/19

11/30/19

2013

2012

4.6

4.9

13.5

10.1

1.4

2.5

19.5

17.5

Note 8. Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies
and other shares

Subsidiaries [Numbers in MUSD]

Hern Labs
AB

Opera
Software
International
AS

Opera
Distribution
AS

Netview
Technology
AS

Formal information
Date of purchase

12/13/2000

1/5/2005

12/16/2008

5/14/2012

Registered office

Linköping,
Sweden

Oslo,
Norway

Oslo,
Norway

Oslo,
Norway

Ownership interest

100%

100%

100%

100%

Proportion of votes

100%

100%

100%

100%

Information regarding nHorizon Innovation

[Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Revenue

10.1

2.0

EBIT

-28.0

-18.4

Net profit

-28.5

-18.5

Assets

10.4

0.9

Short term liabilities

15.6

6.2

Equity

-5.2

0.7

Investment in associate
The investments in nHorizon Innovation are accounted
for using the equity method. In 3Q 2013, Opera invested
MUSD 5.7, of which MUSD 2.8 was payable in 4Q 2013
together with a loan of MUSD 2.3. This investment comes
in addition to the MUSD 2.4 already invested in in both
3Q and 4Q 2012 and to the MUSD 2.4 already invested in
2011. In addition, Opera is guaranteed a minimum amount
of revenue from the company corresponding to Opera’s
initial capital contribution over the three-year period starting from the establishment of the company.
As of December 31, 2013, Opera owned 29.09% of nHorizon Innovation, and Opera has booked the following
fair value on the accounting line “Other investments and
deposits”:
Booked value [Numbers in MUSD]
Investment
(Booked value January 1)
Investment during the fiscal year

Information related to the date
of purchase (in the year of purchase)

2013

2012

2.0

1.5

5.7

4.8

FX adjustment

-0.4

0.3

-3.3

-3.7

Purchase cost

1.3

0.2

0.3

0.8

Share of the profit/loss

Goodwill at acquisition cost

1.3

0.0

0.0

0.5

Elimination portion of sale

-4.0

-0.9

Other intangible assets at acquisition cost

0.0

0.0

0.3

0.5

Total

-0.0

2.0

Opera Software ASA’s financial statements are available at
the Company’s headquarters located at Gjerdrums vei 19
in Oslo, Norway.
Associated companies
In 1Q 2011, Opera and China’s Telling Telecom announced
that they planned to establish a company in greater China
with the goal of becoming the most popular consumer
mobile web browser and web services platform in China.
Opera will provide our browser technology, and Telling
Telecom will contribute a local operations team and strong
distribution capabilities. Telling Telecom is a leading mobile phone distributor in China.

nHorizon Innovation (Beijing) Software Ltd was co-founded by Opera Software ASA and Telling Telecom in August
2011. nHorizon is committed to developing and marketing
the Oupeng mobile browser, providing users with a simple, fast, and smooth mobile internet experience and to
helping people enjoy a comfortable mobile internet life.
For more information, please visit www.oupeng.com.
The focus of the company will be on the massive consumer mobile internet market and revenue opportunity in
China. Opera China will continue to target the operator,
mobile OEM, device OEM, and desktop markets independent from the company.

Other shares
Opera Software ASA owns 20% of the European Center
for Information and Communication Technologies — EICT
GmbH. The booked value of the share is USD 0.1. The
market value of the company is unknown. The EICT is a
public/private partnership of scientific institutions, institutes of applied research and leading industrial companies. The strategic innovation partnership pools and
specifically links research and development activities in
industry and science to information and communication
technologies. For more information about EICT, please
see the website at www.eict.de.

Skyfire Labs, Inc.
On March 14, 2013, Opera Software ASA acquired 100%
of the shares and voting interest of the privately-held
company Skyfire Labs, Inc., a leader in mobile video optimization and cloud solutions for mobility. Opera believes
Skyfire adds capabilities to our portfolio around video,
app optimization, smartphones, and tablets, and strength
in North America, and we are excited to expand Opera’s
solutions for operators.
Skyfire is headquartered in Mountain View, California. The
company’s main product, the Rocket Optimizer™ solution, allows mobile operators to leverage cloud computing
to optimize virtually any video and other multimedia on
crowded mobile towers, including 3G and 4G LTE networks. The Rocket Optimizer™ solution provides mobile
networks a significant boost in capacity by compressing
video and other multimedia content to fit available bandwidth. The Rocket Optimizer™ solution detects, and intervenes in milliseconds, when specific users are facing poor
quality experience or connections that need assistance.
This can minimize the long start times, rebuffering and
stalls on video and audio streams that frustrate mobile users around the world. The approach aligns with the trend
toward SDN (software-defined networking) and NFV (network function virtualization) among telecommunications
operators, based on its elastic and virtualization-friendly
cloud architecture.
Skyfire also offers the Horizon™ solution, a mobile browser extension and toolbar platform that allows users to
personalize their smartphone browsers and facilitates operators to gain new monetization opportunities.
The acquisition price includes a mix of cash and stock,
with an upfront consideration of MUSD 49.1 (including
MUSD 8.2 of cash on the Skyfire balance sheet) and
performance-based earnout payments over three years,
including MUSD 25.7 in cash held in escrow and funded
upfront, that can bring the total deal size to MUSD 155.2.
Skyfire Labs, Inc., currently employs 66 full-time equivalents. In 2013, the Group incurred acquisition-related
costs of MUSD 1.0 (2012: 0.0) related to external legal
fees and due diligence costs. The legal fees and due
diligence costs have been included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

120

121

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed [Numbers in MUSD]
Other intangible assets

4.2

Property, plant and equipment

0.4

Deferred tax assets

9.4

Accounts receivable*

0.5

Other receivables

0.1

Cash and cash equivalents

8.2

Accounts payable

-0.1

Social security, VAT and other taxation
payable

-0.3

Deferred revenue

-5.1

Other short-term liabilities

-2.7

Other long-term liabilities

-1.6

Non-current provisions

-3.3

Total net identifiable assets

9.7

Cash consideration

-49.1

Contingent consideration

-40.5

Excess value

-79.9

Related customer relationships
Proprietary technology
Non-compete

3.6
19.4
0.4

Deferred tax on excess values

-9.4

Goodwill

65.8

* No provision for bad debt
The assets and liabilities that were recognized by Skyfire Labs immediately before the business combination
equaled the carrying amount recognized by the Group
on the acquisition date. Subsequent to the business
combination, the opening balance has been adjusted to
reflect MUSD 9.4 in deferred tax assets. In addition, the
Group booked the excess price of the fair value of the
total identifiable assets as related customer relationships,
proprietary technology, deferred tax on excess values and
goodwill, since the excess price has been deemed to be
related to these intangible assets. The substantial amount
of goodwill in the acquisition of Skyfire Labs can be attributed to the synergies that exist between the two companies, as well as the qualified Skyfire Labs workforce.
Opera calculated the fair value on the acquisition date
and booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 40.5 in
the financial statements. The contingent consideration is
revalued each quarter, and more information can be found
in note 11.
The value of the related customer relationships and the
proprietary technology is depreciated over a 6-year period.

The fair value of the net identifiable assets has not been
calculated by an external company. Opera has treated the
entire contingent consideration as consideration for the
purchase of the business and no part as remuneration. The
evaluation is based on the indicators outlined in IFRS 3.
Revenue and profit
The total Skyfire Labs revenue, in the first 9.5 months after
the purchase, was MUSD 12.1, and the estimate for the
12-month period beginning January 1, 2013, is MUSD 15.3.
The net profit for Skyfire Labs, in the first 9.5 months, after
the purchase was MUSD 15.2, and the estimate for the
12-month period beginning January 1, 2013, is MUSD 17.5.

Individually immaterial business combinations
The Group has acquired 100% of the shares/membership
interests of several companies that individually are not
seen as material transactions. These business combinations are material collectively, and the numbers below are
therefore disclosed in aggregate.
From April 1, 2013, Opera has the following aggregated
future obligations related to these transactions: $31.7
million in potential earnout consideration as a mix of
cash and stock (to be paid to the Sellers in 2014, 2015
and 2016 based on aggressive revenue and EBIT targets),
plus additional potential limited consideration based on
over-performance on EBIT in 2013, 2014 and 2015.
Transactions closed prior to January 1, 2013, have enabled Opera to (i) strengthen its mobile store offerings and
better monetize Opera’s own properties and traffic that is
generated by Opera’s large mobile audience and (ii) bring
in-house video expertise and technology assets. In 1Q
2013, Opera closed on an acquisition transaction that
brings in-house a team and product platform that now
significantly enhances Opera’s ability to help advertisers
with performance or “cost per action” campaigns, such
as campaigns for driving app downloads and securing
customer sign-ups and leads.
In 2013, the Group incurred acquisition-related costs of
MUSD 0.7 (2012: 0.7) related to external legal fees and
due diligence costs. The legal fees and due diligence
costs have been included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed [Numbers in MUSD]
Other intangible assets

0.0

Other investments and deposits

0.0

Property, plant and equipment

0.0

Accounts receivable*

2.3

Unbilled revenue

0.0

Other receivables

0.0

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts payable
Social security, VAT and other
taxation payable
Other short-term liabilities
Total net identifiable assets

1.3
-2.0
0.0
-0.6
1.1

Cash consideration

-14.1

Contingent consideration

-15.9

Excess value

-28.9

Non-compete

0.3

Related customer relationships

2.6

Related developer relationships

0.8

Proprietary technology

4.2

Deferred tax on excess values

-0.9

Goodwill

22.0

* No provision for bad debt.
The assets and liabilities that were recognized immediately before the business combinations equaled the carrying
amount recognized by the Group on the acquisition dates.
In addition, the Group booked the excess price of the fair
value of the total identifiable assets as related customer
relationships, proprietary technology, deferred tax on excess values and goodwill, since the excess prices have
been deemed to be related to these intangible assets.
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Information regarding goodwill
[Numbers in MUSD]
Goodwill at acquisition cost for Hern Labs AB

1.3

Accumulated depreciation as of 12/31/04

1.1

Net book value as of 12/31/04

0.3

Reversed depreciation 2004

0.3

Net book value as of 1/1/04 and 12/31/08

0.5

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Opera Software
Poland Sp. z o.o

2.2

Net book value as of 12/31/09

2.8

Goodwill at acquisition cost for AdMarvel

13.2

Goodwill at acquisition cost for FastMail

4.0

Net book value as of 12/31/10

20.0

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Handster

7.2

FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

0.0

Net book value as of 12/31/11

27.2

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Mobile Theory

34.4

Goodwill at acquisition cost for 4th Screen
Advertising

11.3

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Netview
Technology
Impairment of FastMail goodwill
FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

0.3
-3.0
0.1

Net book value as of 12/31/12

70.3

Goodwill at acquisition cost for Skyfire Labs,
Inc.

65.8

Sale of FastMail

-1.0

Goodwill at acquisition cost for immaterial
transactions

14.4

FX adjustment to the goodwill acquisition cost

-0.1

Net book value as of 12/31/13

149.5

In respect to business acquisitions that have occurred
since January 1, 2004, goodwill represents the difference
between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value
of the net identifiable assets acquired. A portion of the
goodwill relates to the purchase of Hern Labs AB. As the
goodwill existed before January 1, 2004, the goodwill is
based on the amount recognized according to NGAAP.
Goodwill from the purchase of Hern Labs AB booked on
December 31, 2011, has the same value as goodwill on
January 1, 2004.
TESTING FOR DECREASE IN VALUE OF CASH-GENERATING UNITS, INCLUDING GOODWILL
Hern Labs AB, Netview Technology AS and Opera
Software Poland Sp. z o.o
MUSD 3.1 of the recognized goodwill and MUSD 0.3 of
the recognized other intangible assets is related to the
acquisition of Hern Labs AB, Netview Technology AS and
Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o. Netview’s operations
have been sold to Opera Software ASA, and Hern Labs
AB and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o are development
companies that deliver development services to Opera
Software ASA. Hern Labs AB and Opera Software Poland
Sp. z o.o use a cost plus model. Hence, it is difficult to estimate the value of Hern Labs AB and Opera Software Poland Sp. z o.o on the basis of their cash flows. The Opera
Software ASA Group is thus considered to be the smallest
cash-generating unit for the three acquisitions.
The Group has performed a complete impairment test as
of December 31, 2013, according to IAS 36. The Group
considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment
loss concerning goodwill. This judgment has, among
other things, been based on estimated cash flows to the
companies the coming 3-year period and the fact that the
market value of the Opera Group is considerably higher
than the equity.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience,
actual operating results and the 3-year business plan
extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal value
has been calculated using the average of the estimated
cash flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future growth rate.
• An after-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0%
current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 7.5% (equity risk premium of 5% x beta 1.5). This
gives an implicit pre-tax discount rate of 11%.
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.

Skyfire Labs, Inc.
MUSD 65.8 of the recognized goodwill, MUSD 19.8 of the
recognized other intangible assets, and MUSD -7.2 of the
net working capital excluding cash, as of December 31,
2013, are related to the acquisition of Skyfire Labs, Inc.
The Group has performed a complete impairment test as
of December 31, 2013, according to IAS 36. The Group
considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss
concerning goodwill and other intangible assets. This judgment has, among other things, been based on estimated
cash flows to the company the coming 3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience,
actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan
extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal value
has been calculated using the average of the estimated
cash flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future growth rate.
• An after-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0%
current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 9.0% (equity risk premium of 5.0% x beta 1.1 and
alpha risk 3.5%). This gives an implicit pre-tax discount
rate of 16%.
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.
AdMarvel, Inc.
MUSD 13.2 of the recognized goodwill, MUSD 0.5 of the
recognized other intangible assets, and MUSD 1.5 of the
net working capital excluding cash, as of December 31,
2013, are related to the acquisition of AdMarvel, Inc. The
Group has performed a complete impairment test as of
December 31, 2013, according to IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill and other intangible assets. This judgment
has, among other things, been based on estimated cash
flows to the company the coming 3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience,
actual operating results, and the 3-year business plan
extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal
value has been calculated using the average of the
estimated cash flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future
growth rate.
• An after-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0%
current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 9.0% (equity risk premium of 5.0% x beta 1.1 and
alpha risk 3.0%). This gives an implicit pre-tax discount
rate of 19%.

A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.
Mobile Theory, Inc.
MUSD 34.4 of the recognized goodwill, MUSD 2.5 of the
recognized other intangible assets, and MUSD 5.1 of the
net working capital excluding cash, as of December 31,
2013, are related to the acquisition of Mobile Theory, Inc.
The Group has performed a complete impairment test as
of December 31, 2013, according to IAS 36. The Group
considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment
loss concerning goodwill and other intangible assets.
This judgment has, among other things, been based
on estimated cash flows to the company the coming
3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience,
actual operating results and the 3-year business plan
extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal value
has been calculated using the average of the estimated
cash flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future growth rate.
• An after-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0%
current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 9.0% (equity risk premium of 5.0% x beta 1.1 and
alpha risk 3.0%). This gives an implicit pre-tax discount
rate of 19%.
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.
4th Screen Advertising Ltd.
MUSD 14.4 of the recognized goodwill, MUSD 2.8 of
the recognized other intangible assets, and MUSD 2.3 of
the net working capital excluding cash, as of December
31, 2013, are related to the acquisition of Moolah, Inc.
The Group has performed a complete impairment test as
of December 31, 2013, according to IAS 36. The Group
considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment
loss concerning goodwill and other intangible assets.
This judgment has, among other things, been based
on estimated cash flows to the company the coming
3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience, actual
operating results, and the 3-year business plan extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal value has
been calculated using the average of the estimated cash
flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future growth rate.
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Note 9. Shareholder information
• An after-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0%
current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 9.0% (equity risk premium of 5.0% x beta 1.1 and
alpha risk 3.0%). This gives an implicit pre-tax discount
rate of 20%.
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.
Handster, Inc.
MUSD 7.3 of the recognized goodwill, MUSD 1.0 of the
recognized other intangible assets, and MUSD 0.0 of the
net working capital excluding cash, as of December 31,
2013, are related to the acquisition of Handster, Inc. The
Group has performed a complete impairment test as of
December 31, 2013, according to IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize an impairment loss concerning goodwill and other intangible assets. This judgment
has, among other things, been based on estimated cash
flows to the company the coming 3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:
• Cash flows were projected using past experience,
actual operating results and the 3-year business plan
extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal value
has been calculated using the average of the estimated
cash flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 9.0% (equity risk premium of 5.0% x beta 1.1 and
alpha risk 3.0%). This gives an implicit pre-tax discount
rate of 12%.
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.
Opera Mediaworks Performance, LLC
MUSD 14.4 of the recognized goodwill, MUSD 2.8 of the
recognized other intangible assets and MUSD 2.3 of the
net working capital excluding cash, as of December 31,
2013, are related to the acquisition of Opera Mediaworks
Performance, LLC. The Group has performed a complete
impairment test as of December 31, 2013, according to
IAS 36. The Group considers it unnecessary to recognize
an impairment loss concerning goodwill and other intangible assets. This judgment has, among other things, been
based on estimated cash flows to the company the coming 3-year period.
Value in use was determined by discounting the future
cash flows, and the calculation was based on the following key assumptions:

• Cash flows were projected using past experience,
actual operating results and the 3-year business plan
extending from FY 2014 to FY 2016. The terminal value
has been calculated using the average of the estimated
cash flow in 2014 to 2016 and a 2% future growth rate.
• A pre-tax discount rate where Opera used a 3.0% current market risk-free rate of interest and added a risk
of 9.0% (equity risk premium of 5.0% x beta 1.1 and
alpaa risk 3.0%). This gives an implicit pre-tax discount
rate of 19%.
A change in the discount rate with a risk up to 2% would
still not cause the booked goodwill to be impaired, nor
would a 5% decrease of the cash flow.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at the General Meeting.
All shares rank equally with regard to the Group’s residual
assets. The Company does not have any preferred shares.
For information regarding share options, please see the
accompanying note 3.
Authorization to acquire own shares
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on June 4, 2013,
passed the following resolution:
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to acquire shares
in the Company. The shares are to be acquired at market
terms, in or in connection with a regulated market where
the shares are traded.
b) The shares may only be used to fulfill obligations under
incentive schemes approved by the shareholders. No new
authority is granted by this item for new incentive schemes.
c) The maximum face value of the shares which the Company may acquire pursuant to this authorization is in total
NOK 240,000. The minimum amount which may be paid
for each share acquired pursuant to this power of attorney
is NOK 10, and the maximum amount is NOK 100.
d) The authorization comprises the right to establish
pledge over the Company’s own shares.
e) This authorization is valid from the date it is registered
with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises until
June 30, 2014.
f) The authorization replaces the current authorization
when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises.
During 2013, Opera purchased 0 (2012: 0) shares and
sold 339,500 (2012: 1,302,430) own shares for MUSD
1.5 (2012: 3.4). As of December 31, 2013, Opera owned
0 shares.
Board authorization to increase the share capital by
issuance of new shares
The Annual General Meeting held on June 4, 2013, passed
the following resolutions:
1 Authorization regarding incentive program
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the
Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to NOK
240,000, by one or several share issues of up to a total
of 12,000,000 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK
0.02. The subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors.
b) The authorization includes the right to increase the
Company’s share capital in return for non-cash contributions or the right to assume special obligations on behalf
of the Company.
c) The preferential rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of the
Public Limited Liability Companies Act may be deviated
from by the Board of Directors.

d) The authorization may only be used for issuing new
shares in relation to the Company’s incentive schemes
existing at any time in the Opera Group. The authorization
cannot be used in connection with options that may be
granted to directors on or after June 15, 2010.
e) The authorization shall be effective from the date it is
registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises and shall be valid until June 30, 2014.
f) The authorization replaces the current authorization
when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises.
g) The authorization cannot be used if the Company, in
the period of June 4, 2013, to June 30, 2014, pursuant
to board authorizations, has issued new shares in the
Company representing more than 10% of the Company’s
share capital.
2 Authorization regarding acquisitions
a) The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the
Company’s share capital by a total amount of up to NOK
240,000, by one or several share issues of up to a total
of 12,000,000 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK
0.02. The subscription price and other terms will be determined by the Board of Directors.
b) The authorization includes the right to increase the
Company’s share capital in return for non-cash contributions or the right to assume special obligations on behalf
of the Company.
c) The preferential rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of the
Public Limited Liability Companies Act may be deviated
from by the Board of Directors.
d) The authorization may only be used in connection
with acquisitions of businesses or companies, including
mergers, within the business areas operated by the Opera
Group, or which relates thereto.
e) The authorization shall be effective from the date it is
registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises and shall be valid until June 30, 2014.
f) The authorization replaces the current authorization
when registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises.
g) The authorization cannot be used if the Company, in
the period of June 4, 2013, to June 30, 2014, pursuant
to board authorizations, has issued new shares in the
Company representing more than 10% of the Company’s
share capital.
During 2013, Opera issued 2,665,544 (2012: 0) ordinary
shares related to the incentive program, 2,047,906 (2012:
0) of ordinary shares related to business combinations,
and 8,000,000 (2012: 0) of ordinary shares related to an
equity increase.
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Note 10. Accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts
payables, other payables and provisions
Dividends for 2012 of NOK 0.22 per share
The Annual General Meeting held on June 4, 2013, passed
the following resolution: NOK 0.22 per share is paid as
dividend for 2012, constituting an aggregate dividend
payment of MNOK 26.8 (approximately MUSD 4.6). The
dividend will be paid to those who are shareholders at end
of trading on June 4, 2013, and the shares will be trading
exclusive of dividend rights as of June 5, 2013.
Other items passed at the AGM
For further details about the meeting held on June 4, 2013,
please see the protocol from the Annual General Meeting
published on the Oslo Stock Exchange website (www.oslobors.no).
Option programs
For information about the employee option program,
please see note 3 in the FY 2013 Annual Report.
Capital increase
During the year, the Company completed the offering of

8,000,000 new shares, equal to 6.48% of the existing
share capital of the Company. The offering, which was
led by ABG Sundal Collier and Morgan Stanley, was comprised of a private placement to institutional investors in
Norway and internationally. The over-subscribed offering
was completed at a subscription price of NOK 68.50 per
share, which was determined through an accelerated
book-building process. Gross proceeds from the offering
amounted to MNOK 548 (approximately MUSD 90). The
net proceeds, of approximately MUSD 87.2, will be used
to increase the Company ́s capital base for current and
future strategic acquisition activities and obligations.
Option programs
For information about the employee option program,
please see note 3.
Ownership structure
The 10 biggest shareholders of Opera Software ASA
shares as of December 31, 2013, were as follows:

Financial assets and liabilities mainly comprise short-term items (non-interest-bearing). Based on this assessment,
management does not consider the Group to have financial assets or liabilities with potentially significant differences
between net book value and fair value.
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as of December 31, 2013
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CARRYING AMOUNT

[Numbers in MUSD]

Designated
at fair
value

Investments in other
shares

0.1

Other investments and
deposits

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

0.1

0.1

0.1

4.9

4.9

4.9

4.9

Accounts receivable

61.5

61.5

61.5

61.5

Unbilled revenue

32.4

32.4

32.4

32.4

163.4

163.4

163.4

163.4

262.3

262.3

59.7

59.7

59.7

59.7

Shares

Owner’s share

Voting share

Ludvig Lorentzen AS

10 637

8.04%

8.04%

Arepo AS

9 512

7.19%

7.19%

Ferd AS Invest

6 906

5.22%

5.22%

Sundt AS

6 655

5.03%

5.03%

Folketrygdfondet

6 086

4.60%

4.60%

JPMorgan Chase Bank

2 725

2.06%

2.06%

Statoil Pensjon

2 124

1.61%

1.61%

Verdipapirfondet DNB Norge (IV)

1 829

1.38%

1.38%

SEB Enskilda Securitas AB

1 795

1.36%

1.36%

Provisions

59.7

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB

1 742

1.32%

1.32%

JPMorgan Chase Bank London

1 680

1.27%

1.27%

State Street Bank and Trust Co.

1 496

1.13%

1.13%

Total financial
liabilities measured
at fair value

59.7

State Street Bank & Trust Company

1 379

1.04%

1.04%

Sum

54 566

41.25%

41.25%

Other shareholders

77 722

58.75%

58.75%

132 288

100.00%

100.00%

The Board of Directors proposes that the 2013 Annual General Meeting approves a dividend payment of NOK 0.24 per
share.

Other
financial
liabilities

Financial assets not
measured at fair
value

[In thousands of shares]

Total numbers of shares

Loans
and
receivables

FAIR LEVEL

Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets
not measured at fair
value

0.0

262.3

0.0

262.3

0.0

0.0

Financial liabilities
measured at fair
value
59.7

0.0

59.7

Secured bank loans

60.1

60.1

60.1

60.1

Accounts payable

22.2

22.2

22.2

22.2

Other short-term
liabilities

29.1

29.1

29.1

29.1

111.5

111.5

111.5

111.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

Financial liabilities
not measured at fair
value

Total financial liabilities not measured at
fair value

0.0

For more information, please see note 11.

0.0

0.0

0.0
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Note 11. Contingent liabilities and provisions
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities as of December 31, 2012
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CARRYING AMOUNT

[Numbers in MUSD]

Designated
at fair
value

Loans
and
receivables

Other
financial
liabilities

FAIR LEVEL

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 3 fair values, as well as the significant
unobservable inputs used.

Type

Valuation technique

Contingent consideration

Discounted cash flows
The valuation model
considers the present value
of expected payment,
discounted using a
risk-adjusted discount rate.
The expected payment is
determined by considering
the possible scenarios
where Opera has forecast
EBITDA, the amount to be
paid under each scenario
and the probability of each
scenario.

Financial assets not
measured at fair
value
Investments in other
shares

2.1

2.1

2.1

2.1

Other investments and
deposits

3.6

3.6

3.6

3.6

Accounts receivable

35.2

35.2

35.2

35.2

Unbilled revenue

26.7

26.7

26.7

26.7

Cash and
cash equivalents

57.2

57.2

57.2

57.2

124.8

124.8

Total financial assets
not measured at fair
value

0.0

124.8

0.0

124.8

0.0

0.0

Financial liabilities
measured at fair
value

*Forecasted annual revenue
*Forecasted EBIT
*Risk-adjusted discount rate

The estimated fair value
would increase (decrease)
if:
*The annual revenue
growth rate were higher
(lower),
* The EBIT margin were
higher (lower); or
* The risk-adjusted
discount rate were lower
(higher)
Generally, a change in the
annual revenue growth
rate is accompanied by a
directionally similar change
in EBIT margin.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values.

Provisions

28.8

Total financial
liabilities measured
at fair value

28.8

28.8

0.0

0.0

28.8

0.0

0.0

28.8

28.8

28.8

28.8

Financial liabilities
not measured at fair
value
Secured bank loans

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

Accounts payable

19.6

19.6

19.6

19.6

Other short-term
liabilities

22.4

22.4

22.4

22.4

Total financial liabilities not measured at
fair value

Significant unobservable
inputs

Inter-relationship
between significant
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurement

Note

Contingent consideration

Assumed in a business combination

11

39.3

Paid

11

-25.4

Finance cost

11

6.0

Conversion discrepancy

11

-0.4

OCI

11

0.0

[Numbers in MUSD]
Balance as of 1/1/2012

Balance as of 12/31/2012
Assumed in a business combination

0.0

0.0

41.9

41.9

0.0

0.0

41.9

41.9

9.4

28.8
11

Paid

54.7
-14.6

Finance cost

11

-5.5

Conversion discrepancy

11

-3.7

OCI

11

0.0

Balance as of 12/31/2013

59.7
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Mobile Theory — Earnout agreement
Valuation techniques and key model inputs used to
measure the contingent consideration:
Opera has estimated the total earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 45.5, at the acquisition date. Opera used a WACC of 20% and foreign exchange rate of
5.7284, when calculating the earnout. Based on these assumptions and the earnout valuation performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked
a contingent consideration of MUSD 32.7 in the financial
statements. The FY 2012 and FY 2013 earnout targets are
both based on revenue and EBIT targets. The maximum
possible payment for both FY 2012 and FY 2013 is MUSD
45.0, plus additional potential limited consideration based
on over performance of EBIT in 2012 and 2013. At the acSensitivity analysis [Numbers in MUSD]

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

quisition date, Opera calculated the earnout value before
discounting to be MUSD 18.3 in FY 2012 and MUSD 27.3
in FY 2013. The weighted probability rates are estimated
to change +/-10%.
The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter,
and MUSD 0.0 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD 30.2 as a current provision as of December 31, 2013. For 2013, Opera booked MUSD 6.3
(2012: 6.6) as an interest expense, MUSD 3.6 (2012: -1.3)
as an FX expense and MUSD 2.2 (2012: 0.6) as change in
likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to
change +/-10%. Please also see note 8 for more details.
In 4Q 2012, Opera prepaid the 2012 earnout payment of
MUSD 17.8. The final 2012 earnout payment of MUSD 0.5
was paid in 2Q 2013.
Increase

Decrease

Annual revenue growth rate (10% movement)

0.0

0.0

EBIT margin (5% movement)

0.4

-0.4

4th Screen Advertising — Earnout agreement
Valuation techniques and key model inputs used to
measure the contingent consideration:
Opera has estimated the total earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 6.9, at the acquisition date. Opera used a WACC of 20% and foreign exchange rate of
5.7284, when calculating the earnout. Based on these assumptions and the earnout valuation performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked
a contingent consideration of MUSD 4.9 in the financial
statements. The FY 2012 and FY 2013 earnout targets are
both based on revenue and EBIT targets. The maximum
possible payment for both FY 2012 and FY 2013 is MUSD
6.5, plus additional potential limited consideration based
on over performance of EBIT in 2012 and 2013. At the acSensitivity analysis [Numbers in MUSD]

quisition date, Opera calculated the earnout value before
discounting to be MUSD 2.2 in FY 2012 and MUSD 4.7 in
FY 2013. The weighted probability rates are estimated to
change +/-10%.
The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter,
and MUSD 0.0 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD 4.3 as a current provision as of December
31, 2013. For 2013, Opera booked MUSD 0.8 (2012: 0.7)
as an interest expense, MNOK 0.5 (2012: -0.2) as an FX
expense and MUSD -0.1 (2012: -0.2) as change in likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to
change +/-10%. Please also see note 8 for more details.
In 1Q 2013, Opera paid the 2012 earnout payment of
MUSD 1.9.

Increase

Decrease

Annual revenue growth rate (10% movement)

0.0

-0.3

EBIT margin (5% movement)

0.0

0.0

Skyfire Labs — Earnout agreement and
senior management incentive plan
Valuation techniques and key model inputs used to
measure the contingent consideration:
Opera has estimated the total earnout value before discounting to be MUSD 57.2, at the acquisition date. Opera used a WACC of 25% and foreign exchange rate of
5.7214, when calculating the earnout. Based on these
assumptions and the earnout valuation performed at
the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and
booked a contingent consideration of MUSD 40.5 in the
financial statements. The FY 2013, 2014 and FY 2015 earnout targets are both based on revenue and EBIT targets.
The maximum possible payment for both FY 2013, 2014
and FY 2015 is MUSD 94.7. At the acquisition date, Opera
calculated the earnout value before discounting to be
MUSD 26.7 in FY 2013, MUSD 30.5 in FY 2014, and
MUSD 0.0 in FY 2015. The weighted probability rates are
estimated to change +/-10%.
The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter,
Sensitivity analysis [Numbers in MUSD]

and MUSD 0.4 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD 0.0 as a current provision as of December
31, 2013. For 2013, Opera booked MUSD 6.1 (2012: 0)
as an interest expense, MUSD 2.0 (2012: 0) as an FX expense and MUSD -34.1 (2012: 0) as change in likelihood.
The weighted probability rates are estimated to change
+/-10%. Please also see note 8 for more details.
In 3Q 2013, Opera paid portions of the 2013 earnout payment of MUSD 11.7.
Further, it has been agreed that up to the first MUSD
10.0 of any 2015 total earnout payments that become
payable pursuant to the merger agreement are to be part
of an incentive payment to certain senior management
employees. The valuation of the contingent consideration
is based on the same principles as described above. The
contingent consideration is revalued each quarter, and
MUSD 2.8 has been booked as a non-current provision
as of December 31, 2013. For 2013, Opera booked MUSD
1.1 (2012: 0) as an interest expense and MSUD -1.6 (2012:
0) as change in likelihood. The weighted probability rates
are estimated to change +/-10%.
Increase

Decrease

Annual revenue growth rate (10% movement)

2.9

-4.8

EBIT margin (5% movement)

0.6

-4.8

Individually immaterial business combinations —
Earnout agreements

discounting to be MUSD 1.3 in FY 2012, MUSD 9.9 in FY
2013, MUSD 7.1 in FY 2014, and MUSD 7.1 in FY 2015.

Valuation techniques and key model inputs used to
measure the contingent consideration:

The contingent consideration is revalued each quarter,
and MUSD 10.4 has been booked as a non-current provision and MUSD 11.6 as a current provision as of December 31, 2013. For 2013, Opera booked MUSD 3.8
(2012: 0.3) as an interest expense, MUSD 0.1 (2012: -0.1)
as an FX income and MUSD 3.2 (2012: -0.7) as change in
likelihood. The weighted probability rates are estimated to
change +/-10%. Please also see note 9 for more details.

Opera has estimated the total earnout values before discounting to be MUSD 25.4, at the acquisition date. Opera
used a WACC between 20% and 25%, when calculating
the earnout. Based on these assumptions and the earnout
valuation performed at the acquisition date, Opera calculated the fair value and booked a contingent consideration
of MUSD 15.9 in the financial statements. At the acquisition date, Opera calculated the earnout value before
Sensitivity analysis [Numbers in MUSD]

In 1Q 2013, Opera paid the 2012 earnout payment of
MUSD 0.6.
Increase

Decrease

Annual revenue growth rate (10% movement)

2.2

-2.8

EBIT margin (5% movement)

5.7

-6.8

132

133

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Note 12. Costs for restructuring the business
During 4Q 2013, the Opera Group recorded restructuring charges related to a strategic cost reduction that will better
align costs with revenues and legal fees related to business combinations.
During 1Q 2013, the Opera Group recorded legal fees related to business combinations.

Costs for restructuring the business [Numbers in MUSD]

2013

2012

Salary restructuring cost

0.2

5.9

Option restructuring cost

0.0

0.0

Office restructuring cost

-0.1

3.0

Termination cost — hosting center

0.0

0.0

Impairment cost

0.0

3.0

Legal fees related to business combinations

1.9

0.9

Other restructuring cost

0.5

0.0

Total

2.5

12.8

well as other factors. The chosen assumptions can have
a significant impact on the size of the option costs. The
assumptions are given in note 3.
Critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s
accounting policies
The Group has considered its activities related to technological development in terms of the requirements in IAS
38. The Company develops specially designed browsers
for use in its customers’ products. The reason the Group
has entered into contracts with customers, committing
the Company to develop a custom-made browser for
a settled fee, is that the fee received is meant to cover
Opera’s expenses related to this specific technological
development. These projects are booked in accordance
with the percentage of completion method, which states
that related income and expenses should be booked in
the same period.

As of December 31, 2013, MUSD 0.6 was not paid and booked as other short-term liabilities in the statement of financial position. The comparative number as of December 31, 2012, was MUSD 4.9.

Cost of building new features, together with significant and
pervasive improvements of the core platform, provided that
the significant and pervasive improvements of parts or main

Note 13. Accounting estimates and judgments

Note 14. Related Parties

Management has evaluated the development, selection
and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting policies and estimates and the application of these policies
and estimates.

In FY 2013, except for the Group’s transactions with Hern
Labs AB, Opera Software International AS, Opera Distribution AS, Netview Technology AS, and Opera Software
Poland Sp. z o.o, the Group did not engage in any related
party transactions, including with any members of the
Board of Directors or the Executive Team. Please refer to
notes 3 and 8 for additional information.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
result of which forms the basis for making the judgments
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes
in accounting estimates are recognized in the period in
which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Based on signed contracts with large, established mar-

ket participants, Opera develops and adjusts the Opera
browser so that it is compatible with mobile phones, game
consoles and many other devices. The adjustments and
modifications are carried out continuously over time.
Hence, income and costs are booked in accordance with
the percentage of completion method. Estimation of the
degree of completion is based on the best estimate. Management’s choice of estimates for the degree of completion will have a effect on booked income.
The Group has, in note 5, given a detailed analysis of the
currency risk and risk related to changes in the foreign
exchange rates.
The Group has entered into earnout agreements as specified in notes 8 and note 11. Opera has in note 11 given
a detailed analysis of how the contingent considerations
have been calculated. Changes in the chosen assumptions can have a significant impact on the size of the earnout cost.
The Group has established an option program for its employees. The options are booked in accordance with IFRS
2. The option costs are estimated on the basis of various
assumptions, such as volatility, interest level, dividend and
an assumption of how many will exercise their options, as

Transactions with key management personnel
Members of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Team of the Group and their immediate relatives controlled 7.7% of the Group’s voting share as per December
31, 2013. The Company has not provided any loans to
directors or Executive Team members as of December 31,
2013.
Executive Team members also participate in the Group’s
stock option program (see note 3). Compensation for Executive Team members can be found in note 3.

components of the core platform will generate probable
future economic benefits, are capitalized as development
costs and amortized on a straight-line 3-year basis. Please
refer to notes 4 and 7 for additional information.
A significant portion of the work that engineering performs
(beyond specifically designed browsers) is related to the
implementation of the ongoing updates that are required
to maintain the browser’s functionality. Examples of updates include “bug fixes”, updates made to comply with
changes in laws and regulations, and updates made to
keep pace with the latest web trends. These costs are
expensed as maintenance costs.
In some contracts, Opera receives a fee that covers development and a guaranteed number of licenses, as well
as maintenance in the subsequent period. The elements
in the different contracts are assessed in accordance with
the best estimate of true value and booked as the elements are delivered. If the elements can not be separated,
all income is booked in aggregate, in accordance with the
percentage of completion method.
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Note 15. Earnings per share
Earning per share [Numbers in USD]

2013

2012

Earnings per share (basic)

0.490

0.143

Earnings per share, fully diluted

0.479

0.140

Shares used in earnings per share calculation

123 156 089

118 782 269

Shares used in earnings per share calculation, fully diluted

125 783 923

121 173 334

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted ordinary shares in issue during the period.
The average stock exchange price for 2013 is used when
calculating the options that are “in the money” and when
calculating the fully diluted number of shares. The options
have varying exercise prices and would, upon exercise,
mean payment to the Company of MNOK 205.2. In relation

to the accounting standard regarding earnings per share,
the effect of these funds being used by the Company to
purchase shares in the market should be considered when
calculating the fully diluted number of shares outstanding.
Opera has included options with a strike price below NOK
51.06 when calculating the fully diluted number of shares
outstanding. Total options used in the calculations are
7,109,283, of which 5,883,183 options are unvested and
1,226,100 are vested but not yet exercised.
2013

2012

123 156 089

118 782 269

Options

7 109 283

7 758 356

Total

7 109 283

7 758 356

Options

7 109 283

7 758 356

Number of shares purchased (MNOK 205.2/51.06)

4 017 714

4 945 339

Number of shares with diluting effect

3 091 569

2 813 017

Expected options to be exercised

2 627 834

2 391 065

Average number of shares
The following equity instruments have a diluting effect:

Note 16. Subsequent events
No subsequent events have occurred after the reporting date that would require the consolidated financial statements
to be adjusted.
For announcements of new contracts, please see announcements published on the Oslo Stock Exchange website
(www.oslobors.no).

